

UNIVERSITÀ DEGLI STUDI DI TRIESTE

XXXV CICLO DEL DOTTORATO DI RICERCA IN

BIOMEDICINA MOLECULARE

MOLECULAR PROFILING OF LIVER CANCER: GENETIC AND EPIGENETIC VARIATION ANALYSIS FOR DEVELOPING POTENTIAL TARGETS FOR THERAPY

Settore scientifico-disciplinare: BIO/11

DOTTORANDA LORAINE KAY D. CABRAL

COORDINATORE **PROF.SSA GERMANA MERONI** Università degli Studi di Trieste

SUPERVISORE DI TESI **PROF. CLAUDIO TIRIBELLI** Fondazione Italiana Fegato-ONLUS

CO-SUPERVISORE DI TESI **DOTT.SSA. CAECILIA H.C. SUKOWATI** Fondazione Italiana Fegato-ONLUS National Research and Innovation Agency of the Republic of Indonesia

ANNO ACCADEMICO 2021/2022



UNIVERSITÀ DEGLI STUDI DI TRIESTE

XXXV CICLO DEL DOTTORATO DI RICERCA IN

BIOMEDICINA MOLECULARE

MOLECULAR PROFILING OF LIVER CANCER: GENETIC AND EPIGENETIC VARIATION ANALYSIS FOR DEVELOPING POTENTIAL TARGETS FOR THERAPY

Settore scientifico-disciplinare: BIO/11

DOTTORANDA LORAINE KAY D. CABRAL

COORDINATORE **PROF.SSA GERMANA MERONI** Università degli Studi di Trieste

SUPERVISORE DI TESI PROF. CLAUDIO TIRIBELLI Fondazione Italiana Fegato-ONLUS

CO-SUPERVISORE DI TESI DOTT.SSA. CAECILIA H.C. SUKOWATI Fondazione Italiana Fegato-ONLUS National Research and Innovation Agency of the Republic of Indonesia

and mnovation Agency of the Republic of I

ANNO ACCADEMICO 2021/2022

Table of Contents

Abbreviations4
Summary
Chapter I - Introduction
1.1 Hepatocellular carcinoma: a global burden with diverse distribution8
1.2 Hepatocellular carcinoma: a malignancy marked by cellular and molecular heterogeneity
1.3 Hepatocellular carcinoma: its development and molecular players in carcinogenesis12
1.3.1 CSC theory and clonal evolution theory
1.5 Hepatocellular carcinoma: challenges and current gaps to fill18
Chapter II - Aims of the study
Chapter III - Materials and Methods
3.1 Human clinical tissue samples
3.2 Transgenic mouse liver tissue samples
3.3 Cell lines and cell culture maintenance procedures
3.4 Isolation of genomic DNA from human tissue23
3.5 Total RNA extraction from solid tissue samples and cell lines23
3.6 Protein extraction from cell lines
3.7 Bisulfite conversion of genomic DNA24
3.8 Methylation-specific PCR (MS-PCR)24
3.9 Reverse transcription-quantitative real-time PCR (RT-qPCR)
3.10 Western blot analysis27
3.11 Flow cytometry
3.12 Cytotoxicity evaluation of chemical inhibitors

3.13 PD-L1 mRNA silencing by small interference RNA (siRNA)
3.14 Wound scratch assay
3.15 Network analysis for the identification of molecular targets
3.16 Statistical analysis
Chapter IV - Results
4.1 TASK 1: Evaluation of the distribution of SOCS1 DNA methylation in HCC tumors
and the potential of epigenetic SOCS1 modulation in in vitro models of heterogeneity 32
4.1.1 SOCS1 methylation in HCC specimen
4.1.2 Correlation of SOCS1 mRNA expression and DNA methylation
4.1.3 Demethylation by 5-Azacytidine (5-AZA) in heterogenous in vitro models35
4.1.4 SOCS1 modulation following demethylation by 5-Azacytidine (5-AZA) treatment
4.2 TASK 2: Identification of potential molecular targets of therapy through the utilization
of bioinformatic analysis in <i>in vitro</i> models of heterogeneity
4.2.1. Identification of candidate targets
4.2.2. Expression of targets in in vitro, in vivo, and clinical models
4.2.3. Effect of targeted treatments on different cell populations
4.2.4. Effect of treatments on the dysregulations of proto-oncogene targets
4.3 TASK 3: Characterization of unique targets of therapy and evaluate their anti-cancer
effects as monotherapy or combination treatment
4.3.1. Identification of unique targets for therapy
4.3.2 Dysregulation effects of various cancer treatments on SRC protein expression50
4.3.3 Effect of Src family of tyrosine kinases (SFK) inhibitors to various in vitro models as monotherapy vs combined therapy with sorafenib (SOR)
Chapter V - Discussion
Chapter VI – Conclusions and future perspectives
References
Appendix
Acknowledgements

Table 1 List of mimor naire used in this study.
Table 1. List of primer pairs used in this study
Table 2. The association between SOCST methylation with clinical parameters in the Italian
cohort
Table 3. HCC cells phenotyping using several CSC markers (CD133, CD90, and CD24), a
proposed epithelial CSC marker (EpCAM), and a dormant CSC marker (CD13)36
Table 4. List of 16 proto-oncogene targets and their respective UniProt ID, protein name,
gene symbol, and gene name40
Figure 1. Methylation-specific PCR for SOCS1 gene
Figure 2. In-silico and validation approach to discover potential targets for HCC therapy 30
Figure 3. SOCS1 methylation and mRNA expression in HCC clinical samples
Figure 4. The effect of 5-Azacytidine (5-AZA) in <i>in vitro</i> models
Figure 5. The effect of 5-Azacytidine (5-AZA) in SOCS1 expression in in vitro models38
Figure 6. GEPIA analysis of the 16 potential proto-oncogene targets
Figure 7. Baseline mRNA expression of targets in the various HCC cell populations
Figure 8. Distribution of SRC1 and PLZF in HCC clinical samples
Figure 9. Distribution of Src1/pp60c-src and Zbtb16/PLZF in liver tissues of HBV-TG and
WT mouse models
Figure 10. Sorafenib (SOR) treatments and PD-L1 mRNA silencing (siR-PD-L1) in in vitro
models
Figure 11. Dysregulation of mRNA expressions of proto-oncogene targets in liver cancer cell
lines after various treatment
Figure 12. Enrichment network interaction of the 16 proto-oncogene target
Figure 13. Gene enrichment analysis result of the 16 proto-oncogene targets
Figure 14. Effect of various treatment modalities on c-Src protein expression
Figure 15. Cytotoxic evaluation on the effect of sorafenib (SOR) and Src family of tyrosine
kinases (SFK) inhibitors on cell lines
Figure 16. Quantitative analysis of wound scratch assay on the effect of sorafenib (SOR) and
Src family of tyrosine kinases (SFK) inhibitors on HCC cells
Figure 17. Wound scratch photos showing the effect of sorafenib (SOR) and Src family of
tyrosine kinases (SFK) inhibitors on HCC cells

Abbreviations

HCC - hepatocellular carcinoma HBV - hepatitis B virus HCV -hepatitis C virus NAFLD - non-alcoholic fatty liver disease MAFLD - metabolic associated fatty liver disease NASH - non-alcoholic steatohepatitis PNPLA - patatin-like phospholipase domaincontaining protein DNA - deoxyribonucleic acid RNA - ribonucleic acid CSC - cancer stem cell EpCAM – epithelial cell adhesion molecule AFP-alpha-fetoprotein CK7 - cytokeratin-7 GS – glutamine synthetase CTNBB1 - catenin beta-1 TP53 - tumor protein 53 TNM - tumor-node-metastasis BCLC - Barcelona clinic liver cancer DNMT - DNA methyltransferase RASSF1 - ras association domain family member IGF2 - insulin-like growth factor 2 APC – adenomatous polyposis coli SEPT9 - septin 9 EFNB2 - ephrin B2 GSTP1 - glutathione s-transferase pi CHRNA3 - cholinergic receptor nicotinic alpha 3 DOK1 - docking protein 1 MGMT - methylguanine methyltransferase SOCS1 - suppressor of cytokine signaling 1 CIMP - CpG island methylator phenotype GGT - gamma-glutamyl transferase EMT - epithelial-mesenchymal transition AFB1 - aflatoxin B1 EGF - epidermal growth factor HGF - hepatocyte growth factor VEGF - vascular endothelial growth factor RFA - radiofrequency ablation TACE - transarterial chemoembolization VEGFR - vascular endothelial growth factor receptor FGFR - fibroblast growth factor receptor PDGFR - Platelet-derived growth factor receptor TKI - tyrosine kinase inhibitor RTKI - receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitor NRTKI - non-receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitor ICI - immune checkpoint inhibitor PD-1 - programmed cell death protein 1 PD-L1 - programmed-death ligand 1 OS - overall survival PFS - progression-free survival AASLD - American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases EASL - European Association for Study of Liver APASL - Asia Pacific Association for the Study of Liver

CML - chronic myelogenous leukemia

BRCA – breast cancer NSCLC - non-small cell lung carcinoma CRC - colorectal cancer EGFR - epidermal growth factor receptor Kras - Kirsten ras proto-oncogene ES – Edmondson Steiner grading FBS - fetal bovine serum SDS - sodium dodecyl sulfate BCA - bicinchoninic acid PCR – polymerase chain reaction MS-PCR – methylation-specific PCR RT-qPCR – real-time quantitative PCR gDNA - genomic DNA bcDNA - bisulfite converted DNA cDNA - complementary DNA WB - western blot SDS-PAGE - SDS polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis PVDF - polyvinylidene difluoride FACS – fluorescence-activated cell sorting PBS - phosphate-buffered saline 5-AZA - 5-Azacytidine SOR - sorafenib SAR-saracatinib DAS - dasatinib DMSO - dimethyl sulfoxide MTT - (3-(4,5-Dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-Diphenyltetrazolium Bromide) siR-PD-L1 - RNA silencing of PD-L1 PPI - protein-protein interaction LIHC - liver hepatocellular carcinoma TCGA - The Cancer Genome Atlas GEPIA – Gene Expression Profiling Interactive Analysis SD - standard deviation SEM – standard error of mean ANOVA - analysis of variance TSG - tumor suppressor gene FIF-HCC - Fondazione Italiana Fegato - HCC SFK - Src family of tyrosine kinases LCCL – liver cancer cell lines TSC1 - tuberous sclerosis complex 1 TSC2 - tuberous sclerosis complex 2 AURKA - Aurora kinase A HBsAg - hepatitis B surface antigen MDM2 – mouse double minute 2 homolog ALK - anaplastic lymphoma kinase PTEN - phosphatase and tensin homolog ALL - acute lymphocytic leukemia MTD - maximum tolerated dose RTK - receptor tyrosine kinase

NRTK - non-receptor tyrosine kinase

Summary

Liver cancer ranks as the sixth most common malignancy and the third most common cancerrelated death worldwide. Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) accounts for ~90% of liver cancer cases. The cellular and molecular heterogeneity of HCC tumors can influence disease progression, classification, drug resistance, and clinical outcome of patients. At present, sorafenib (SOR), a dual-target tyrosine kinases inhibitor (TKI), is the main therapy for advanced-stage HCC. However, this drug only offers limited treatment and survival benefits to patients. Therefore, prognostic and predictive biomarkers for advanced-stage HCC and the discovery of new target molecules for therapy are still warranted to improve patients' survival. This study aimed to discover genetic and epigenetic target molecules to discover potential therapeutic modalities that may encompass HCC heterogeneity.

Based on this aim, we worked on three main tasks.

- 1. To understand the interspatial tumor distribution of DNA methylation in HCC tumors and evaluate epigenetic therapy and HCC heterogeneity
- 2. To identify molecular targets of therapies that can comprise HCC heterogeneity
- 3. To evaluate the anti-cancer effect of the inhibition of identified molecular targets

In this project, we used a translational approach, combining data taken from human HCC clinical specimens, *in vitro* model, *in vivo* mouse model (C57BL/6J-TG(ALB1HBV)44BRI/J), and *in silico* analysis. For *in vitro*, we used models of heterogeneity composed of five HCC cell lines under two subtypes: S1/TGF β -Wnt-activated (HLE, HLF, and JHH6) and S2/progenitor (HepG2 and Huh7), and an immortalized normal hepatocyte (IHH) as control.

To understand epigenetic regulation in HCC, we investigated the suppressor of cytokine signaling 1 (*SOCS1*), one of the reported relevant genes in hepatocarcinogenesis. HCC clinical specimens were evaluated for *SOCS1* DNA methylation and *SOCS1* gene expression. We observed *SOCS1* methylation to be differentially distributed between tissues representing interspatial tumor sections. The effect of 5-Azacytidine (5-AZA), a demethylation agent, was assessed in HCC cell lines. Treatment with a non-toxic concentration of 5-AZA reduced DNMT1 expressions. The extent of reduction was greater in the S1/TGFβ-Wnt-activated subtype cells as compared to S2/progenitor subtype cells. Furthermore, 5-AZA non-toxic

treatment was able to restore *SOCS1* expression in cells at varying extents. The results of this task indicated intratumoral differences in *SOCS1* methylation in HCC and how cellular heterogeneity influences the response to epigenetic therapy.

Working on our preliminary information that cellular heterogeneity may influence cellular response to therapy, we performed a network analysis of available data on HCC heterogeneity. Using an *in-silico* model approach, we were able to identify potential targets for treatments. Network analysis using protein-protein interaction (PPI) analysis identified 16 proto-oncogenes targets. Using the same cellular models mentioned above, we evaluated three treatment modalities, 5-AZA, sorafenib (SOR), and PD-L1 gene silencing. Our results showed that the majority of the 16 targets were highly upregulated in cells belonging to the S2/progenitor subtype. After exposure to treatments, SOR was effective to reduce the expression of the proto-oncogene targets mostly in the S2/progenitor subtype while PD-L1 silencing was able to decrease the expression of targets in all HCC subtypes. This may suggest that the anti-PD-L1 treatment strategy is an effective proto-oncogene regulator, comprising cellular heterogeneity. This could indicate a treatment advantage of PD-L1 modulation on different cellular subtypes. The result of this task adds to the preliminary information of task 1 that liver cancer cellular heterogeneity is relevant to the response to cancer therapies.

In continuation of our work above, we analyzed a direct and indirect interaction of the 16 targets and performed gene enrichment analysis using web tools. Data showed the unique clustering of a group of non-membrane tyrosine kinases. The Src family of kinases (SFKs: *SRC1, FGR, FYN*, and *YES1*) has been reported to have roles in liver cancer formation and metastasis. We analyzed the expression of these SFKs in our (1) *in vitro* models, (2) HCC clinical samples, and (3) tissues from various stages of liver injuries coming from the mouse models. Our results confirmed the dysregulation of these SFKs across various models of carcinogenesis. We then tested two SFK inhibitors: saracatinib (SAR) and dasatinib (DAS), either as a monotherapy or in combination with SOR. Following *in vitro* treatments of 24h, SAR and DAS treatment alone were not significantly toxic to the cells. This was the same observation with SOR treatment alone, indicating a modest reduction in cell viability after treatment. Interestingly, combination therapy between either SFK inhibitors with SOR resulted in a dose-dependent sensitivity to the drugs. Whereas the effect in IHH control cells, the combination of SAR+SOR had a lesser toxic effect compared to DAS+SOR treatment. The result of the wound healing migration assay revealed an enhanced anti-migration effect of the

combination of SAR/DAS +SOR treatment in HCC cell lines as compared to SAR or DAS treatment alone. The result of this task was able to identify the potential of SFK inhibitors in combination with SOR therapy to enhance treatment effects in HCC comprising cellular heterogeneity.

In conclusion, this study highlights HCC response to therapy as cellular subtype dependent. We propose that combination treatments between SFK inhibitors and SOR as a potential treatment modality in improving HCC therapy to encompass cellular heterogeneity.

Chapter I - Introduction

1.1 Hepatocellular carcinoma: a global burden with diverse distribution

Liver cancer is a global health burden and challenge, with an estimated incidence of >1 million cases by 2025 [1]. Between 2020 and 2040, there is an estimated annual increase of 55% in new liver cancer cases. It is also predicted that 1.3 million people might die from liver cancer by 2040, which is 56.4% more deaths compared to estimated deaths in 2020. More than 80% of liver cancer cases are attributed to hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), cancer in the hepatic parenchyma [2]. It is one of the most common cancers and causes of cancer-related death worldwide [3]. In 2020, HCC contributed to 905,677 new cases and 830,180 deaths worldwide [4]. A similar number between cases and deaths implies high mortality of this malignancy.

Despite the various attempts at prevention and surveillance, diagnosis, and therapy, the global burden of HCC is substantial. Data from 46 countries ranked HCC among the top three causes of cancer death and expanded data considering 90 countries ranked it among the top five [5]. Next to lung cancer, HCC ranked as the second most common cause of premature death from cancer in 2020, with more than 530,000 deaths among persons aged 30 to 69 years [6]. HCC has a strong male predominance, indicated by 2-3 times higher rates in incidence and mortality among men compared to women [4].

In eastern Asia and Africa, the highest risk factor is a chronic infection of hepatitis B virus (HBV), whereas, in western countries and Japan, chronic infection of hepatitis C virus (HCV) is the highest risk factor [7]. Even though the chronic infection of HBV and HCV remain principal factors for HCC development, the prevalence of the metabolic risk factors such as non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) - recently termed the metabolic-associated fatty liver disease (MAFLD) [8] – is increasing, and it may become the major cause of HCC globally [9]. Other risk factors such as aflatoxin-contaminated foods, heavy alcohol intake, excess body weight, type 2 diabetes, and smoking also contribute to the occurrence of HCC [10]. Several of these risk factors contribute to the presence of chronic liver disease. There are over 90% of HCCs develop from cirrhosis brought by any etiology [11,12]. HCC develops with an annual incidence of 1-6% and is a main cause of mortality in cirrhotic patients [13].

Aging is also a strong risk factor for HCC. The highest age-specific incidence reported in individuals is >70 years of age [14]. There is a difference in the age of onset of HCC according

to geographical location and hepatitis virus infection. In areas mainly associated with HCVinduced HCC, like Japan, North America, and European countries, the malignancy tends to occur later in life (median age of onset is >60 years). On the other hand, in areas mainly associated with HBV-induced HCC like Asia and most African countries, HCC is commonly diagnosed in the age range 30–60 years [15].

In a study by Rich *et. al*, on HCC patients in the United States, they evaluated the possible disparity between race and ethnicity in the incidence of HCC. They have observed that there is a higher proportion of Hispanics and Blacks diagnosed at later stages. Compared to non-Hispanic whites, Hispanics had an advanced liver dysfunction with a decreased tumor burden, meanwhile, the non-Hispanic blacks had better liver function but were more often detected symptomatically with a larger tumor stage. They noted that this difference in tumor stage at diagnosis may be partly due to racial/ethnic differences in liver disease etiology and recognition of cirrhosis, HCC surveillance utilization, and access to primary and subspecialty healthcare. The higher incidence of HCC in Hispanics was also noted to be associated with a higher NAFLD prevalence and increased risk of NASH in Hispanics [16] and single-nucleotide variants in *PNPLA3*, linked to NASH-associated HCC [17].

HCC is a malignancy associated with known diverse underlying etiologies that reflect its geographical distribution. Factors such as timing and level of exposure to environmental and infectious risk factors, healthcare resource availability, and the ability to detect earlier stage HCC and availability of potentially curative treatment contribute to the global variations in the incidence and mortality of HCC [18].

1.2 Hepatocellular carcinoma: a malignancy marked by cellular and molecular heterogeneity

HCC carcinogenesis involves a muti-step process that constitutes the transformation of normal hepatocytes into carcinoma. Several factors contribute to its development, namely, genetic predisposition, reciprocal interactions between viral and non-viral risk factors, the cellular microenvironment and various immune cells, and the severity of the underlying chronic liver disease [1].

Tumor heterogeneity pertains to two aspects, (1) intertumoral (tumor by tumor) and (2) intratumoral (within a tumor) heterogeneity. Intertumoral heterogeneity refers to tumors from

different patients where the difference in genotype and phenotype is induced by diverse etiological and environmental factors [19]. Meanwhile, intratumoral heterogeneity is the diversified genomic and biological variations within a patient's tumor lesion influenced by tumor cell evolution under diverse microenvironments linked to different etiologies. In HCC, the observed intratumor heterogeneity has major implications for diagnosis and therapy [20]. In the context of Darwinian clonal evolution selection, a single malignant cell transforms into a functionally heterogeneous HCC tumor with a hierarchically organized tumor cell community, promoting its survival and fitness in response to the various microenvironments [21].

In line with the advances in biotechnologies and medicines, it became more convenient to identify intratumor heterogeneity by investigating DNA, RNA, and protein, simply because the technology available makes it possible to understand the variations. Cellular heterogeneity is fundamental in intratumoral heterogeneity, impacting the progression of tumors. Initially, cellular heterogeneity was observed only by pathologists using microscopes to identify the different cellular subclones that exist in a tumor slice. Eventually, it became possible to determine cellular heterogeneity by immunohistochemical staining [22], but mainly in qualitative parameters. It was noted that the extent of the tumor heterogeneity in HCC tumors is relative to their tumor size. In tumors measuring from 3 to 5 cm, the intratumor heterogeneity according to histologic differentiation grade and proliferative activity can occur up to 64% [23], while for small tumors (<2cm) it can range from 25% to 47% [24]. Eventually, single-cell analytics like single-cell multi-omic techniques provided ways to characterize cellular heterogeneity [25–27].

A particular key population of cancer cells influences intratumoral heterogeneity, known as the cancer stem cells (CSCs). Various cell surface markers have been associated with the identification of HCC CSCs, namely, EpCAM (CD326), CD90 (THY-1), CD24, CD133 (Prominin-1), CD13 (ANPEP), CD44, and CD47 [28,29]. CSCs can self-renew, differentiate, and maintain tumor growth [30], acting as stem cells in a cancerous tissue [31]. They occupy a major portion of the heterogeneous population of cells in a cancer mass. From their stemness and cancerous properties these cells are responsible for the maintenance and propagation of tumor [32]. However, CSCs present an uneven distribution of functionally diverse subpopulations across different regions of a tumor which influences tumor outcome,

aggressiveness, and invasiveness. It was demonstrated, that the interaction of EpCAM+ and CD90+ CSC cells in a tumor can influence sensitivity to imatinib [33]. Reports also on the presence of both EpCAM+ and AFP+ HCC cell populations in a tumor can result in an activated WNT/ β -catenin signaling, associated with an increase in tumor growth and invasiveness [34].

A systematized understanding of intratumor heterogeneity was done by Friemel *et. al.* Their study analyzed 23 HCC tumors without pre-medical treatment, looking into 120 tumoral regions. They comprehensively assessed each specimen analyzing tumor morphology, immune phenotype using tumor-associated markers (CK7, CD44, AFP, EpCAM, and GS), and mutational status within the *CTNNB1* and *TP53* genes. The results of their study revealed 87% intratumoral heterogeneity (20 out of 23), indicating only 13% (3 out of 23) of patients showed homogeneity. Data was considered in tumors showing heterogeneity either in morphology alone, or the morphology and immunohistochemical characteristics, or morphology + exposed antigens + mutational status of the *CTNNB1* and *TP53* genes [35]. Despite the small sample size of this study, it provided substantial evidence of the intrinsic heterogeneous characteristics of primary tumors. The existing heterogeneity of primary tumors acts as a driving force of the tumor's clonal evolution, progression, and resistance to chemotherapy [20]. However, chemotherapy can eventually influence the dominance of existing minor or dormant lineages in tumors [36].

Various attempts have been made to categorize HCC heterogeneous tumors and classify them according to shared cellular and molecular profiles. It was Lee and Thorgeirsson who first reported the unrecognized, clinically relevant subclasses of HCC by looking at gene expression profiles of tumors. The underlying molecular traits found in their study led to the stratification of phenotypic subclasses of HCC [37]. The succeeding work of Boyault *et al.*, focused on transcriptome–genotype–phenotype profiles of HCC tumors and proposed a classification consisting of six subgroups (G1 to G6) based on their shared clinical and genetic profiles [38]. The works of Hoshida *et al.* looked into clinical parameters such as tumor size, the extent of cellular differentiation, and serum α -fetoprotein levels and were able to suggest a robust subclassification of HCC. Their analysis of the signatures proposed three subclasses: (1) S1, marked by aberrant activation of the WNT signaling pathway; (2) S2, reflected by significant EpCAM positivity and also MYC and AKT activation; (3) S3, tumors classified by hepatocyte differentiation [39]. With these existing subclasses, the work of Caruso *et al.* utilized liver

cancer cell lines to understand the diversity of HCC tumors observed in patients. They concluded that experimental *in vitro* models could be reliable and viable tools to reflect HCC tumors in patients and provide simple approaches to the challenges of HCC biomarker discovery and drug response [40].

The suggested HCC classifications and subtyping are an attempt to create a homogenized clustering of tumors in HCC. This strategy aims to construct rational protocols with targeted therapies and be able to refine prognosis in patients [41]. Despite the continuous advancement in technologies generating coherent pieces of evidence in HCC classifications, there still exists quite a diverse profile of HCC tumors. Thus, making it very challenging to homogenize the clustering. Discoveries and discrete findings prove that the current knowledge on HCC classifications may or may not be able to capture the completeness of HCC heterogeneity. Also, despite the presented benefits of subgroupings and classifications of HCC tumors, intratumoral heterogeneity is still not fully considered in the current actual scoring criteria used in the clinics. Notably, the current staging systems for HCC (e.g. tumor-node-metastasis (TNM) or Barcelona Clinic Liver Cancer (BCLC)) used to classify tumors and determine successful treatment outcome [42], does not consider molecular heterogeneity.

1.3 Hepatocellular carcinoma: its development and molecular players in carcinogenesis

1.3.1 CSC theory and clonal evolution theory

Tumor heterogeneity is explained in two models. First is the "cancer stem cell model", focused on a subpopulation of tumor cells that are capable of self-renewal and are potentially tumorigenic, known as the CSCs. This model represents a hierarchy of cells where a subset of neoplastic cells feed on the abnormal growth of tissue and can differentiate into specialized tumor cells also as inactive tumor cells [20]. CSCs can influence cellular heterogeneity by imposing a differentiation in the hierarchy, leading to a range of different cell types within a tumor [43]. The other model of tumor heterogeneity is the "clonal evolution model". This pertains to the assumption that primary tumors arise from a single mutated cell that accumulates progressive mutations during an uncontrolled cell growth [21]. This produces the heterogeneous population of subclones that gain reproductive and survival advantages, which in time promotes dominant variants to gain growth advantages. As compared to the first model, this model does not present a hierarchy during tumorigenesis, indicating differences in the tumor properties of resulting subpopulations. In the context of HCC treatment, individual CSCs present a rather specific group of cells as therapeutic target [44], while in the clonal evolution model, each abnormal cell must be tackled individually [45]. These two proposed models of heterogeneity are not mutually exclusive. The existence of both in a tumor mass can synergistically promote tumor development and heterogeneity in the hepatocarcinogenesis [20].

1.3.2 Epigenetic players of hepatocarcinogenesis: role of DNA methylation

Rapid advances in molecular medicine have opened new perspectives in dissecting HCC heterogeneity, including epigenetic variations. DNA methylation, one of the most studied epigenetic modifications, controls gene expression by altering the chromosomal structure, DNA conformation, DNA stability, and the function between DNA and protein [46]. It involves the transfer of a covalent methyl group to the C5 position of the cytosine to form 5-methylcytosine by DNA methyltransferases (DNMTs) [47]. There are two main DNA methylation-related modifications in tumors: (1) a genome-wide DNA hypomethylation (decrease in methylation), more related to chromosomal instability, the reactivation of transposable elements or the loss of imprinting, and (2) the hypermethylation (increase in methylation) of the CpG islands in the promoter regions of tumor suppressor genes that leads to their inactivation [48].

Targeting DNMTs to inhibit DNA methylation has been explored as a cancer therapy. The prevention and reversal of methylation in silenced tumor suppressor genes (TSGs) in cancer can lead to the restoration of its function, leading to possible suppression of malignancy. DNMT inhibitors such as 5-Azacytidine and 5-Aza-2'-deoxycytidine are being used to treat hematological malignancies [49] and other cancers [50]. However, in terms of epigenetic treatment, this inhibition of DNMTs can also lead to loss of heterozygosity and global hypomethylation leading to a general decrease in methylation activities that may affect also the normal patterns of gene regulation. Despite this concern, several studies of these DNMT inhibitors have generated outcomes that lead to the reduction of malignancy and improved survival [51]. The integration of this nucleoside must happen during the S phase of the cell cycle during the replication process. Hence, this drug can incorporate itself effectively to actively replicate tumor cells [52].

In HCC, DNA methylation profiling by genome-wide arrays has been explored in both clinical samples and cell lines, showing enormous variations and different clinical associations [53-55]. Various methylated genes have been associated with diagnosis, prognosis, and treatment options, as reviewed in [56]. Villanueva et al. analyzed 331 surgically resected HCC and 19 non-tumor tissues, including 9 cirrhosis and 10 normal livers. Their study wanted to understand the epigenetic alterations associated with HCC and understand the role of DNA methylation markers as potential biomarkers for HCC prognosis. Both methylome and transcriptome profiling was done, using Illumina Human Methylation 450 array (Illumina, Inc., San Diego, CA), covering 96% of known cytosine phosphate guanine (CpG) islands and 485,000 CpG, and Affymetrix Human Genome U219 Plate (Affymetrix, Inc., Santa Clara, CA) and miRNA Chip 2.0, respectively. The study was able to confirm, the high prevalence of genes known to be deregulated by aberrant methylation in HCC (e.g., RASSF1, IGF2, APC, and NOTCH3) and describes potential candidate epi-drivers (e.g., SEPT9 and EFNB2) [57]. Aberrant methylation of GSTP1, CHRNA3, and DOK1 was specifically associated with HCC but not in cirrhotic and normal tissues. Additionally, the hypomethylation of MGMT was associated with alcohol intake of HCC patients while hypermethylation of GSTP1 was associated with HBV infection [58].

Considering hepatocarcinogenesis, *SOCS1* as a tumor suppressor gene was found to be frequently silenced through epigenetic disruption. The incidence of *SOCS1* aberrant DNA methylation was around 60% in HCC tumor specimens [59,60], indicating it is a common event in HCC. The suppressor of cytokine signaling 1 (*SOCS1*), encodes a member of the STAT-induced STAT inhibitor. It is responsible for negative feedback regulation of the JAK-STAT pathway induced by cytokine stimulation [61]. Restoration of *SOCS1* upon methylation leads to a suppressed HCC growth rate and anchorage-independent growth [59].

Evidence on the role of DNA methylation status as a valuable prognostic indicator in HCC is demonstrated by Cheng *et al.* A high CpG island methylator phenotype CIMP (defined as having four or five of 10 commonly methylated genes in HCC) was correlated with worse prognosis, increased TNM stage, increased metastasis and increased gamma-glutamyl transferase (GGT) levels in HCC patients (vs those with less hypermethylated candidate genes) [62]. In addition, epigenetic modifications on DNA methylation can also determine the success of therapy. Chemotherapeutic agents inducing hypomethylation may be beneficial in the short-term, but this strategy may eventually allow progression and recurrence from cancer cells that

survive or are even enhanced by DNA hypomethylation (an independent factor in cancer progression and formation) [63]. Feinberg *et al.* proposed the epigenetic progenitor model of cancer, describing how early epigenetic changes lead to tumor formation and influence heterogeneity and chemoresistance [64].

DNA methylation has prognostic and therapeutic functions in hepatocarcinogenesis. Integrative analyses about their potential as biomarkers for HCC and even heterogeneity should be considered. The easy and cost-effective laboratory tools used to investigate methylation profiles make these markers a convenient target to establish diagnosis, prognosis, and possibly a response to treatment [65]. The existence of drugs that can easily reduce the presence of methylation and subsequently restore expression and activity of aberrant genes can offer potential therapeutic options in managing HCC, probably not as a single agent but in combination with other treatments to minimize toxicity but increase efficiency by targeting multiple aspects of tumor progression [52].

1.3.3 Molecular players and pathways of carcinogenesis

The most frequently mutationally activated oncogene in HCC is β -catenin (CTNNB1), found in 20 to 40% of HCC tumors [66]. This molecule is defined as an HCC driver. In hepatocarcinogenesis, the role of the WNT/ β -catenin is associated with lineage specification, differentiation, stem cell renewal, epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT), zonation, proliferation, cell adhesion, and liver regeneration [67–69]. It was noted that the presence of β catenin mutations is associated with chromosome stability [70] and observed more frequently in HCC patients without HBV infection [71]. Additionally, β -catenin mutation-driven HCC develops from non-cirrhotic livers that are not associated with usual HCC risk factors [72]. Studies suggest that tumors that exhibit this type of mutation present a particular set of features such as high differentiation with a homogeneous microtrabeculo-acinar pattern, low-grade cellular atypia, and cholestasis [73].

The incidence of mutation to a particular tumor suppressor gene has been associated with hepatocarcinogenesis. Mutation of *TP53* revealing a G \rightarrow T transversion at codon 249, resulting in amino acid substitution R249S, in recorded in >50% of the tumors with high exposure to aflatoxin B1 (AFB1) [74,75]. On the other hand, in areas where there is no exposure to AFB1, this type of mutation is found in approximately 20% of HCCs, without specific hotspots of

mutations [70]. This evidence suggests that this type of *TP53* mutation is associated with the estimated level of AFB1 exposure, indicating this carcinogen has a causative role in HCC development. To add, no *TP53* mutations were found in benign hepatocellular tumors [76].

Other mutations such as the *CTNBB1* activation in liver adenomas were shown to be associated with a higher risk of malignant transformation [77]. This suggests that β - catenin activation is a common genetic determinant associated with both benign and malignant tumorigenesis in the liver [41]. A comprehensive review done by Farzaneh and colleagues, identified TGF- β , WNT/ β -catenin, Hedgehog, Notch, EGF, HGF, VEGF, JAK/STAT, Hippo, and HIF as critical pathways involved in hepatocarcinogenesis and targeting these pathways using small molecules in the control of HCC both *in vitro* and *in vivo* models [78].

1.4 Hepatocellular carcinoma: clinical management and treatment

Despite numerous studies for an early diagnosis, the treatment for HCC remains one of the most difficult to cure [79] and is described as a "chemoresistant" tumor [80]. The carcinogenesis complexity increases the burden in the diagnosis while the heterogeneity (tumor extent, patient comorbidities, and severity of liver dysfunction) challenges both the management and treatment [18].

While proven to be potentially curative and improves survival, radical treatments such as surgical resection and liver transplant are considered only for the early-stage HCC [81], which accounts for a small number of HCC cases. Complete surgical removal is not an option for most HCC patients since more than two-thirds of its cases are already in the advanced and metastatic stages at the time of diagnosis [82]. Besides more than 90% of HCC patients have an incidence of post-surgery recurrence [83].

Radiofrequency ablation (RFA) and transarterial chemoembolization (TACE) are options for unresectable HCC cases [84,85]. Both are locoregional techniques that induce necrosis resulting in tumor shrinkage. For TACE treatment, the coupling with targeted delivery of cytotoxic chemotherapy (e.g. doxorubicin, cisplatin, epirubicin) increases tumor response, decreases progression, and improves overall survival [86,87]. However, these available treatments have remained very limited and only a handful can benefit from existing antineoplastic therapies. With only 15% of HCC eligible for the potentially curative treatments [88] majority of HCC patients are in the advanced stage and rely on the modest benefits of targeted treatments.

Sorafenib has the dual-target function to inhibit the tyrosine kinases in angiogenesis and block the serine-threonine kinase *Raf*, which is part of the *Ras/MEK/ERK* signaling pathway in the cancer cell [89]. Sorafenib was reported to extend the overall survival of HCC patients for about 3 months [90]. Meanwhile, lenvatinib, also a multikinase inhibitor targeting *VEGFR1-3*, *FGFR1-4*, *PDGFRα*, *RET*, and *KIT*, showed clinical activity and acceptable toxicity profiles in patients with advanced HCC [91]. Other TKIs inhibitors that were approved only as second-line therapy for HCC are regorafenib [92], cabozantinib [93], and ramucirumab [94].

While the ability of current therapies such as sorafenib and lenvatinib to be multi-targeted gives them an upper hand in providing a significant anti-tumor effect, the same multiple targets are bound for polymorphism-promoting heterogeneity which may lead to chemoresistance and treatment failure. These genetic variants can also be evident in drug delivery systems, signaling pathways, drug metabolism, and cellular processes which are important in understanding resistance and sensitivity to the drug.

In an attempt to further improve treatment options, immunotherapy has been added for advanced stages tumors for potentially better results [95]. Among various approaches of immunotherapies, including adoptive cell transfer, cancer vaccine, and others, the therapy with immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs) has shown a remarkable breakthrough in various types of cancers. Targeting mutual interaction (the checkpoint) between immune and other tumoral cells is beneficial since it can be applied in various stages of cancer. In HCC, ICIs targeting the programmed cell death protein 1 (PD-1) such as nivolumab [96] and pembrolizumab [97], and against cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen 4 (CTLA-4) such as tremelimumab [98,99] had given promising results in HCC patients with or without previous sorafenib treatment.

Up until now, one of the most encouraging clinical trial data for HCC is the combined therapy anti-PD-L1 atezolizumab and anti-VEGFR bevacizumab. The results of the phase 1b trial GO301240 (NCT02715531) for unresectable HCC resulted in progression-free survival (PFS) of 5.6 months of combined therapy compared to 3.4 months in atezolizumab monotherapy alone [100]. This study was then followed by the IMbrave150, a global, open-label, phase 3 trial, involving 501 unresectable HCC patients at 111 sites in 17 countries. This study looked into the antitumor effects of this combined therapy compared to sorafenib alone, resulting in a

median PFS of 6.8 vs 4.3 months for combination therapy vs sorafenib, as well as a better overall survival (OS) of 19.2 vs 13.2 months. This study concluded that in patients with unresectable HCC, atezolizumab combined with bevacizumab resulted in better OS and PFS outcomes than sorafenib [101,102]. This prompted their use as first-line treatments in advanced HCC [103]. Different combination therapies involving ICIs work on (1) the combination of ICIs (either in the tumor cell or in the immune cell) and anti-angiogenesis drugs targeting VEGFR in the vascular endothelial cell, or (2) a combination of ICIs and multi-kinase inhibitors (MKIs) found in endothelial cells and tumor cells and (3) combination of two ICIs targeting immune cells [104].

To date, the guidelines for HCC management are acknowledged by several important hepatology societies, such as the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases (AASLD), the Asian Pacific Association for the Study of the Liver (APASL), and the European Association for the Study of the Liver (EASL) [105–107]. So far, the guidelines from the EASL-BCLC for HCC classification, prognosis, and treatment protocol are the most followed guideline among physicians. However, clinicians can be independent to indicate single or combination therapies for patients to produce better outcomes [108,109].

1.5 Hepatocellular carcinoma: challenges and current gaps to fill

Even though molecular classifications of HCC have been widely studied, unlike other cancers, the utility of individual-specific molecular biomarkers for prognosis and response to treatment is non-existent in HCC. To date, AFP remains the most effective serum biomarker for HCC diagnosis [105]. In cancers like chronic myelogenous leukemia (CML), breast cancer (BRCA), non-small cell lung carcinoma (NSCLC), and colorectal cancer (CRC), biomarkers for diagnosis and treatment are already utilized in clinics. A majority of CML patients with BCR-ABL oncoprotein fusion dictate the favorable response to tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs), like imatinib [110]. For breast cancer, the overexpression of Her2 increases the clinical benefit of a monoclonal antibody, trastuzumab [111]. In the case of non-small cell lung carcinoma (NSCLC), clinical responsiveness to a TKI, gefitinib is determined by specific mutations in the epidermal growth factor receptor (*EGFR*), making mutational screening for this protooncogene as a standard of care [112]. On the other hand, the absence of mutation in wildtype *Kras* increases sensitivity to cetuximab in metastatic colorectal cancer patients [113].

Despite the obvious benefits of molecular testing to determine gene/protein profiles for targeted therapy for HCC, there is still the possibility of persistent disease progression in patients after initial sensitivity to treatment. This can eventually lead to poor clinical outcomes in patients [114]. Multiple factors such as microenvironment and intratumor heterogeneity most likely explain this result. The existence of other subclones in a single tumor influences the eventual resistance of the tumor to the matching targeted therapy. Giving evidence that targeting one specific abnormality will not be sufficient to eradicate the totality of tumor cells [115,116].

Early diagnosis is still an effective strategy to manage HCC. However, since most HCC cases are diagnosed in advanced stages, successful therapy is being challenged by heterogeneity and cell resistance, in addition to a rather poor liver function of the patients. It is necessary to consider multi-target approaches to encompass the diverse nature of the tumor and the involvement of multiple cellular processes. Computational approaches in combination with - omics (e.g., transcriptomics, metabolomics) and various disease models cited above may give us more tools to manage drug resistance, especially in sorafenib treatment.

To date, it is rather clear that the combination therapies, like anti-PD-L1 and anti-VEGF, can be the most potent strategy for HCC treatment. It is important to note that the use of combination therapy to specifically target cancer-promoting cells and reduce toxicity has become a cornerstone for cancer treatment [117]. Also, in cases where monotherapy is ineffective, combination therapy can be approached in an additive and synergistic manner to control cancer growth [118].

Chapter II - Aims of the study

Hepatocellular carcinoma is a cancer marked by vast molecular and cellular heterogeneity. Several transcriptomic studies have identified unique molecular signatures that have clustered HCC tumors into different subtypes. Inferring from HCC molecular signatures and cellular heterogeneity, this study aims to understand both similarities and differences in HCC tumors to discover genetic and epigenetic markers for therapy.

Three major tasks were identified to attain the objectives of this study.

TASK 1: Evaluation of the distribution of *SOCS1* DNA methylation in HCC tumors and the potential of epigenetic *SOCS1* modulation in *in vitro* models of heterogeneity.

TASK 2: Identification of potential molecular targets of therapy through the utilization of bioinformatic analysis and evaluation in *in vitro* models of heterogeneity.

TASK 3: Characterization of unique targets of therapy and evaluation of their anti-cancer effects as monotherapy or combination treatment.

Chapter III - Materials and Methods

3.1 Human clinical tissue samples

A total of 95 HCC patients from both Vietnam (n=52) and Italy (n=43) undergoing partial hepatectomy were included in this study. From each patient, different portions of the liver composed of non-tumoral, peritumoral/peri-HCC, and tumoral/HCC tissues were collected. A standardized sample collection procedure (size, type of tissues, and storage condition) between both specimen collection sites was executed. Fresh liver tissues were immediately collected and processed for storage either by suspension in RNAlater solution (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) or snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen and then stored at -80°C. Simultaneously, corresponding portions of the liver tissues were fixed in formalin and embedded in paraffin. Fixed tissue slices were stained with hematoxylin and eosin (HE) and immunostaining and histological analysis was done by two independent pathologists from University Medical Center (UMC), Ho Chi Minh, Vietnam, and Azienda Sanitaria Universitaria Giuliano Isontina (ASUGI), Trieste, Italy.

For inclusion criteria, the study only enrolled adult patients with a confirmed HCC diagnosis and no other hepatic malignancy or other malignant disease. It was necessary also that these patients have available non-tumoral, peri-tumoral, and tumoral tissues collected for surgical resection to be included in the study. While for exclusion criteria, pediatric HCC patients, patients with other hepatic malignancies or other malignant diseases, and patients with unavailable non-tumoral, peri-tumoral, and tumoral tissues were excluded from the study.

Patients from the Vietnamese cohort were composed of 43 male and 9 female HCC patients. The mean age of the patients in this study population is 58 years old. While in the Italian cohort, there were 33 males and 10 females, with a mean age of 66 years old. In terms of the etiology of the malignancy, the Vietnamese cohort has 33 HBV (63%), 9 HCV (17%), and 10 metabolic/alcohol associated (19%) patients. On the other hand, the Italian cohort has 7 HBV (16%), 14 HCV (33%), and 18 metabolic/alcohol associated (42%) patients. Complete clinic-pathological parameters of the study cohorts are listed in the report of Luong *et. al* [119].

The diagnosis of patients was established on international criteria together with its Edmondson Steiner (ES) HCC grading, tumor parameters, laboratory results, and other clinical findings. The patient's participation in the study was accompanied by duly signed informed consent. The study's protocols were approved by the ethical committees of the UMC Ho Chi Minh City no. 240/DHYD-HDDD (for Vietnam) and the Comitato Etico Regionale Unico of the Friuli Venezia Giulia, Prot. No. 18854 (for Italy).

3.2 Transgenic mouse liver tissue samples

An animal model for liver damage and carcinogenesis was used in this study. Liver tissues from HBV-transgenic mice C57BL/6J-TG(ALB1HBV)44BRI/J (HBV-TG) [120] together with its wild-type counterpart (C57BL76J) (WT) were collected. Different stages of liver damage were observed indicating inflammation, early hepatic injury, pre-neoplastic lesion, and neoplasia at 3-, 6-, 9-, and 12-months old mice, respectively. Mouse models were maintained at the animal facility of the University of Trieste. Research experiments on the use of mouse models were done following the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals. Corresponding protocols and animal studies were reviewed and approved by the ethics committee of the University of Trieste and by the responsible administration of the Ministry of Health of the Republic of Italy (D 699/2020-PR). At least 3 liver sections were harvested from the right and left liver lobes. Tissues were cut and immediately stored on ice and then kept in a -80°C freezer. In the presence of visible nodules in the liver of TG mouse models, nodular and non-nodular sections were cut and collected.

3.3 Cell lines and cell culture maintenance procedures

We selected representative cell lines that correspond to the different subtypes of HCC tumors. Six cell lines, which consisted of 1 immortalized hepatocyte (IHH) and 5 HCC cell lines, were used for *in vitro* analysis. The HCC cell lines HLE, HLF, and JHH6 were classified under the subtype 1/transforming growth factor beta–Wingless related integration site (S1/TGFβ-Wnt) activated subtype and HepG2 and Huh7 were classified as subtype 2 (S2/progenitor subtype) [40]. All cell lines were grown in their respective culture media supplemented with 10% (v/v) fetal bovine serum (FBS), 1% L-glutamine, and 1% antibiotics. Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM)-F12 medium was used for the immortalized hepatocytes IHH with additional supplements of 1 μ M dexamethasone, and 5 μ g/mL insulin. DMEM medium (high glucose) was used for HCC cells, except for JHH6 which was cultured in Williams' E medium.

Cells were maintained at 37 °C in a humidified 5% CO2 incubator. Routine cell expansion was performed using 0.05% trypsin detachment when cells achieved 80% cell confluency.

Human HCC cell lines Huh7 (JCRB0403) and JHH6 (JCRB1030) were obtained from the Japan Health Science Research Resources Bank (HSRRB, Tokyo, Japan). The HepG2 cell line was obtained from the Istituto Zooprofilattico Sperimentale della Lombardia e dell'Emilia Romagna (IZSLER, Brescia, Italy). While cell lines HLE and HLF were kindly provided by the laboratory of Dr. Gianelli of the National Institute of Gastroenterology "S. De Bellis" Research Hospital, Bari, Italy. IHH was kindly provided by Dr. Trono (Lausanne, Switzerland) [121]. Both HepG2 and Huh7 are hepatoblast-like and well-differentiated HCCs. HepG2 cells were derived from a tumor of a 15-year-old male, Caucasian patient, while Huh7 was from a 57-year-old male, Asian patient. HLE, HLF, and JHH6 cell lines are mesenchymal-like, undifferentiated HCCs. Both HLE and HLF were derived from a 68-year-old, male, Asian patient. Among all HCC cells, the JHH6 cell line was described as non-tumorigenic and is derived from a 58 years old female, Asian patient.

3.4 Isolation of genomic DNA from human tissue

Genomic DNA (gDNA) extraction was performed using the EZ DNA Methylation-DirectTM Kit (Zymo Research, Irvine, CA, USA), according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, in a microcentrifuge tube, 0.5 mg of tissues were lysed in a solution of digestion buffer, proteinase K, and water for 20 min at 50°C. After incubation, the contents of the reaction were mixed thoroughly and then centrifuged for 5 minutes at 10,000 x g. The supernatant containing the DNA was collected for subsequent DNA analysis procedures.

3.5 Total RNA extraction from solid tissue samples and cell lines

Total RNA was extracted from all sample types using Tri Reagent® (Sigma–Aldrich, St Louis, MO, USA) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Tissue homogenization was done by potter elvehjem tissue grinders and cell scraping for solid tissue and cell lines, respectively. All homogenates were suspended in 500-1000 μ L of Tri Reagent®, followed by phase separation, RNA precipitation, washing, drying, and RNA pellet dissolution. RNA was quantified at wavelength 260 nm in a spectrophotometer (Beckman Coulter, Brea, CA, USA) and RNA purity was evaluated according to the Minimum Information for Publication of Quantitative

Real-Time PCR Experiments (MIQE) guidelines by measuring the ratio A260/A280 with an appropriate purity value between 1.8 and 2.0 [122]. The integrity of RNA was assessed on standard 1% agarose/formaldehyde gel.

3.6 Protein extraction from cell lines

Total protein was extracted either by direct cell lysis or by protein extraction procedures in samples stored in TRI Reagent[®]. For the lysed cells, samples were suspended in cell lysis buffer and were further homogenized, centrifuged, and the supernatant containing the protein was collected. For samples suspended in TRI Reagent[®], after collection of the organic phase, isopropanol was added for protein precipitation, followed by washing and drying. The retrieved protein pellet was resuspended in 1.0% SDS (sodium dodecyl sulfate). Protein concentration was determined by the bicinchoninic acid protein assay (BCA).

3.7 Bisulfite conversion of genomic DNA

Extracted gDNA was subjected to bisulfite conversion using the EZ DNA Methylation-DirectTM Kit (Zymo Research, Irvine, CA, USA). Approximately 500 ng of DNA from the lysed supernatant was used for bisulfite conversion. Briefly, 200–500 ng gDNA was incubated in the conversion reagent and then treated with a binding buffer in a spin column. Bisulfiteconverted DNA (bcDNA) was then subjected to desulphonation and cleaned up using a wash buffer. Bisulfite-converted DNA (~10 μ L) was eluted and collected for methylation-specific PCR (MS-PCR).

3.8 Methylation-specific PCR (MS-PCR)

MethPrimer 2.0 Primer Design© web tool [123] was used to determine MS-PCR primers for this study, covering the region around nucleotide 500–700 of CpG island 2 of the *SOCS1* transcript (NM_003745.2) (Figure 1A). This CpG island included exon 2 of the SOCS1 gene. The primers covered at least 23 CpG sites and were about 200 bp in size. Primer sequences are listed in Table 1.



Figure 1. Methylation-specific PCR for *SOCS1* gene. (A) The target region of *SOCS1* methylation analysis is located in CpG island 2 of *SOCS1* transcript (NM_003745.2). MS-PCR primers pairs were designed by MethPrimer 2.0 Primer Design© web tool. (B) The melting curve graph of MS-PCR detects specific melting peaks of methylated-specific and unmethylated-specific *SOCS1* primers (M = 84.5 °C; UM = 78.5 °C).

Methylation-specific PCR (MS-PCR) was carried out in a 15 μ L reaction volume containing 100 ng bcDNA, 1X Power-Up SYBR Master Mix (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA), and 250 nM of methylation-specific forward and reverse primers. The presence of a methylated-SOCS1 sample was indicated by the PCR amplification using the methylated-SOCS1 primer with a melting peak temperature of 84.5 °C. Accordingly, an unmethylated sample was shown by the detection of the PCR amplification using an unmethylated-SOCS1 primer with a melting peak temperature of 78.5 °C (Figure 1B). Partially methylated samples were defined by positive detection of PCR amplification in both primers and the appropriate corresponding melt peaks. Purified gDNA from a human methylated and non-methylated control set (Zymo Research) was used as controls for the methylation analysis.

3.9 Reverse transcription-quantitative real-time PCR (RT-qPCR)

Reverse Transcription (RT) was performed to obtain cDNA from 1 μ g of purified RNA with the High-Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription Kits (Applied Biosystems, Waltham, MA, USA) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Real-time PCR was performed according to the SYBR Green Supermix protocol (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA). PCR amplification was carried out in a 15 μ L reaction volume containing 25 ng cDNA, 1 × iQ5 SYBR Green Supermix, and 100–250 nM of gene-specific forward and reverse primers. The reaction was run in CFX 9600 real-time PCR system (Bio-Rad). The primer sequences are designed using Beacon Designer 7.9 Software (PREMIER Biosoft International, Palo Alto, CA, USA) for the detection of the desired gene and are listed in Table 1.

Gene Target	Sequence F $(5' \rightarrow 3')$	Sequence R (5' \rightarrow 3')	Ref.
MS-PCR			
SOCS1-methylated	ATGGTTTCGGGATTTACGAGT	TAACCACGATACGCTAACGAC	ts
SOCS1-unmethylated	AGATGGTTTTGGGATTTATGAGT	AACCACAATACACTAACAACA	ts
Gene Expression			
ACTB	CGCCGCCAGCTCACCATG	CACGATGGAGGGGAAGACGG	ts
SOCS1	CCCTTCCAGATTTGACCG	ATGGTTCCAGGCAAGTAA	ts
DNMT1	CCATCAGGCATTCTACCA	CGTTCTCCTTGTCTTCTCT	[124]
PD-L1	AAAGTCAATGCCCCATACAA	ACATGTCAGTTCATGTTCAGAG	[125]
Molecular Targets			
YAP1	CAATAGCTCAGATCCTTTCCT	TAGTATCACCTGTATCCATCTC	[126]
AURKA	GAGAATTGTGCTACTTATACTG	GGTACTAGGAAGGTTATTGC	ts
FGR	GGCCCGGCCTGCAT	TTGATGGCCTGAGAGGAGAAG	[127]
EGFR	AGGCACGAGTAACAAGCTCAC	ATGAGGGACATAACCAGCCACC	[128]
MET, HGFR	GGGCACCGAAAGATAAACCTCT	GACATTCTGGATGGGTGTTTCC	[129]
YES1	ACAGCAAGACAAGGTGCAAA	GTAAACCGACCATACAGTGCAG	[130]
PLZF, ZBTB16	TCACATACAGGCGACCACC	CTTGAGGCTGAACTTCTTGC	[131]
DCUNIDI	CTGGAGGACACCAACATG	TTCACTAGATTGTGTGAAGATC	[132]
ASV, SRC1	CGCTGGCCGGTGGAGTG	CCAGCTTGCGGATCTTGTAGT	[133]
PRKCA	GTGGCAAAGGAGCAGAGAAC	TGTAAGATGGGGTGCACAAA	[134]
MDM2	TTATTAAAGTCTGTTGGTGCA	TGAAGGTTTCTCTTCCTGAAG	[135]

Table 1. List of primer pairs used in this study.

FOS	CCGGGGATAGCCTCTCTTAC	GTGGGAATGAAGTTGGCACT	[136]
CBL	TGCCAAAACTGCCACCTGGGG	GGGCTGCGGCCAAATTCCCT	[137]
FYN	GGACATGGCAGCACAGGTG	TTTGCTGATCGCAGATCTCTATG	[138]
JUN	AAGTAAGAGTGCGGGAGGCA3	GGGCATCGTCATAGAAGGTCG	[139]
EPS15	CCTGTTGCAGATTTCTCTG	TCATCTTGAAGATCCTGAAC	[140]
Mouse model Targets			
Src/pp60c-src	GTTGCTTCGGAGAGGTGTGGAT	CACCAGTTTCTCGTGCCTCAGT	[141]
Zbtb16/PLZF	CCCAGTTCTCAAAGGAGGATG	TTCCCACACAGCAGACAGAAG	[142]

ts: this study; MS-PCR: methylation-specific PCR.

3.10 Western blot analysis

Protein expressions from treated cells were evaluated using Western blot (WB) analysis. A total of 10 µg of protein lysates was loaded onto 10% polyacrylamide sodium dodecyl sulfatepolyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) and then wet-transferred onto a polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) membrane. Following blocking, membranes were washed and incubated with primary antibodies against the following antibodies: DNMT1 (Abcam, ab19905), SOCS1 (Santa Cruz, E-9, sc-518028), and c-Src (sc-8056, Santa Cruz Biotech) for 24 h. Anti-actin (A2066, Sigma-Aldrich) was used as a housekeeping protein. Secondary antibodies were anti-mouse IgG HRP (Dako-p0260) and anti-rabbit IgG HRP (Dako-p0448), depending on the first antibody. Membranes were washed and then exposed to ECL Plus WB detection system solutions (ECL Plus Western Blotting Detection Reagents, GE-Healthcare Bio-Sciences) to obtain a peroxidase reaction. The blots were visualized using a C-Digit blot scanner and analyzed using Image StudioTM Vers. 5.2 Acquisition software (LI-COR Biosciences). Protein relative quantification was performed after the densitometric analysis of bands *vs* actin in each sample.

3.11 Flow cytometry

The presence of CSC surface marker antigens was detected using antibodies CD90/THY- 1 (Clone 5E10, Stem Cell Technologies, VA, Canada), CD133/PROM1 (clone AC133, Miltenyi Biotec GmbH, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany), and CD24 (clone 32D12, Miltenyi Biotec). A proposed epithelial CSC marker, CD326/EpCAM (Clone (VU-1D9, Santa Cruz, Dallas, TX, USA) was also used. Additionally, CD13/ANPEP (Clone WM15, Abcam, Cambridge, United

Kingdom) was also included in this study as a surface marker for dormant CSCs. After detachment, at least two million cells per mL were incubated with specific first antibodies for 60 min on ice in the dark. After two washes with PBS containing 0.5% bovine serum albumin (BSA) and 3 mM EDTA, when necessary, the cells were then incubated with fluorescence-conjugated secondary antibody for 60 min on ice in the dark. Flow cytometric analysis was performed immediately in a flow cytometer (FACS Calibur, Becton Dickinson, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA). Ten thousand events were analyzed per sample. An IgG anti-mouse antibody was used as the control.

3.12 Cytotoxicity evaluation of chemical inhibitors

For *in vitro* treatment, four inhibitors were evaluated, consisting of the following: 5-Azacytidine (5-AZA), an epigenetic therapy acting as a DNA methyltransferase (DNMT) inhibitor; sorafenib (SOR), a tyrosine kinase inhibitor; and two Src family of tyrosine kinase (SFK) inhibitors saracatinib (SAR) and dasatinib (DAS).

Each cell line was seeded at 25,000 cells/cm², except for JHH6 at 12,500 cells/cm². Cytotoxicity experiments were performed to define the lethal concentration (LC₅₀) of 5-AZA, SOR, SAR, and DAS. For the evaluation of 5-AZA (A2385, Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA), each cell line was treated with concentrations ranging from 2 μ M to 5 mM, while for the evaluation of SOR (Nexavar[®], Bayer, Leverkusen, Germany), the cell lines were exposed to concentrations from 1 to 80 μ M.

For the evaluation of SFK inhibitors, all cells were treated with a concentration of 0.02 to 5.0 μ M of SAR or DAS. Additionally, combination treatment was evaluated for SFK inhibitors and SOR. In these experiments, the cells were treated with the same range of concentration of SAR and DAS with an addition of 10 μ M of SOR in the treatments. The DMSO concentration was calculated to be 0.1% in the treatment assays. Cell viability was evaluated after 24 h of drug exposure using the 3(4,5-dimethyl thiazolyl-2)-2,5 diphenyltetrazolium assay (MTT, Sigma Aldrich) to determine the LC₅₀ of the drug to each cell line.

3.13 PD-L1 mRNA silencing by small interference RNA (siRNA)

Gene-silencing experiments for PD-L1 were performed using 20 nM of siRNA PD-L1 (Hs siRNA against CD274 (Thermo Fisher, Waltham, MA, USA). The siRNAs were transfected into cells using siLentFectTM Lipid Reagent (170–3362, Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Control siRNA (sc-37007, Santa Cruz Biotech, Dallas, TX, USA) was included in each assay. Cells were exposed to siRNA for 48 h, followed by cell collection for RNA extraction.

3.14 Wound scratch assay

Cells were plated in a 12-well plate with an initial concentration of 37,500 cells/cm². After 24 hours from cell plating, a longitudinal scratch (wound area) was introduced to the monolayer of cells in each well, by using the end of a white pipette tip. Untreated (CTRL) and treatment set-ups: DMSO, SOR, SAR, SAR+SOR, DAS, and DAS+SOR were prepared in duplicates. In each replicate, we identified at least 3 marked spots along the wound area. These marked spots were viewed and photographed using an optical microscope (Leica, Solms, Germany). Photos were taken from 0, 24, 48, and 72 hours after treatment to record the area of the wound closure.

Photos were first processed using a program, Fiji (Fiji is just ImageJ) (University of Winconsin-Madison, USA) [143] to generate a 1-dimensional image. The program carefully defines and delineates the area where there are no visible cells in the transformed image. This process allows us to define the wound area and assess wound closure by comparing the difference between 0 to 72 hours of treatment. This data is computed to an area of the percentage (%) of wound closure, using this formula: $((t_0-t_h)/t_0)$) x 100%, where t₀ is the area of the wound measured immediately after scratching (0 hour) and t_h is the area of the wound measured "h" hours after the scratch is performed (24, 48 and 72 hours) [144]. Results were presented as a mean (\pm SD) of measurements of the area of the percentage of wound closure in the 6 marked spots recorded.

3.15 Network analysis for the identification of molecular targets

We investigated published datasets of HCC transcriptomic profiles as presented by Boyault *et al.*, and Hoshida *et al.* [38,39]. The two publications proposed groups and subtypes for HCC

based on the similarity of cellular and molecular signatures of tumors. Using these datasets, a protein-protein interaction (PPI) analysis was done using Cytoscape [145] to select common proteins from the PPI network. The gradual screening to select candidate targets was done by excluding housekeeping genes and focusing on genes that were involved in cancer promotion (proto-oncogenes). The clinical association and significance of each proto-oncogene to LIHC (liver hepatocellular carcinoma) were plotted into data from The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) and the Genotype Tissue Expression (GTEx) portals [146,147], and visualized by the Gene Expression Profiling Interactive Analysis (GEPIA) online tool [148]. Figure 2 shows a diagram of the *in-silico* strategy used in this study, while the generated PPI networks from datasets are shown in Appendix.



Figure 2. In-silico and validation approach to discover potential targets for HCC therapy.

3.16 Statistical analysis

Statistical tests were carried out using the software GraphPad Prism version 8.0 (GraphPad Software, Inc., La Jolla, CA, USA). All mRNA data were presented as median (95% CI). For the comparison of mRNA expressions between non-tumoral, peri HCC and HCC tissues, Kruskal Wallis non-parametric test was performed, which was followed by Dunn's multiple comparison test to compare the difference between groups (non-tumoral vs peri-HCC; peri-

HCC vs HCC; non-tumoral vs HCC). For the comparison of the mRNA expressions in the liver tissues of the mouse models, one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used, followed by Newmans-Keul multiple comparison test to compare between groups. For the correlation of methylation and clinicopathological parameters the following tests were performed, Student's t-test, contingency chi-square, and Fisher's exact test, following normality test and are further described in Table 2. Results of the *in vitro* experiments (mRNA and protein expression data) were obtained from at least three independent experiments and are expressed as mean \pm SD. Corresponding statistical tests and their significance were set to *p*-value indicated as * *p* ≤ 0.05, ** *p* ≤ 0.01, and *** *p* ≤ 0.001.

Chapter IV - Results

4.1 TASK 1: Evaluation of the distribution of *SOCS1* DNA methylation in HCC tumors and the potential of epigenetic *SOCS1* modulation in *in vitro* models of heterogeneity.

The initiation and progression of human cancers is a result of alterations that can be in the form of epigenetic aberrations. For instance, DNA methylation in promoter regions of tumor suppressor genes (TSGs) allows transcriptional silencing that leads to deregulation of many cellular processes that contribute to cancer [149]. Several studies have suggested that methylation of multiple tumor suppressor genes in HCC may contribute to its pathogenesis [150–152]. In TASK 1, we aimed to understand the interspatial distribution of particular epigenetic dysregulation in HCC tumors. We investigated DNA methylation of *SOCS1*, reported to have transcriptional inactivation in HCC progression. Also, we explored the potential of a reprogramming dose of a DNMT inhibitor to revert the expression of *SOCS1* and understand these epigenetic regulations to the heterogeneity of HCC.

4.1.1 SOCS1 methylation in HCC specimen

Total gDNA was extracted from different portions of the liver tissues composed of nontumoral, peri-HCC, and HCC tissues. In the Italian cohort, the proportion of *SOCS1* methylated samples was observed to be more in HCC tissues as compared to peri-HCC and non-tumoral tissues (p < 0.001). In HCC tissues, 54% of the tissues analyzed have methylated *SOCS1*. In contrast, non-tumoral and peri-HCC livers only had 14% and 13% methylated *SOCS1*, respectively. There was a higher frequency of unmethylated *SOCS1* in non-tumoral and peri-HCC tissues as compared to HCC tissues (non-tumoral: 62%; peri-HCC: 53% and HCC: 25%). Tissues with partially methylated *SOCS1* were noticed only in some samples (non-tumor: 24%; peri-HCC: 34% and HCC: 21%) (Figure 3A).

Interestingly, when we evaluated the *SOCS1* methylation in the Vietnamese cohort (data was collected in collaboration with Dr, Hoang Anh Vu and Dr. Luong Bac An, University of Medicine and Pharmacy at Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam). Our preliminary assessment of results showed a seemingly higher incidence of methylated *SOCS1* in non-tumoral tissues, accounting for 50% of the samples analyzed. The frequency of methylated *SOCS1* was less in peri-HCC

and HCC tissues (21% and 31% respectively). Interestingly, there were a higher percentage of unmethylated *SOCS1* in peri-HCC and HCC tissues as compared to non-tumoral tissues (42% and 44% vs 13% respectively). Partially methylated tissues were also observed in non-tumor, peri-HCC, and HCC samples (38%, 37, and 26%, respectively) (Figure 3B). However, we recommend that this preliminary report be validated using the Italian cohorts as control and/or DNA methylation-sequencing to identify the correctness of the methylation profile. Once validated, the data from the Vietnamese cohort can be further assessed with the clinicopathological association to better understand factors influencing the incidence of *SOCS1* methylation in HCC tumors.



Figure 3. *SOCS1* methylation and mRNA expression in HCC clinical samples. Distribution of *SOCS1* methylation status among HCC liver tissues from (**A**) Italian Cohort (60 tissues) and (**B**) Vietnamese cohort (125 tissues). Data was presented in % value. Statistical analysis for data in Figure 3A and 3B: *** $p \le 0.001$, using Chi-square test to compare the groups in graph A and B. (**C**) Distribution of *SOCS1* mRNA expression among different tissue samples analyzed by quantitative RT-PCR. (**D**) No correlation between *SOCS1* methylation status and mRNA expression (PCR-based analysis, left). Data from C and D are based on the results of samples from the Italian cohort. Statistical analysis for data in Figure 3C and 3D: ns, using non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test followed by Dunn's multiple comparison test to compare data of non-tumoral, peri-HCC and HCC tissues (**E**) Representative blots of PM and UM clinical specimens showing the protein expressions of DNMT1 (183 kDa) and SOCS1 (38 kDa). ns: not significant. MS-PCR: methylation-specific polymerase chain reaction; M: methylated *SOCS1*; PM: partially methylated *SOCS1*; UM: unmethylated *SOCS1*

We checked the association of *SOCS1* methylation status and clinicopathological data only in the Italian cohort. *SOCS1* methylation status was positively associated with aging (p < 0.05). There is a higher incidence of methylated *SOCS1* in moderately differentiated tissues, Edmonson-Steiner histological grade 2 and grade 3 (p < 0.05), but it was not correlated with etiology, tumor size, Child–Turcotte–Pugh (CTP) and BCLC class, AFP level, and tumor recurrence (Table 2).

Table 2. The association between *SOCS1* methylation with clinical parameters in the Italian cohort.

		SOCS1 Methylation in HCC Tissues			
		M (%)	PM/UM (%)	All (%)	р
Sex [F:M]		2:10(17:83)	2:9(18:82)	4 : 19 (17:83)	0.9999
Age [year, mean \pm std]		70.9 ± 7.6	64 ± 6.9	67.6 ± 7.9	0.0177 *
Tumor size		10 ± 37	3.0 ± 2.1	11 + 30	0 2300
[cm, mean \pm std]		4.9 ± 5.7	5.9 ± 2.1	4.4 ± 3.0	0.2399
AFP		7 4 (2, 5094)	7 / (3 130)	7 4 (2, 5094)	0 1129
[median ng/mL, min-max]		7.4 (2-3094)	7.4 (5-157)	7.4 (2–30)4)	0.1129
Etiology	HCV	3 (25)	6 (55)	9 (39)	0.2310
	HBV	2 (17)	0 (0)	2 (9)	
	Metabolic	6 (50)	3 (27)	9 (39)	
	no	1 (8)	2 (18)	3 (13)	
Histological grading	ES1	1 (9)	6 (60)	7 (33)	0.0465 *
	ES2	7 (64)	3 (30)	10 (48)	
	ES3-4	3 (27)	1 (10)	4 (19)	
СТР	А	10 (83)	8 (73)	18 (78)	0.5379
	B-C	2 (17)	3 (27)	5 (22)	
BCLC	0	8 (73)	10 (91)	18 (82)	0.5865
	1–2	3 (27)	1 (9)	4 (18)	
Recurrence (m)	<12 m	3 (75)	6 (43)	9 (50)	0.5765
	>12 m	1 (25)	8 (67)	9 (50)	

M: methylated; PM: partially methylated; UM: unmethylated; HCV: hepatitis C virus; HBV: hepatitis B virus; ES: Edmonson-Steiner; CPT: Child–Turcotte–Pugh; BCLC: Barcelona Clinic Liver Cancer. Statistical analysis: $*p \le 0.05$ comparing M and PM/UM groups using Student's t-test for age, tumor size, and AFP level; using Chi-square test for etiology and histological grading; using Fisher's exact test for sex, CTP, BCLC stage, and recurrence.

4.1.2 Correlation of SOCS1 mRNA expression and DNA methylation

In parallel, *SOCS1* gene expression of similar sets of HCC specimens was performed by RTqPCR. Primers for RT-qPCR were designed to cover the coding region in the CpG island 2 in
exon 2, as for DNA methylation. mRNA analysis showed no significant difference in *SOCS1* mRNA expression for non-tumoral, peritumoral, and tumoral tissues (Figure 3C).

To check whether *SOCS1* mRNA expression was correlated with *SOCS1* methylation as above, we performed a comparative analysis between two parameters in the data set. Our data showed that there was no association between *SOCS1* methylation and *SOCS1* expression (Figure 3D).

Additionally, protein blots shown in Figure 3E seemed to indicate a higher expression of DNMT1 and SOCS1 proteins in partially methylated tissue samples as compared to unmethylated samples. It might indicate the increased activity of DNMT1 and SOCS1 in these samples. However, due to a rather small number of protein samples available, this investigation was not completed.

4.1.3 Demethylation by 5-Azacytidine (5-AZA) in heterogenous in vitro models

Based on data in the clinical specimens showing frequent *SOCS1* methylation in tumoral tissues, we explored an epigenetic strategy to possibly induce the demethylation effect of *SOCS1* in HCC cells. However, since HCC is a very heterogeneous tumor, it is unclear whether the effect would be similar in different tumoral cells.

Here, we used six different cell lines representing cellular heterogeneity of HCC, as shown by their different phenotypes using flow cytometry (data from the FIF-HCC unit). As in the literature [153,154], the S2/progenitor subtypes HepG2 and Huh7, were identified with the presence of EpCAM+ cells where CD133+ cells were also noticed in Huh7. CSC markers CD24+ cells were present in HLE, HLF, and Huh7, CD13 cells in IHH, JHH6, Huh7, and HepG2, and CD90+ cells in IHH (Table 3).

Table 3. HCC cells phenotyping using several CSC markers (CD133, CD90, and CD24), a proposed epithelial CSC marker (EpCAM), and a dormant CSC marker (CD13).

Subtypes	Cell Line	EpCAM	CD133	CD90	CD24	CD13
Hepatocytes	IHH	-	-	+/	-	+
S1/TGFβ-Wnt	HLE	-	-	+/	+	-
	HLF	-	-	+/	+	-
	JHH6	-	-	-	-	+/
S2/progenitor	HepG2	+	-	-	-	+/
	Huh 7	+	+	_	+	+/

+: more than 90% of cells analyzed show the presence of cell surface marker; +/-: less than 10% of cells analyzed show the presence of cell surface marker.

5-Azacytidine (5-AZA) was chosen as a demethylating drug. First, we evaluated 5-AZA cytotoxicity by MTT test to determine the lethal concentration 50 (LC₅₀), ranging from 2 μ M to 5 mM. Upon 5-AZA treatment for 24 h, the calculated LC₅₀ was 128 μ M for HLE, 14 μ M for HepG2, 33 μ M for HLF, 16 μ M for Huh7, 41 μ M for IHH, and 5 μ M for JHH6 (Figure 4A).



Figure 4. The effect of 5-Azacytidine (5-AZA) in *in vitro* models. (A) Dose-response of *in vitro* models: S2/progenitor subtypes: HepG2 and Huh7; S1/TGF β -Wnt subtypes: HLE, HLF, and JHH6, and immortalized hepatocytes IHH. All cells were treated with 2 μ M to 5 mM of 5-AZA for 24 h and cytotoxicity assay was performed by MTT test. Dashed lines show LC₅₀ value for each cell line. (B) Cellular morphology of *in vitro*

models after 24 h treatment of 5 μ M and 500 μ M of 5-AZA. (C) Quantitative graphs and representative blots of DNMT1 protein expression (183 kDa) after 24 h treatment of 5 μ M and 500 μ M of 5-AZA. Actin (42 kDa) was used as a housekeeping protein. Graphs presented as mean \pm SD calculated from at least three independent experiments. Statistical analysis for data in Figure 4C: * $p \le 0.05$; ** $p \le 0.01$; *** $p \le 0.001$ using Student's t-test relative to CTRL (0 μ M) in each cell line. MTT: 3(4,5-dimethyl thiazolyl-2)-2,5 diphenyltetrazolium.

Since the cytotoxicity evaluation of 5-AZA on all cells revealed a minimum LC₅₀ value of 5 μ M we chose to further evaluate this concentration. Morphological analysis showed that 5-AZA of 5 μ M did not alter the morphology of the cells. To compare, we treated the cells with a 100X higher concentration of 5-AZA (500 μ M), which resulted to change in the cellular morphology of the cells. (Figure 4B). Both concentrations reduced the expression of DNMT1 protein to different extents, which seemed to be correlated with cellular subtypes. The lowest DNMT1 reduction after 5 μ M treatment was noticed in non-tumoral cells IHH reaching up to a 93% decrease (p < 0.001). The S1/TGFβ-Wnt subtypes, HLE, HLF, and JHH6 showed reductions of around 80% (83%, 73%, and 79%, respectively, p < 0.01). On the other hand, the S2/progenitor subtypes HepG2 and Huh7 showed rather slight decreases upon 5-AZA treatments (17% and 10%, respectively). A significant reduction was noticed only following 500 μ M treatment in Huh7 of around 40% (Figure 4C).

4.1.4 SOCS1 modulation following demethylation by 5-Azacytidine (5-AZA) treatment

First, we checked the *DNMT1* and *SOCS1* gene expressions among cell lines. We noticed that, compared to non-tumoral IHH cells, the *DNMT1* expressions (Figure 5A) in HCC cells were significantly higher for more than 2-fold (p < 0.05). For *SOCS1*, expression in JHH6 was comparable to that of IHH, while it was significantly higher in HLE and HLF for around 4-fold, and 6-fold, respectively (p < 0.05). *SOCS1* expression was noticeably much higher in S2/progenitor subtypes Huh7 and HepG2, accounting for around 60-fold for both cells (p < 0.05) (Figure 5B).



Figure 5. The effect of 5-Azacytidine (5-AZA) in *SOCS1* expression in *in vitro* models. (A) Relative mRNA expression of *DNMT1* in HCC cell lines JHH6, HLE, HLF, Huh7, and HepG2 compared to non-tumoral IHH cells (= 1.0) (B) Relative mRNA expression of *SOCS1* in HCC cell lines compared to non-tumoral IHH cells (= 1.0). Statistical analysis (Figure 5A-5B): *p < 0.05 using Student's t-test relative to IHH. (C) mRNA expression and representative protein blot of *SOCS1* (38 kDa) in hepatic cell lines after 24 h treatment of 5 μ M of 5-AZA and 50 μ M of sorafenib. Actin (42 kDa) was used as housekeeping in the protein blot. Statistical analysis (Figure 5C): *p < 0.05; ** p < 0.01 using Student's t-test relative to CTRL for each cell line. Graphs presented as mean \pm SD calculated from at least three independent experiments.

The 5-AZA non-toxic concentration of 5 μ M was used to investigate *SOCS1* modulation in these cells. As shown in Figure 5C, following the treatment of 5 μ M of 5-AZA for 24 h, the *SOCS1* mRNA expression was increased to different extents. HCC cell lines belonging to the S2/progenitor subtypes Huh7 and HepG2 (HepG2 and Huh7) gained an approximately 2-fold increase in SOCS1 mRNA expression after 5-AZA treatment, whereas the *SOCS1* expression in S1/TGF β -Wnt subtypes HLE and HLF was unchanged. However, a significant increase of around 4-fold was noticed in JHH6 cells (p < 0.05). The non-tumoral cells IHH showed a 2-fold increase in *SOCS1* expression (p < 0.05).

We also compared 5-AZA with sorafenib treatment. Sorafenib is an approved molecular targeted therapy against VEGFR and Raf-kinases for HCC. The concentration used for this drug relating to this task was based on the results of the cytotoxicity of sorafenib, described in Task 2. Upon 24 h of 50 μ M sorafenib, in contrast to 5-AZA, the SOCS1 expression was decreased for HepG2 and Huh7 (p < 0.05). Sorafenib treatment was able to increase the expression of SOCS1 only in JHH6 and IHH cells (p < 0.05 and p < 0.01, respectively).

The result of this task is published in Diagnostics in October 2021: Cabral, L.K.D.; Reyes, P.A.C.; Crocè, L.S.; Tiribelli, C.; Sukowati, C.H.C. The Relevance of SOCS1 Methylation and Epigenetic Therapy in Diverse Cell Populations of Hepatocellular Carcinoma. Diagnostics 2021, 11, 1825. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/diagnostics11101825</u>

4.2 TASK 2: Identification of potential molecular targets of therapy through the utilization of bioinformatic analysis in *in vitro* models of heterogeneity

Clinical and histopathologic evidence describe HCC as a heterogeneous disease, but there is still a need to provide a coherent molecular explanation for HCC heterogeneity [39]. Several researchers have utilized -omics approaches to classify HCC, focusing on their molecular and cellular taxonomies [38,39,155]. These classifications resulted in the so-called molecular classes/subtypes that reflect the heterogeneity of the cells. Each class/group/subtype shows distinct cellular phenotypes, disactivations of molecular pathways, differentiation, and sensitivities to given treatments. In TASK 2, we aimed to look at potential targets for HCC treatment, taking advantage of reported molecular classifications together with bioinformatics tools. The exploration of the validity of proposed targets for the treatment of HCC was assessed in experimental models comprising different cellular classifications.

4.2.1. Identification of candidate targets

We employed an *in-silico* strategy to consider the innate heterogeneity of HCC by gradual filtering, to discover potential drug targets that may comprise cellular heterogeneity (Figure 2). From the protein-protein interaction (PPI) networks (Appendix), we identified 982 and 3659 common proteins from Hoshida and Boyault extended classifications, respectively. Gradual selection from those proteins, by excluding housekeeping genes and including proto-

oncogenes, resulted in 26 proto-oncogene targets. From those targets, following GEPIA analysis on their clinical distributions and associations according to TCGA and GTEx datasets (Figure 6) (comprising 369 liver cancer tissues vs. 160 normal tissues), we further narrowed down the targets to 16 candidates as shown in Table 4.

UniProt ID	Protein Name	Gene	Gene Name					
P46937	Transcriptional coactivator YAP1	YAP1	yes-associated protein 1					
O14965 P09769	Aurora kinase A Tyrosine-protein kinase Fgr	AURKA FGR	aurora kinase A FGR proto-oncogene					
P00533	Epidermal growth factor receptor	EGFR	epidermal growth factor receptor					
P08581	Hepatocyte growth factor receptor	HGFR, MET	MET proto-oncogene, receptor tyrosine kinase					
P07947	Tyrosine-protein kinase Yes	YES1	YES proto-oncogene 1, Src family tyrosine kinase					
Q05516	Zinc finger and BTB domain containing 16	PLZF, ZBTB16	zinc finger and BTB domain containing 16					
Q96GG9	DCN1-like protein 1	DCUN1D1	defective in cullin neddylation 1 domain containing 1					
P12931	Proto-oncogene tyrosine-protein kinase Src	SRC1, ASV	SRC proto-oncogene, non-receptor tyrosine kinase					
P17252	Protein kinase C alpha type	PRKCA	protein kinase C alpha					
Q00987	E3 ubiquitin-protein ligase Mdm2	MDM2	MDM2 proto-oncogene					
P01100	Protein c-Fos	FOS	Fos proto-oncogene, AP-1 transcription factor subunit					
P22681	E3 ubiquitin-protein ligase CBL	CBL	Cbl proto-oncogene					
P06241	Tyrosine-protein kinase Fyn	FYN	FYN proto-oncogene, Src family tyrosine kinase					
P05412	Transcription factor Jun	JUN	Jun proto-oncogene, AP-1 transcription factor subunit					
P42566	Epidermal growth factor receptor substrate 15	EPS15	epidermal growth factor receptor pathway substrate 15					

Table 4. List of 16 proto-oncogene targets and their respective UniProt ID, protein name, gene symbol, and gene name.





Figure 6. GEPIA analysis of the 16 potential proto-oncogene targets. Data show tissue gene expression in TCGA Data Liver hepatocellular carcinoma (LIHC) = 369 (in red) vs. TCGA and GTex Data Normal = 160 (in gray). Data presented as expression $-\log_2(TPM + 1)$ transformed for differential analysis. Statistical analysis: * indicates differentially expressed genes according to the selected data set (TCGA tumors vs TCGA normal + GTEx normal, using one-way ANOVA. Genes with higher \log_2FC values (defined as median(Tumor) - median(Normal) and lower p values than pre-set thresholds ($\log_2FC = 1$ and *p*-value = 0.01) are considered differentially expressed genes.

4.2.2. Expression of targets in in vitro, in vivo, and clinical models

We then analyzed the baseline expression levels of the 16 targets (Table 4) in the *in vitro* models and compared expressions in HCC cells to those in IHH. We observed that in HCC cells 10 out of the 16 (62%) proto-oncogene target genes were up-regulated and 6 were downregulated in the HCC cell lines (Figure 7A). Further comparison of gene expressions separating the two cell subtype groups showed that 13/16 proto-oncogene targets (81%) were up-regulated in the S2/progenitor subtype, whereas only 10/16 (62%) were up-regulated in the S1/TGF β -Wnt subtype (Figure 7B).



Figure 7. Baseline mRNA expression of targets in the various HCC cell populations. (A) Distribution of targets showing the upregulated and the downregulated proto-oncogenes. (B) Distribution of relative expression of candidate targets between the S1 and S2 cell populations. Data are presented as the mean expression values (log2) from three independent samples of each cell line. Statistical analysis for data in Figure 7A and 7B: $p \le 0.05$; ** $p \le 0.01$; *** $p \le 0.001$ using the one-sample t-test vs. mean expression of immortalized hepatocytes IHH as 0.00. Red - up-regulated, Blue - down-regulated.

Assessing the result of the proto-oncogene expression in the HCC cell lines, we identified the most upregulated (*SRC1*) and most downregulated (*PLZF*) targets. We further investigated their distributions in the HCC samples of the Italian and Vietnamese cohorts (Figure 8). Our data showed that in Italian HCC specimens, the mRNA distribution for *SRC1* seemingly displays an increasing trend in the mRNA expression of non-tumoral, to peri-HCC and HCC tissues. Median expression values were 0.34 (0.14-0.89), 0.84 (0.34-1.46), and 1.00 (0.17-2.40), in distal, peri-HCC and HCC tissues, respectively. Meanwhile, the Vietnamese cohort showed no difference or trend in median mRNA expression of *SRC1* between non-tumoral, peri-HCC, and HCC samples. However, analysis of the Vietnamese cohort looking at *PLZF* mRNA expression displays a seemingly regressive trend. Median values were 10.40 (6.02-13.63), 5.18 (2.81-10.44), and 2.26 (0.40-8.74), in non-tumoral, peri-HCC and HCC tissues,

respectively. Meanwhile, there was no difference between PLZF expressions across nontumoral, peri-HCC, and HCC tissues for the Italian cohort. Values correspond to median mRNA expression (Q1–Q3). However, statistical analysis of these data using, one-way ANOVA did not indicate a significant value, indicating only a pattern but not an absolute test of the difference between generated results.



Figure 8. Distribution of *SRC1* and *PLZF* in HCC clinical samples. (A) mRNA distribution of *SRC1* in Italian and Vietnamese cohorts. (B) mRNA distribution of *PLZF* in Italian and Vietnamese cohorts. Statistical analysis for data in Figure 8A and 8B: ns, using non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test followed by Dunn's multiple comparison test to compare data of non-tumoral, peri-HCC, and HCC tissues. ns: not significant

We also tried to understand how these two targets are distributed in liver tissue from mouse samples reflecting different stages of liver injury (data from the FIF-HCC unit). Noticeably, there was an upregulated expression of Src1/pp60c-src for 2 to 5-fold higher, in HBV-TG compared to WT (p < 0.0001). Paired analysis within similar age groups confirmed the observed differences. Interestingly, the expression level of Src1/pp60c-src in HBV-TG liver tissues sequentially increased with the progression of liver damage (Figure 9A). Meanwhile, for Zbtb16/PLZF there was an observed regressive decrease in the mRNA expression in mice, but is seemingly correlated to age since the decrease in *Zbtb16/PLZF* mRNA is both observed in the WT and TG groups in a more or less similar extent (Figure 9B).



Figure 9. Distribution of *Src1/pp60c-src* and *Zbtb16/PLZF* in liver tissues of HBV-TG and WT mouse models. Bar graphs represent mean mRNA expression in the different stages of liver injury of HBV-TG and WT counterparts. Statistical analysis for data in Figure 9A and 9B: ** $p \le 0.01$; *** $p \le 0.001$, using one-way ANOVA followed by Newmans-Keul multiple comparison test revealing a significant difference between *Src1/pp60c-src* mRNA expressions of 12 months WT and TG mice and *Zbtb16/PLZF* mRNA expressions of 3 months WT and TG mice. 3 WT: 3 months wildtype mouse; 3 TG: 3 months HBV-transgenic mouse. The number before the genotype indicates the age of the mouse model. WT: wild-type; TG: HBV-transgenic.

4.2.3. Effect of targeted treatments on different cell populations

We used three different treatment strategies in the different HCC cell populations. As shown previously in TASK 1, the LC₅₀ of 5-AZA was 128 μ M for HLE, 33 μ M for HLF, 41 μ M for IHH, 16 μ M for Huh7, 14 μ M for HepG2, and 5 μ M for JHH6. In TASK 2, we chose the concentration of 5 μ M as a non-lethal concentration for 5-AZA epigenetic therapy. This concentration was able to inhibit the methylation activities of DNMT1 allowing the reversal of transcriptional silencing, as seen in our data in TASK 1.

For the SOR, the following LC₅₀ values shown in Figure 10A were calculated after 24 h of exposure of the cells to the drug. Cells belonging to the S2/progenitor subtype appear to be more sensitive to SOR as compared to cells belonging to S1/TGF β -Wnt subtype. Noticeable morphological changes were observed in HLE, HLF, and JHH6 cells after treatment with 50 μ M SOR (Figure 10B).

PD-L1 silencing and gene knockdown by siRNA resulted in a decrease of mRNA expression in all cell populations after 48 h of exposure to 20 nM of siR-PD-L1. Following RNA silencing,

the extent of PD-L1 mRNA reduction was 70% and 64% for Huh7 and HepG2, respectively (p < 0.05). Higher extents of downregulation were noticed in the S1/TGF β -Wnt subtype cells, for 70%, 82%, and 91% for HLE, HLF, and JHH6, respectively (p < 0.05). PD-L1 downregulation was also noticed for IHH cells for around 80% (p < 0.001) (Figure 10C).



Figure 10. Sorafenib (SOR) treatments and PD-L1 mRNA silencing (siR-PD-L1) in *in vitro* models. (A) Cell viability upon 24 h treatment with 1 μ M to 80 μ M of SOR. Dashed lines show the value of LC₅₀. (B) Cell morphology after 24 h treatment of 50 μ M of SOR. (C) Downregulation of PD-L1 mRNA expression after 48 h of 20 nM PD-L1 silencing. Statistical analysis for data in Figure 10C: * $p \le 0.05$; ** $p \le 0.01$; *** $p \le 0.001$ using Student's t-test (vs. mock) in each cell line. Graphs presented as mean \pm SD calculated from at least three independent experiments. SOR: sorafenib, siR-PD-L1: PD-L1 silencing.

4.2.4. Effect of treatments on the dysregulations of proto-oncogene targets

From the results of the MTT assays (5-AZA and SOR) and silencing experiments (siR-PD-L1), we further evaluated the dysregulations of the 16 proto-oncogene targets in Table 4 in the different cell populations. For the concentration of the treatments, concentrations of 5 μ M and 50 μ M were selected for 5-AZA and SOR, respectively. For the silencing, the treatment with

20 nM of siR-PD-L1 was able to significantly reduce PD-L1 mRNA expression in all cell lines investigated. Figure 11 shows a representative heat map indicating the dysregulated mRNA expression of the proto-oncogenes.

Among the three treatment modalities, 5 μ M of 5-AZA did not show significant downregulation effects on proto-oncogene targets in the different cells, except for *FGR* and *PLZF*. For SOR treatment, there were downregulation effects in proto-oncogenes *FGR*, *PLZF*, and FOS. Interestingly, we also observed that the 50 μ M SOR treatment downregulated proto-oncogene mRNA expression mostly in the cells belonging to the S2/progenitor subtype.

Notably, for the immune-targeting treatment results, using 20 nM siR-PD-L1 showed effective downregulation in almost all proto-oncogenes in all cell lines evaluated.

	Щ		S1		<u></u> S	2	Н		S1		S	2	н		S1		<u> </u>	2	
	1 11			1	1	I				1	1	1	1 11			1	1	1	
1	ІНН	HLE	HLF	JHH6	HepG2	HuH7	IHH	HLE	HLF	JHH6	HepG2	HuH7	ІНН	HLE	HLF	JHH6	HepG2	HuH7	
AURKA	3.00	1.06	1.46	1.38	1.96	3.26 **	1.39	0.27 *	1.83	0.99	0.17 **	1.04	0.33***	0.61	0.46 **	0.57 **	0.87	0.24***	
FGR	0.04	0.48 **	0.37 *	2.84	0.01 *	1.51	0.31	1.25	0.06 *	4.91 ***	0.93	1.44	0.24***	0.49 *	0.14***	0.11 ***	0.21***	0.36 *	
EGFR	1.99	1.40 **	2.74	5.14	0.77	1.18	2.67	2.61	2.86 **	13.01 *	0.62	1.24	0.42***	0.91 *	0.29 *	0.77	0.73	0.82	
HGFR	0.75	1.65	5.04	1.91	1.89	3.13	1.59	3.06	5.56	4.28 *	0.32 *	0.33	0.49 **	0.76	0.32 **	1.19	0.84	0.77	
YAP1	0.91	1.35	2.80 *	1.08	1.55	2.00	22.36	1.35	2.00	3.40	0.50	1.06	0.41	0.37	0.69 **	0.81	0.68	1.13	
FOS	1.58 *	0.97	1.29	1.45	1.30	0.85	4.18	0.20 *	0.29 *	0.86	0.16 **	0.17	0.38***	0.73***	0.39***	0.34	0.80	0.82	
SRC1	1.51	2.01	2.79	5.80 *	2.41**	0.42	3.99	3.09 *	2.41 *	2.16	0.41 *	1.05	0.56***	0.92	0.35***	1.13	1.05	0.72	
PRKCA	0.67	1.14	3.47	2.36 *	1.08	0.93	3.18	3.30	2.80 **	4.28	1.58	1.37	0.61	0.73 **	0.27 **	1.06	0.65 **	0.58	
YES1	0.48	1.24	4.71	0.97	1.03	1.55	1.96	2.60 *	2.76	6.26 *	0.36 *	0.40	0.46 **	0.77	0.33 *	1.21	0.66***	0.68	
FYN	1.48	1.14	8.11	3.55 *	1.30	0.97	2.63	3.32 *	4.08 **	4.03 **	0.67	0.78	0.58 **	1.08	0.45 *	1.24	1.04	0.95	
cCBL	1.68	1.90	0.68	4.09	2.27	1.21	1.50	3.01	0.82	7.95	0.47	1.12	0.40 *	1.17	0.32	0.30	0.53 *	0.70 *	
cJun	1.28	2.23	9.81***	6.87 **	2.43	0.35 **	3.00	1.15	5.44	7.17 *	2.68	0.59	0.28 **	1.82	0.02***	0.90	0.48	1.02	
EPS15	3.32	2.84	1.03	4.57 **	3.28	3.06	2.57	2.09	2.43	29.21	0.62	0.05	0.56	1.07	0.03***	0.97	0.18	0.91 **	
MDM2	1.86	2.28 **	3.04	1.35	4.88 *	1.13	7.16	104	1.65	3.65 *	0.85	0.04	0.92	0.64	0.02***	0.32 *	0.09	1.02 **	
PLZF	0.33	0.49	140	176	0.01**	104	161	148	0.09	0.42	191	0.68	0.64	3.20***	0.02***	0.08***	0.88 **	0.13	
DCUN1L1	0.56	2.33	3.99	2.18	1.47	2.45	1.11	2.87	4.73	14.08 **	0.64	0.06 *	0.45	0.85	0.26 *	0.97	0.38	0.77 **	
							L												
	5-AZA				SOR					siR-PD-L1									

upregulated downregulated

Figure 11. Dysregulation of mRNA expressions of proto-oncogene targets in liver cancer cell lines after various treatments. The heat map indicates the up-regulation and downregulation of the markers after treatment with 5 μ M 5-AZA, 50 μ M SOR, and 20 nM siR-PD-L1. Data presented as mean calculated from at least three independent experiments. Statistical analysis for data in Figure 11: * $p \le 0.05$; ** $p \le 0.01$; *** $p \le 0.001$ using Student's t-test evaluating the difference between means of treated vs untreated cells.

The result of this task is published in Biomedicines in January 2023: Cabral, L.K.D.; Giraudi, P.J.; Giannelli, G.; Dituri, F.; Negro, R.; Tiribelli, C.; Sukowati, C.H.C. Network Analysis for the Discovery of Common Oncogenic Biomarkers in Liver Cancer Experimental Models. Biomedicines 2023, 11, 342. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/biomedicines11020342</u>

4.3 TASK 3: Characterization of unique targets of therapy and evaluate their anti-cancer effects as monotherapy or combination treatment

Despite numerous studies for early diagnosis, prognostic value, and treatment, HCC remains one of the most difficult to cure end-stage liver diseases [79]. The carcinogenesis complexity makes it hard to diagnose while the heterogeneity (tumor extent, patient comorbidities, and severity of liver dysfunction) challenges both management and treatment [18]. Radical treatments such as surgical resection and liver transplant are considered only for early-stage HCC [156] and do not apply to more than two-thirds of HCC cases as advanced and metastatic stages [157]. For unresectable HCC, options of radiofrequency ablation (RFA) and transarterial chemoembolization (TACE) can be helpful [156] but still offers minimal improvement in patient overall survival. To date, identifying a highly effective systemic therapy for HCC has remained a challenge to its management. In TASK 3, we aimed to identify unique targets for therapy that could provide anti-cancer treatment effects comprising heterogeneity.

4.3.1. Identification of unique targets for therapy

We further analyzed the proto-oncogene targets from TASK 2. Bioinformatic tools were used to understand the functions, roles, and associations of the 16 proto-oncogenes. The association of the target molecules was further classified using the STRING database [159]. The result of the protein-protein network considered physical and functional associations of the proteins of interest. This analysis indicated a PPI enrichment p-value of 4.17e-10, which indicates that the 16 proteins are at least partially biologically connected, as a group (Figure 12).



Figure 12. Enrichment network interaction of the 16 proto-oncogene targets.

Using the g.profiler tool [160] we performed a gene enrichment analysis of the protein targets and were able to identify a unique group of non-membrane tyrosine kinases belonging to the Src family of tyrosine kinases (SFKs) (Figure 13). Four out of the nine members of this family of kinases, *SRC1*, *FGR*, *YES1*, and *FYN*, were included in our list of potential targets. This directed our focus on this rather unique clustering in our network of proteins.



Figure 13. Gene enrichment analysis result of the 16 proto-oncogene targets.

4.3.2 Dysregulation effects of various cancer treatments on SRC protein expression

Referring to the data in Figure 11 of TASK 2, we further looked into the dysregulation effects of the three treatments on SFKs. Among the four members of the SFKs, the FGR mRNA was downregulated in at least three cell lines following all treatments. 5-AZA was able to reduce *FGR* mRNA expression, ranging between 52% and 99% (p < 0.05) in four cell lines. SOR reduced its expression, ranging between 10% and 94% in two cell lines. Notably, sir-PD-L1-treated cells showed a significant reduction of *FGR* expression in all six cells lines, ranging

between 51% and 89% (p < 0.001 for IHH, HLF, JHH6, and HepG2; p < 0.05 for HLE and Huh7) (Figure 11). While for the other SFKs, the decrease in expressions after treatments varied.

Western blot analysis was done to understand the effect of treatments on the SFKs. The c-Src antibody used is recommended for the detection of c-Src, Yes p62, Fyn p59, c-Fgr p55, and c-Src-2 (50 kDa). As shown in Figure 14, the three treatment modalities mostly reduced the c-Src protein expressions in the cell lines investigated, except for PD-L1-silenced HepG2 cells, 5-AZA and SOR treated Huh7 and JHH6 cells, and 5-AZA treated IHH cells. Evaluating the mock and siR-PD-L1 cells, the decrease in c-Src protein expression is reduced in 5 of the 6 cell lines but is only significantly reduced in the HLE and HLF cell lines (p < 0.05). For HepG2 cells the c-Src reduction was observed only in the cells treated with 5-AZA and SOR (p < 0.05).



Figure 14. Effect of various treatment modalities on c-Src protein expression. Bar graphs indicate the mean protein expression of three independent experiments. Representative immunoblots indicate c-Src and actin expression among different HCC cell lines after treatment with 5-AZA, SOR, and siR-PD-L1. Statistical analysis for data in Figure 14: * $p \le 0.05$ using Student's t-test against CTRL or mock (=1.00; shown as dashed line). Actin (42 kDa) was used as a housekeeping protein against the c-Src (50 kDa). Graphs presented as mean ± SD calculated from at least three independent experiments.

4.3.3 Effect of Src family of tyrosine kinases (SFK) inhibitors to various in vitro models as monotherapy vs combined therapy with sorafenib (SOR)

In TASK 2, referring to Figure 7A we were able to assess the baseline expression of the SFKs in the different cellular models. Gene expression analysis revealed that in HCC cells, *SRC1* and *YES* were 10 and 3-fold higher (p < 0.05), respectively, while *FYN* and *FGR* were downregulated (1.5 and 2-fold less, respectively) compared to IHH.

We then assessed the cytotoxicity effect of two SFK inhibitors saracatinib (SAR) and dasatinib (DAS) (Figure 15). These inhibitors were chosen because they have preferential inhibitory effects, whereas DAS has inhibition specificity, although quite low on potential targets including Lck, Fyn, and Yes1 [161]. Meanwhile, SAR is highly selective for non-receptor tyrosine kinases, including Src1, Yes1, Lck, and Abl [162]. Clinical reports suggest that DAS and SAR are tolerated to different extents, with SAR providing more manageable adverse effects [163].

Following *in vitro* treatments after 24h, both SAR and DAS treatment alone was not significantly toxic to the cells. A similar effect was noticed for 10 μ M SOR treatment alone, showing a modest cell viability reduction between 70 and 88% in HepG2, Huh7, HLE, and IHH cells while it was not changed for HLF and JHH6. Interestingly, combination therapy between these SFK inhibitors with SOR resulted in a dose-dependent response to the drugs (Figure 15).

HCC cell lines HepG2 and HLE were the most sensitive to combined treatment of 0.02 to 5.0 μ M SFK inhibitors + 10 μ M SOR, with LC₅₀ values for HepG2 and HLE of 0.06 and 0.6 μ M for SAR-SOR and 0.01 and 0.02 μ M for DAS-SOR, respectively. For HLF, JHH6, and Huh7 the LC₅₀ values were 5.7, 4.5, and 2.6 μ M respectively for SAR-SOR, while for DAS-SOR, their LC₅₀ values were 1.8, 4.6, and 1.2 μ M, respectively. It is important to notice that in IHH control cells, the effect of the SAR-SOR combination was observed to be less toxic compared to DAS-SOR treatment, with LC₅₀ of 4.8 vs 0.1 μ M, respectively.



Figure 15. Cytotoxic evaluation on the effect of sorafenib (SOR) and Src family of tyrosine kinases (SFK) inhibitors on cell lines. (A) SAR and (B) DAS as mono vs combined treatment (+ SOR). Single dots/points represent the % viability of cells for each concentration of drug treatment; the solid line represents the dose-response curve based on the non-linear regression analysis. Data is calculated as mean from at least three independent experiments.

We further evaluated the anti-migration effect of the SFK inhibitors as mono and combined therapy utilizing the wound scratch healing assay. Wound closure was measured as the remaining area uncovered by the cells in 0, 24, 48, and 72hrs (Figure 16). The combined treatment of SAR+SOR or DAS+SOR revealed a wider wound area compared to SFK inhibitor or SOR treatment alone, indicating better inhibition ability of combination treatments. Images in Figure 17 showed the scratch wound area for both S1/TGF β -Wnt (HLE) and S2/progenitor subtype (HepG2) cells.



Figure 16. Quantitative analysis of wound scratch assay on the effect of sorafenib (SOR) and Src family of tyrosine kinases (SFK) inhibitors on HCC cells. (A) Line graphs showing wound closure area of each treatment set-up relative to 0hr measurement. (B) Bar graphs showing the wound closure area in % of each treatment set-up at 72 hrs after treatment. Statistical analysis for data in Figure 16B: * p < 0.05; ** p < 0.01 *** p < 0.001, using Student's t-test comparing treatment groups.



HLE (S1/TGF8-Wnt subtype)



Figure 17. Wound scratch photos showing the effect of sorafenib (SOR) and Src family of tyrosine kinases (SFK) inhibitors on HCC cells. Representative images of wound scratch migration assay (0, 24 hr, 48hr, and 72 hr) showing limited wound healing in SFK inhibitors treated cells (both as mono-treatment and combined with SOR).

Chapter V - Discussion

HCC is widely known as a vast heterogeneous tumor. The innate cellular heterogeneity of HCC largely contributes to the failure of treatments. It is reported that intra-tumoral cellular and genetic differences exist from a slice of neoplastic tissue which in turn can influence the sensitivity to treatments [164]. Transcriptomic reports like the one of Hoshida *et. al* categorized HCC tumors into subclassifications. The S1 subclass shows relatively higher activation of the TGF- β pathway and cholangioma-like gene signature, and the S2 subclass is characterized by the positivity of stemness marker, EpCAM, high AFP (both serum protein and tissue gene expression levels) and GPC3, activation of IGF2 pathway. A subset of the less aggressive HCC tumors, the S3 subclass is characterized by somatic mutations accumulated in exon 3 of CTNNB1 but not with canonical WNT pathway target genes [165].

The study by Caruso et. al identified genetic alterations and gene expression patterns and the association with response to pharmacological agents. Using the information of molecular subclasses proposed by several groups [38,39,166], they looked into liver cancer cell lines (LCCLs) to identify markers related to drug response. In this study, the 34 LCCLs investigated reflected the molecular subclasses found in primary tumors, making them good models of heterogeneous tumors in HCC. Several inhibitors were observed to be effective against LCCLs of distinct subclass (S1, S2, and S3 subclass). Cells with overexpressed CK19 were found to be sensitive to dasatinib. This increased expression of CK19 is a distinct characteristic of S2/progenitor tumors. Another distinct marker of progenitor tumors is the increased expression of IGF2. In cells with IGF2 overexpression, there was an increased hypersensitivity to linsitinib, an IGF1R inhibitor. Other mutational markers found in LCCLs are the activating mutations in TSC1 or TSC2 which suggest sensitivity to rapamycin or other mTOR inhibitors. To add, cells with a mutation in TP53 have high sensitivity to alisertib, an Aurora kinase A (AURKA) inhibitor. This study was able to elaborate on specific molecular and cellular subclasses to define sensitivity to the treatment [40]. Hence it is important that in the evaluation of potential therapies and even clinical trials, these molecular subclasses are to be considered.

Several genetic changes and pathways have been reported to be altered in the hepatocarcinogenesis [167,168]. The genes most frequently mutated in HCC are p53, and the Wnt/wingless carcinogenesis pathways are the most frequently altered in HCC [70]. HCC is also a result of epigenetic deregulation that can be brought about by changes in DNA

methylation, histone modification, chromatin remodeling, and non-coding RNA regulation [48,169]. Using epigenetic profiling, it was possible to relate molecular subclasses to unique HCC-related epigenetic alterations. In the study of Villanueva *et al*, they observed that tumors carrying a specific signature of hypermethylated genes also harbor mRNA signatures corresponding to tumors of the S2/progenitor subclass [57]. This epigenetic signature was also found to be correlated to poor survival.

Looking at our preliminary data, *SOCS1* methylation may act as an indicator of interspatial heterogeneity in tumors. A congruent trend may not have been observed between the evaluated cohorts, but it still shows a distinct distribution of *SOCS1* methylation within the analyzed tissues. If validated, this could serve as a potential marker of the presence or absence of tissue-specific malignancy.

In our attempt to understand if the DNA methylation of *SOCS1* results in its transcriptional silencing, we also evaluated the profile of *SOCS1* mRNA expressions in the different liver tissues. We found that *SOCS1* methylation in CpG islands was not related to its mRNA expression, as it had been demonstrated previously [59]. A global integrative array study of gene expression and methylation profiling in 59 HCC patients had identified 4416 CpG sites that were differentially methylated between the tumors and their adjacent non-tumorous tissues. However, only 536 of these CpG sites were associated with differences in the expression of their associated genes [54]. As our results did not reveal any association between the gene's methylation status to its expressions. This may indicate that silencing of this TSG may be attributed to other transcriptional silencing mechanisms, other than DNA methylation. We propose the data be further verified using a computed sample size to ensure an appropriate significant investigation. The functional effect of the *SOCS1* DNA methylation should also be further evaluated to understand better the role of this aberration in the progression and aggressiveness of the disease.

Demethylation using DNMT inhibitors has been recognized as a potent epigenetic therapy. Indeed, 5-AZA was the first epigenetic drug to be approved by the FDA in the early 2000s for the treatment of myelodysplastic syndrome [170]. It has been used as a potential strategy in HepG2 cells to reverse abnormal methylation of TSGs, such as RB1, and increase gene expression activity by demethylation [171]. To add, in HCC cells LCL-PI 11 and HLE, the treatment of 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine (5-AZA-CdR) decreased gene expressions of *DNMT1*, *DNMT3a*, and *DNMT3b* and increased *GSTP1* and *SOCS1* [172,173]. In addition, Gailhouste

et al. previously demonstrated the so-called epigenetic reconditioning using a non-cytotoxic dose of 5-AZA to induce HCC cell differentiation by increasing the expression of mature hepatocyte markers from the liver progenitor cancer cells. It reduced tumorigenicity and improved the cytotoxic effect of sorafenib [174]. It was in line with data in leukemia and other solid tumors where a low dose of 5-AZA has successfully reduced stem cell and CSC characteristics [175].

Here, we used a non-cytotoxic dose of 5-AZA to investigate the effect of demethylation in different HCC cellular subtypes and whether it would have a correlation with the expression of *SOCS1*. Since HCC is a very heterogeneous disease where DNA methylation, including for *SOCS1*, is a common event, we then evaluated whether the effect of demethylation as an epigenetic reconditioning would be effective in different cellular subtypes of the HCC [153,154,176]. In this study, we observed that a non-toxic concentration of 5 μ M of 5-AZA reduced significantly the expression of DNMT1 protein in non-tumoral cells IHH and S1/TGF β -Wnt subtypes HLE, HLF, and JHH6, but not that of S2/progenitor subtypes HepG2 and Huh7, even though DNMT1 basal expression in HCC cell lines was comparable.

Further, we showed that a non-toxic concentration of 5-AZA could restore the expression of *SOCS1*. However, its effect was dependent on the type of the cells. The *SOCS1* restoration upon 5-AZA was slightly effective only in S2/progenitor subtypes compared to S1/TGF β -Wnt subtypes HCC, except the JHH6 cells. We did not see any significant effects of *SOCS1* expression for HLE and HLF upon 5-AZA treatment. Based on the available extensive studies on the development of targeted therapy against HCC, we predict that other agents (e.g., MET, NQO1) can be explored to reinforce the success of the epigenetic therapy [177]. Our results indicated that epigenetic reprogramming can be mostly effective in S2/progenitor HCCs that are drug-resistant with high-relapse capacity after conventional treatment. It can also be noted, as previously mentioned that S2/progenitor HCCs harbor a particular hypermethylated signature [155], therefore, epigenetic therapy can be beneficial to these molecular subclasses, and possibly lesser in S1/TGF β -Wnt HCCs.

To compare, we also treated the cells with sorafenib, known as a dual-target inhibitor targeting the serine/threonine kinase Raf and the tyrosine kinases VEGFR/PDGFR [178]. Recently, sorafenib actions have also been associated with STAT3 regulation, where IL-6/STAT3 is involved in sorafenib-resistant hepatic CSC [179]. SOCS1 is a negative regulator of the JAK/STAT pathway, where *SOCS1* epigenetic downregulation is associated with the STAT3

activation [59,180]. A previous study showed that treatment with an anti-let-7 inhibitor increased *SOCS1* mRNA expression and increased chemosensitivity to sorafenib [181].

In this study, treatment with 50 μ M of sorafenib (SOR) was able to increase *SOCS1* expression only in non-tumoral cells IHH and HCC cells JHH6. On the contrary, the *SOCS1* expression was significantly decreased in HepG2 and Huh7 cells, while, again, its expression was unchanged in HLE and HLF cells. It is important to notice that even though JHH6 is classified as an HCC cell line, it is not a tumorigenic cell line [182,183]. Furthermore, both IHH and JHH6 have low basal levels of SOCS1 compared to the other cells in this study. We hypothesize that the modulation of *SOCS1* could be influenced by its non-tumorigenic characteristics.

To summarize, we demonstrated that the DNA methylation of the TSG, *SOCS1* provides evidence of the existing interspatial tumoral heterogeneity in liver sections of HCC patients. This was demonstrated in the different distributions of DNA methylation between non-tumoral, peri-HCC, and HCC tissues. We also, explored the utility of epigenetic therapy through DNMT inhibition, as a potential treatment strategy for targeting methylation-associated targets of carcinogenesis. Epigenetic therapy using DNA methylation inhibitor 5-AZA against HCC could efficiently reduce DNMT1 protein and might restore the SOCS1. However, our results revealed that the effect of this treatment, like other treatment modalities for HCC could be cellular dependent. The prevention and reversal of *SOCS1* methylation can be a potential therapeutic target but the innate heterogeneity of HCC must still be considered.

From the result of TASK 1, we have observed that cancer treatments such as 5-AZA and SOR offer effects possibly influenced by cellular subtype. Pointing out the significance of heterogeneity in determining sensitivity to treatments. In the succeeding TASK 2, we focused our attention on identifying molecular targets that can be useful indicators to comprise the innate heterogeneity of tumors in HCC. Utilizing sets of information on HCC -omics heterogeneity [38,39], we carried out a strategy to identify potential putative markers for HCC treatment. Focusing our interest on cancer-promoting genes that are shared by the subclasses and subgroups, we evaluated, at the transcriptome level, 16 potential targets and their responses to three different treatment modalities on five different HCC cells.

Our study's data confirmed the differences between subtypes of HCC, as shown from the profile of cancer stemness markers. From baseline mRNA expression analysis of the protooncogene targets on the different cell lines, our results showed that the S2/progenitor subtype displays more upregulated proto-oncogenes compared to S1/TGF β -Wnt. This stratifies the existing differences between the two subtypes.

Upon further analysis, more prominent up-regulation in proto-oncogenes were noted, such as *SRC1*, *AURKA*, and *MDM2* in HCC cells compared to immortalized hepatocytes (Figure 2). It should be noticed that the activation, mutation, or overexpression of these genes had been reported to be involved in the hepatocarcinogenesis [184–186]. We also observed proto-oncogenes that were downregulated in the HCC cells, such as *PLZF*, *YAP1*, and *FGR*. Several publications had reported decreased expression of *PLZF* in HCC patients [131,187]. The clinical cohorts used in this study also observed the same progressive upregulation of *SRC1*, and regressive expression in *PLZF* comparing the non-tumoral, peri-tumoral, and tumoral tissues. The same trend is observed in the different stages of injury using mouse liver tissues, particularly for *SRC1*, indicating its potential as a marker of HCC progression.

We then evaluated the above targets in *in vitro* experimental models using three treatment modalities. For epigenetic therapy using 5-AZA, significant downregulations were only noticed for *FGR* in three HCC cell lines. Moreover, downregulation of *PLZF* was noticed in three cell lines, IHH, HLE, and HepG2, after 5-AZA treatment, with a significant reduction only in the HepG2 cell line. Previously, it was reported that there was no association between promoter DNA methylation and *PLZF* gene expression in liver cancer [131]. However, in contrast in pancreatic cancer, the downregulation of *PLZF* was associated with promoter DNA methylation of *PLZF* [188]. Since we showed the effect of DNA methylation inhibition on the gene expression of PLZF, our data might indicate an association between *DNMT1* and *PLZF*, at least in several HCC cell lines. However, *PLZF* regulation might be influenced by other transcriptional silencing mechanisms, not only DNA methylation. More focused studies could be explored to understand promoter methylation of target proto-oncogenes to HCC.

Regarding SOR treatment, our study showed significant proto-oncogene downregulations, mostly noticed in cells belonging to the S2/progenitor subtype HepG2 and Huh7. This could suggest that the response to SOR could be cellular/molecular subtype directed. Molecular predictors, such as *EpCAM* and tuberous sclerosis complex-2 (*TSC2*), present in S2/progenitor subtypes, dictate the response to sorafenib [189]. We had previously reviewed that cellular response to sorafenib was affected by various factors such as genetic variants and differences in dysregulated molecules in tumor cells, eventually contributing to the chemoresistance [190].

Immunotherapy is another targeted therapy that we evaluated in this study. In clinical practice, the combination between atezolizumab, an anti-*PD-L1*, and cabozantinib (anti-VEGFR) had shown potential as a first-line treatment [191]. PD-L1, expressed primarily in cancer cells, was related to HCC prognosis [192,193]. In this study, we directly targeted the *PD-L1* gene in cancer cells by silencing, which significantly reduced *PD-L1* expression. In parallel, the *PD-L1* decrease was accompanied by the downregulation of almost all investigated targets across all hepatic cells including for both HCC cell subtypes. This demonstrated an effective advantage of immune checkpoint (such as *PD-L1*) regulation compared to SOR or 5-AZA in terms of downregulating cancer-promoting genes, at least in our datasets. Our data showed that this type of immune targeting was not dependent on cellular and molecular subtypes—which can be further utilized to overcome cancer heterogeneity.

The regulation of *PD-L1* is associated with several mechanisms such as (1) alterations of genes, including *EGFR*, *ALK* fusions, *KRAS*, *MYC*, *PTEN*, and p53; (2) exogenous inflammatory cytokines, such as interferon- γ ; (3) *PD-L1* amplification; and (4) disruption of the 3'-untranslated region of the *PD-L1* gene [194]. For NSCLC the overlapping mechanisms of oncogenes and immunity have been reported, for instance, changes in *EGFR* oncogenic pathway led to an upregulated *PD-L1* expression [195]. In addition, there was a positive correlation between *MET* oncogene expression and *PD-L1* expression [196], indicating a possible relationship between the two molecules. Other proto-oncogenes like *MYC* were observed to regulate the expression of two immune checkpoint proteins on the tumor cell surface – *CD47* and *PD-L1*, by directly binding to their gene promoters [197]. These are just some of the evidence of the relationship between tumor cell-associated molecules and immune dysfunction. This may suggest an overlap between oncogene-targeted therapy and immunotherapy. At present this concept still has to be fully evaluated and discussed.

In TASK 1 and TASK 2, we were able to emphasize the relevance of HCC cellular heterogeneity in response to cancer treatment. In TASK 2, the use of –omics data and bioinformatics tools, allowed us to identify relevant proto-oncogenes as useful new molecular targets of treatment. We demonstrated that immune-targeted therapy by gene silencing demonstrates a treatment advantage in overcoming cellular heterogeneity. While our data support the superiority of immune-targeted therapy vs molecular-targeted therapy and epigenetic therapy, other clinical considerations should still be considered to ensure its

efficacy. Factors like low tumor burden in HCC indicate poor response to anti-PD-L1 treatment [198].

Combination therapy involving two or more treatments to target cancer-inducing or cellsustaining pathways is a fundamental strategy for the cancer therapy [199,200]. Monotherapy is still a common treatment modality for most cancers, however as a single-drug treatment it often has less effectiveness as compared to combination treatment. However, the issue of increased effectiveness in combination therapy may also be accompanied by increased toxicity. In contrast to monotherapy with a singular targeting approach, multiple targeting in a synergistic or additive manner allows lower therapeutic dosage for each drug [201,202]. Therefore, minimizing possible cytotoxic effects.

In TASK 3, as a continuation of our data in TASK 2, we identified the Src family of tyrosine kinases (SFKs) as a potential target for therapy. To understand the anti-tumor effects of SFK inhibitors, we evaluated saracatinib (SAR) and dasatinib (DAS) as a single treatment or combined treatment with SOR. Interestingly results of the cytotoxicity assay and wound scratch assay revealed the anti-tumor abilities of the combined treatments (SAR+SOR or DAS+SOR). The results of our experiments suggest that SFK inhibitors can enhance the activity of SOR (or *vice versa*) in targeting cell signaling pathways related to cancer growth, proliferation, and migration.

SFKs are non-receptor tyrosine kinases that bind to various proteins and mediate intracellular signal transmission. It is comprised of nine structurally similar cytoplasmic tyrosine kinases (Src, Fyn, Yes, Lyn, Blk, Fgr, Hck, Yrk, and Lck) [203]. Four members of this family of kinases were uniquely identified in our network of potential targets for HCC therapy, namely SRC1, YES, FYN, and FGR. Several reports have highlighted their roles in cancer progression and prognosis.

In HCC, SRC1 was found to promote growth and tumorigenesis of HCC cells by activating the Hippo signaling pathway [204]. The works of Feng *et al*, observed that YES activity was notably high in tumoral liver tissues of HCC patients observed with increased protein levels and enzyme activity [205]. Validation data on *FYN*, as a possible gene associated with liver cancer, showed that the expression of *FYN* was positively correlated with the prognosis of HCC patients. Data suggest that overexpression of *FYN* may act as a tumor suppressor in the presence

of malignancy, as established in malignant cells and xenograft models [206]. As for *FGR*, the report shows this marker to have prognostic value for early recurrence [207].

SFKs are involved in multiple fundamental cellular processes. The pleiotropic significance of these molecules in cellular homeostasis is associated with oncogenesis. Studies have indicated no direct association of SFKs to tumor formation [208]. However, the inhibition of SFKs activity provides an auxiliary effect of targeting primary cellular functions to eliminate cancer progression and migration [209].

Dasatinib (DAS), is the only FDA-approved Src-Abl inhibitor for use in patients with chronic myelogenous leukemia (CML) and Philadelphia chromosome-positive (Ph+) patients with acute lymphocytic leukemia (ALL) who failed first-line treatment of imatinib. Results of preclinical studies demonstrated the activity of dasatinib against solid tumors, namely in, prostate cancer [210], non-small cell lung carcinoma (NSCLC) [211], breast cancer [212], colorectal cancer [213], sarcoma [214] and melanoma [215]. The promising preclinical data on the effect of dasatinib in solid tumors prompted many phase I and phase II solid tumor clinical studies, both as monotherapy or in combination treatment [216].

Saracatinib (SAR), is another orally active, small molecule, highly selective, Src-Abl inhibitor. Same as dasatinib, it displayed promising pre-clinical anti-tumor effects in cellular models of breast cancer [217], prostate cancer [218], colorectal cancer [219], head and neck cancer [220], and lymphoma [221] solid tumors. Data of phase I clinical trials in advance solid tumors, saracatinib resulted in a maximum tolerated dose (MTD) of 175 mg daily vs 120 mg daily of dasatinib. Though both elicited tolerated dose-limiting toxicities, the ones from saracatinib even in a greater dose were easily managed [222].

Our data suggest that both DAS and SAR have better anti-tumor effects as a combination treatment with a tolerable dose of SOR in liver cancer cell lines. This was both observed in cytotoxicity experiments and migration assays. There is also a noticeable difference between the combination effects of SAR+SOR vs DAS+SOR in immortalized hepatocytes cell lines (IHH). SAR+SOR displayed a less toxic effect in IHH cells as compared to DAS+SOR, using the same combination dosage of $1.25 \,\mu$ M of SFK inhibitor + 10 μ M of SOR. This agrees to the reported easily managed toxicity of sarcatinib in advanced solid tumors (phase I clinical trial) [222]. To our knowledge, this study presents the first pre-clinical data on the potential of combination treatment between SFK inhibitors and sorafenib in the treatment of HCC.

We have also observed that the combined effects of SFK inhibitors + SOR elicited anti-tumor effects in heterogeneous HCC cell lines to various extents. Both HLE and HepG2 appeared to be most sensitive to the combination therapy, while JHH6, Huh7, and HLF appeared to be less sensitive. While the combination treatments were effective in all, the varying extents might be influenced by molecular indicators to determine sensitivity which should be considered in further studies. This was seen also in clinical trials that were done in unselected patients. Evidence of phase II clinical trial suggested that a subpopulation of patients with advanced non-small cell NSCLC can benefit from Src inhibition. This was seen in their results suggesting *EGFR* mutations to be considered in future studies of saracatinib for NSCLC [163]. To date, many clinical trials on Src inhibitors are evaluating possible biomarkers of treatment response, to identify patients to most likely benefit from treatment [216].

Here we investigated the combined anti-tumor effect of SFK inhibitors and sorafenib in HCC malignancy. Our data demonstrate a synergistic effect of both inhibitors working on receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs), and non-receptor tyrosine kinases (NRTKs), as sorafenib and SFKs respectively. This combined regimen resulted in enhanced control of signaling pathways involved in cell proliferation and migration (Figure 15-17). This new information could be a potential new strategy to approach HCC therapies considering heterogeneity.

Chapter VI – Conclusions and future perspectives

Despite the increase in translational studies and advances in available molecular techniques, HCC remains a malignancy of spatial global burden. This challenge could be attributed to the heterogeneous geographical incidence associated with the diverse distribution of risk factors, as well as intertumoral and intratumoral heterogeneity. In comparison to other cancers that benefited already from discoveries of biomarkers of diagnosis, prognosis, and effective targeted therapies for specific molecular aberrations, HCC still warrants translational research to improve management.

This study was able to identify epigenetic players that can be potential therapeutic targets of HCC. Epigenetic drivers of carcinogenesis can be easily identified by available tools that are cost-effective and direct (e.g. MS-PCR) and have the potential to be utilized in clinics. Epigenetic treatment can also be a new avenue to be considered in HCC therapy since exposure to a tolerable dose of DNMT inhibitor can direct a restored expression in TSGs to help reduce carcinogenesis.

Our data present evidence that sensitivity to treatment modalities can be molecular/cellular subtype driven, emphasizing the need to consider molecular classifications in the management of HCC. Most of the data generated in this study provided evidence that there is a treatment sensitivity advantage in S2/progenitor vs S1/TGF β -Wnt activated subtype tumors (epigenetic therapy and molecularly targeted therapy). Such data adds evidence to the difference between molecular subclasses of HCC tumors, and it should be considered for identifying effective treatments. While immunotherapy can offer an effective tool to eliminate subclass-directed sensitivity, it should still be noted that not all patients are eligible for this type of treatment. Efforts should be directed at understanding how to regulate immune players and subsequently increase the possibility of patients having this type of treatment.

The use of multi-omics studies and bioinformatics tools together with experimental studies can contribute to the discovery of new targets for therapy in HCC. Although, such a strategy may be limited since published data sets tend to be saturated by the more familiar gene targets and are not able to reflect less reported or unreported targets of carcinogenesis. Moreover, the use of *in vitro* models is deemed important to reflect the heterogenous nature of HCC. Hence experimental studies should always consider different subtypes or models establishing tumor

environment and capture the true state of malignancy in tumors. As the majority of the results in this project relate to subtype-driven responses to therapies, it would be beneficial to look into the clinical translation of this subclassification of HCC tumors. Such tumor classifications might help stratify the treatment and management of HCC.

The effective monotherapy for advanced HCC is sorafenib and lenvatinib as first-line treatment. However, both drugs still offer modest overall survival benefits to patients. The recent discovery of the effective combined treatment of anti-PD-L1 and anti-VEGF provides evidence that multi-targeting of cancer-promoting mechanisms is effective for HCC management. This strategy, for now, is the best option since effective and specific biomarkers attributed to HCC development are non-existent. Hence, there is still a big gap to fill in terms of potential therapeutic targets. Enhancing the sensitivity to multi-tyrosine kinase inhibition can be a potential strategy for HCC treatment. This study was able to identify SFKs as potential targets of therapy. The combination effects of inhibitors against SFKs with sorafenib act synergistically to control cancer-promoting cellular processes. Initial evidence of a tolerable toxic effect of saracatinib and sorafenib on immortalized hepatocytes provides a good indicator of the benefit of this combination treatment. Further experiments should be considered investigating fully the mechanistic synergy between dual targeting of RTKIs (sorafenib) and NRTKIs (saracatinib) and expand this investigation in more advanced experimental models.

References

1. Llovet, J.M.; Kelley, R.K.; Villanueva, A.; Singal, A.G.; Pikarsky, E.; Roayaie, S.; Lencioni, R.; Koike, K.; Zucman-Rossi, J.; Finn, R.S. Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *Nat. Rev. Dis. Primer* **2021**, *7*, 6, doi:10.1038/s41572-020-00240-3.

2. El-Serag, H.B.; Rudolph, K.L. Hepatocellular Carcinoma: Epidemiology and Molecular Carcinogenesis. *Gastroenterology* **2007**, *132*, 2557–2576, doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2007.04.061.

3. Bray, F.; Ferlay, J.; Soerjomataram, I.; Siegel, R.L.; Torre, L.A.; Jemal, A. Global Cancer Statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN Estimates of Incidence and Mortality Worldwide for 36 Cancers in 185 Countries. *CA Cancer J Clin* **2018**, doi:10.3322/caac.21492.

4. Sung, H.; Ferlay, J.; Siegel, R.L.; Laversanne, M.; Soerjomataram, I.; Jemal, A.; Bray, F. Global Cancer Statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN Estimates of Incidence and Mortality Worldwide for 36 Cancers in 185 Countries. *CA. Cancer J. Clin.* **2021**, *71*, 209–249, doi:10.3322/caac.21660.

5. Rumgay, H.; Arnold, M.; Ferlay, J.; Lesi, O.; Cabasag, C.J.; Vignat, J.; Laversanne, M.; McGlynn, K.A.; Soerjomataram, I. Global Burden of Primary Liver Cancer in 2020 and Predictions to 2040. *J. Hepatol.* **2022**, *77*, 1598–1606, doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2022.08.021.

6. Ferlay, J.; Ervik, M.; Lam, F.; Colombet, M.; Mery, L.; Piñeros, M.; Znaor, A.; Soerjomataram, I.; Bray, F. Global Cancer Observatory: Cancer Today. Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer; 2020. **2021**.

7. Global Burden of Disease Liver Cancer Collaboration; Akinyemiju, T.; Abera, S.; Ahmed, M.; Alam, N.; Alemayohu, M.A.; Allen, C.; Al-Raddadi, R.; Alvis-Guzman, N.; Amoako, Y.; et al. The Burden of Primary Liver Cancer and Underlying Etiologies From 1990 to 2015 at the Global, Regional, and National Level: Results From the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. *JAMA Oncol* **2017**, *3*, 1683–1691, doi:10.1001/jamaoncol.2017.3055.

8. Eslam, M.; Sanyal, A.J.; George, J.; International Consensus Panel MAFLD: A Consensus-Driven Proposed Nomenclature for Metabolic Associated Fatty Liver Disease. *Gastroenterology* **2020**, *158*, 1999-2014.e1, doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2019.11.312.

9. McGlynn, K.A.; Petrick, J.L.; El-Serag, H.B. Epidemiology of Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *Hepatology* **2021**, *73 Suppl 1*, 4–13, doi:10.1002/hep.31288.

Cancer Epidemiology and Prevention; Thun, M., Linet, M.S., Cerhan, J.R., Haiman,
 C.A., Schottenfeld, D., Eds.; Oxford University Press, 2017; ISBN 978-0-19-023866-7.

11. Galle, P.R.; Forner, A.; Llovet, J.M.; Mazzaferro, V.; Piscaglia, F.; Raoul, J.-L.; Schirmacher, P.; Vilgrain, V. EASL Clinical Practice Guidelines: Management of Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *J. Hepatol.* **2018**, *69*, 182–236, doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2018.03.019.

12. Marrero, J.A.; Kulik, L.M.; Sirlin, C.B.; Zhu, A.X.; Finn, R.S.; Abecassis, M.M.; Roberts, L.R.; Heimbach, J.K. Diagnosis, Staging, and Management of Hepatocellular Carcinoma: 2018 Practice Guidance by the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases. *Hepatol. Baltim. Md* **2018**, *68*, 723–750, doi:10.1002/hep.29913.

13. Trinchet, J.-C.; Bourcier, V.; Chaffaut, C.; Ait Ahmed, M.; Allam, S.; Marcellin, P.; Guyader, D.; Pol, S.; Larrey, D.; De Lédinghen, V.; et al. Complications and Competing Risks of Death in Compensated Viral Cirrhosis (ANRS CO12 CirVir Prospective Cohort). *Hepatol. Baltim. Md* **2015**, *62*, 737–750, doi:10.1002/hep.27743.

14. Rich, N.E.; Yopp, A.C.; Singal, A.G.; Murphy, C.C. Hepatocellular Carcinoma Incidence Is Decreasing Among Younger Adults in the United States. *Clin. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. Off. Clin. Pract. J. Am. Gastroenterol. Assoc.* **2020**, *18*, 242-248.e5, doi:10.1016/j.cgh.2019.04.043.

15. Park, J.; Chen, M.; Colombo, M.; Roberts, L.R.; Schwartz, M.; Chen, P.; Kudo, M.; Johnson, P.; Wagner, S.; Orsini, L.S.; et al. Global Patterns of Hepatocellular Carcinoma Management from Diagnosis to Death: The BRIDGE Study. *Liver Int.* **2015**, *35*, 2155–2166, doi:10.1111/liv.12818.

16. Rich, N.E.; Oji, S.; Mufti, A.R.; Browning, J.D.; Parikh, N.D.; Odewole, M.; Mayo, H.; Singal, A.G. Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease Prevalence, Severity, and Outcomes in the United States: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Clin. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* **2018**, *16*, 198-210.e2, doi:10.1016/j.cgh.2017.09.041.

17. Romeo, S.; Kozlitina, J.; Xing, C.; Pertsemlidis, A.; Cox, D.; Pennacchio, L.A.; Boerwinkle, E.; Cohen, J.C.; Hobbs, H.H. Genetic Variation in PNPLA3 Confers Susceptibility to Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease. *Nat. Genet.* 2008, 40, 1461–1465, doi:10.1038/ng.257.

18. Yang, J.D.; Hainaut, P.; Gores, G.J.; Amadou, A.; Plymoth, A.; Roberts, L.R. A Global View of Hepatocellular Carcinoma: Trends, Risk, Prevention and Management. *Nat. Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* **2019**, *16*, 589–604, doi:10.1038/s41575-019-0186-y.

19. Davidson, N.E.; Armstrong, S.A.; Coussens, L.M.; Cruz-Correa, M.R.; DeBerardinis, R.J.; Doroshow, J.H.; Foti, M.; Hwu, P.; Kensler, T.W.; Morrow, M.; et al. AACR Cancer Progress Report 2016. *Clin. Cancer Res. Off. J. Am. Assoc. Cancer Res.* **2016**, *22 Suppl 19*, S1–S137, doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-1993.

20. Weiskirchen, R. Intratumor Heterogeneity, Variability and Plasticity: Questioning the Current Concepts in Classification and Treatment of Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *Hepatobiliary Surg. Nutr.* **2016**, *5*, 183–187, doi:10.3978/j.issn.2304-3881.2016.02.04.

Nowell, P.C. The Clonal Evolution of Tumor Cell Populations. *Science* 1976, *194*, 23–28, doi:10.1126/science.959840.

22. Qureshi, A.; Michel, M.; Lerner, J.; Dasanu, C.A. Evolving Therapeutic Strategies for Advanced Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *Expert Opin. Pharmacother.* **2021**, *22*, 2495–2506, doi:10.1080/14656566.2021.1953473.

23. Kenmochi, K.; Sugihara, S.; Kojiro, M. Relationship of Histologic Grade of Hepatocellular Carcinoma (HCC) to Tumor Size, and Demonstration of Tumor Cells of Multiple Different Grades in Single Small HCC. *Liver* **1987**, *7*, 18–26, doi:10.1111/j.1600-0676.1987.tb00310.x.

24. An, F.Q.; Matsuda, M.; Fujii, H.; Tang, R.F.; Amemiya, H.; Dai, Y.M.; Matsumoto, Y. Tumor Heterogeneity in Small Hepatocellular Carcinoma: Analysis of Tumor Cell Proliferation, Expression and Mutation of P53 AND Beta-Catenin. *Int. J. Cancer* **2001**, *93*, 468–474, doi:10.1002/ijc.1367.

Liu, L.; Liu, C.; Quintero, A.; Wu, L.; Yuan, Y.; Wang, M.; Cheng, M.; Leng, L.; Xu,
L.; Dong, G.; et al. Deconvolution of Single-Cell Multi-Omics Layers Reveals Regulatory
Heterogeneity. *Nat. Commun.* 2019, *10*, 470, doi:10.1038/s41467-018-08205-7.

69

26. Navin, N.E. The First Five Years of Single-Cell Cancer Genomics and Beyond. *Genome Res.* 2015, 25, 1499–1507, doi:10.1101/gr.191098.115.

27. Zhang, Q.; Lou, Y.; Bai, X.-L.; Liang, T.-B. Intratumoral Heterogeneity of Hepatocellular Carcinoma: From Single-Cell to Population-Based Studies. *World J. Gastroenterol.* **2020**, *26*, 3720–3736, doi:10.3748/wjg.v26.i26.3720.

28. Zheng, H.; Pomyen, Y.; Hernandez, M.O.; Li, C.; Livak, F.; Tang, W.; Dang, H.; Greten, T.F.; Davis, J.L.; Zhao, Y.; et al. Single-Cell Analysis Reveals Cancer Stem Cell Heterogeneity in Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *Hepatol. Baltim. Md* **2018**, *68*, 127–140, doi:10.1002/hep.29778.

29. Ho, D.W.-H.; Tsui, Y.-M.; Sze, K.M.-F.; Chan, L.-K.; Cheung, T.-T.; Lee, E.; Sham, P.-C.; Tsui, S.K.-W.; Lee, T.K.-W.; Ng, I.O.-L. Single-Cell Transcriptomics Reveals the Landscape of Intra-Tumoral Heterogeneity and Stemness-Related Subpopulations in Liver Cancer. *Cancer Lett.* **2019**, *459*, 176–185, doi:10.1016/j.canlet.2019.06.002.

30. Kreso, A.; Dick, J.E. Evolution of the Cancer Stem Cell Model. *Cell Stem Cell* **2014**, *14*, 275–291, doi:10.1016/j.stem.2014.02.006.

Sukowati, C.H.C. Heterogeneity of Hepatic Cancer Stem Cells. In *Stem Cells Heterogeneity in Cancer*; Birbrair, A., Ed.; Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology;
 Springer International Publishing: Cham, 2019; Vol. 1139, pp. 59–81 ISBN 978-3-030-14365-7.

32. Ma, S.; Chan, K.W.; Guan, X.-Y. In Search of Liver Cancer Stem Cells. *Stem Cell Rev.*2008, 4, 179–192, doi:10.1007/s12015-008-9035-z.

33. Yamashita, T.; Honda, M.; Nakamoto, Y.; Baba, M.; Nio, K.; Hara, Y.; Zeng, S.S.; Hayashi, T.; Kondo, M.; Takatori, H.; et al. Discrete Nature of EpCAM ⁺ and CD90 ⁺ Cancer Stem Cells in Human Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *Hepatology* **2013**, *57*, 1484–1497, doi:10.1002/hep.26168.

34. Yamashita, T.; Ji, J.; Budhu, A.; Forgues, M.; Yang, W.; Wang, H.; Jia, H.; Ye, Q.; Qin, L.; Wauthier, E.; et al. EpCAM-Positive Hepatocellular Carcinoma Cells Are Tumor-Initiating Cells With Stem/Progenitor Cell Features. *Gastroenterology* **2009**, *136*, 1012-1024.e4, doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2008.12.004.
35. Friemel, J.; Rechsteiner, M.; Frick, L.; Böhm, F.; Struckmann, K.; Egger, M.; Moch,
H.; Heikenwalder, M.; Weber, A. Intratumor Heterogeneity in Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 2015, *21*, 1951–1961, doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-0122.

36. Kreso, A.; O'Brien, C.A.; van Galen, P.; Gan, O.I.; Notta, F.; Brown, A.M.K.; Ng, K.; Ma, J.; Wienholds, E.; Dunant, C.; et al. Variable Clonal Repopulation Dynamics Influence Chemotherapy Response in Colorectal Cancer. *Science* **2013**, *339*, 543–548, doi:10.1126/science.1227670.

37. Lee, J.-S.; Thorgeirsson, S.S. Genetic Profiling of Human Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *Semin. Liver Dis.* **2005**, *25*, 125–132, doi:10.1055/s-2005-871192.

38. Boyault, S.; Rickman, D.S.; Reyniès, A. de; Balabaud, C.; Rebouissou, S.; Jeannot, E.; Hérault, A.; Saric, J.; Belghiti, J.; Franco, D.; et al. Transcriptome Classification of HCC Is Related to Gene Alterations and to New Therapeutic Targets. *Hepatology* **2007**, *45*, 42–52, doi:https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.21467.

Hoshida, Y.; Nijman, S.M.B.; Kobayashi, M.; Chan, J.A.; Brunet, J.-P.; Chiang, D.Y.;
 Villanueva, A.; Newell, P.; Ikeda, K.; Hashimoto, M.; et al. Integrative Transcriptome Analysis
 Reveals Common Molecular Subclasses of Human Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *Cancer Res.* 2009, *69*, 7385–7392, doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-1089.

40. Caruso, S.; Calatayud, A.-L.; Pilet, J.; La Bella, T.; Rekik, S.; Imbeaud, S.; Letouzé, E.; Meunier, L.; Bayard, Q.; Rohr-Udilova, N.; et al. Analysis of Liver Cancer Cell Lines Identifies Agents With Likely Efficacy Against Hepatocellular Carcinoma and Markers of Response. *Gastroenterology* **2019**, *157*, 760–776, doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2019.05.001.

41. Zucman-Rossi, J. Molecular Classification of Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *Dig. Liver Dis.* **2010**, *42*, S235–S241, doi:10.1016/S1590-8658(10)60511-7.

42. Edge, S.B.; Compton, C.C. The American Joint Committee on Cancer: The 7th Edition of the AJCC Cancer Staging Manual and the Future of TNM. *Ann. Surg. Oncol.* **2010**, *17*, 1471–1474, doi:10.1245/s10434-010-0985-4.

43. Clevers, H. The Cancer Stem Cell: Premises, Promises and Challenges. *Nat. Med.* **2011**, *17*, 313–319, doi:10.1038/nm.2304.

71

44. Sun, H.-R.; Wang, S.; Yan, S.-C.; Zhang, Y.; Nelson, P.J.; Jia, H.-L.; Qin, L.-X.; Dong, Q.-Z. Therapeutic Strategies Targeting Cancer Stem Cells and Their Microenvironment. *Front. Oncol.* **2019**, *9*, 1104, doi:10.3389/fonc.2019.01104.

45. Greaves, M.; Maley, C.C. Clonal Evolution in Cancer. *Nature* **2012**, *481*, 306–313, doi:10.1038/nature10762.

46. Wang, S.; Wu, W. Chapter 5 - DNA Methylation Alterations in Human Cancers. In *Epigenetics in Human Disease (Second Edition)*; Tollefsbol, T.O., Ed.; Translational Epigenetics; Academic Press, 2018; Vol. 6, pp. 109–139.

47. Pradhan, S.; Bacolla, A.; Wells, R.D.; Roberts, R.J. Recombinant Human DNA (Cytosine-5) Methyltransferase. I. Expression, Purification, and Comparison of de Novo and Maintenance Methylation. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1999**, *274*, 33002–33010, doi:10.1074/jbc.274.46.33002.

48. Esteller, M. Epigenetic Gene Silencing in Cancer: The DNA Hypermethylome. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* **2007**, *16*, R50–R59, doi:10.1093/hmg/ddm018.

49. Kaminskas, E.; Farrell, A.; Abraham, S.; Baird, A.; Hsieh, L.-S.; Lee, S.-L.; Leighton, J.K.; Patel, H.; Rahman, A.; Sridhara, R.; et al. Approval Summary: Azacitidine for Treatment of Myelodysplastic Syndrome Subtypes. *Clin. Cancer Res.* **2005**, *11*, 3604–3608, doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-04-2135.

50. Jin, N.; George, T.L.; Otterson, G.A.; Verschraegen, C.; Wen, H.; Carbone, D.; Herman, J.; Bertino, E.M.; He, K. Advances in Epigenetic Therapeutics with Focus on Solid Tumors. *Clin. Epigenetics* **2021**, *13*, 83, doi:10.1186/s13148-021-01069-7.

51. Silverman, L.R.; Demakos, E.P.; Peterson, B.L.; Kornblith, A.B.; Holland, J.C.; Odchimar-Reissig, R.; Stone, R.M.; Nelson, D.; Powell, B.L.; DeCastro, C.M.; et al. Randomized Controlled Trial of Azacitidine in Patients With the Myelodysplastic Syndrome: A Study of the Cancer and Leukemia Group B. *J. Clin. Oncol.* **2016**, doi:10.1200/JCO.2002.04.117.

52. Gnyszka, A.; Jastrzebski, Z.; Flis, S. DNA Methyltransferase Inhibitors and Their Emerging Role in Epigenetic Therapy of Cancer. *Anticancer Res.* **2013**, *33*, 2989–2996.

53. Fan, G.; Tu, Y.; Chen, C.; Sun, H.; Wan, C.; Cai, X. DNA Methylation Biomarkers for Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *Cancer Cell Int.* **2018**, *18*, 140, doi:10.1186/s12935-018-0629-5.

54. Mah, W.-C.; Thurnherr, T.; Chow, P.K.H.; Chung, A.Y.F.; Ooi, L.L.P.J.; Toh, H.C.; Teh, B.T.; Saunthararajah, Y.; Lee, C.G.L. Methylation Profiles Reveal Distinct Subgroup of Hepatocellular Carcinoma Patients with Poor Prognosis. *PLOS ONE* **2014**, *9*, e104158, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0104158.

55. Sun, N.; Zhang, J.; Zhang, C.; Shi, Y.; Zhao, B.; Jiao, A.; Chen, B. Using Illumina Infinium HumanMethylation 450K BeadChip to Explore Genome-wide DNA Methylation Profiles in a Human Hepatocellular Carcinoma Cell Line. *Mol. Med. Rep.* **2018**, *18*, 4446–4456, doi:10.3892/mmr.2018.9441.

56. Liu, A.; Wu, Q.; Peng, D.; Ares, I.; Anadón, A.; Lopez-Torres, B.; Martínez-Larrañaga, M.-R.; Wang, X.; Martínez, M.-A. A Novel Strategy for the Diagnosis, Prognosis, Treatment, and Chemoresistance of Hepatocellular Carcinoma: DNA Methylation. *Med. Res. Rev.* **2020**, *40*, 1973–2018, doi:10.1002/med.21696.

57. Villanueva, A.; Portela, A.; Sayols, S.; Battiston, C.; Hoshida, Y.; Méndez-González, J.; Imbeaud, S.; Letouzé, E.; Hernandez-Gea, V.; Cornella, H.; et al. DNA Methylation-Based Prognosis and Epidrivers in Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *Hepatology* **2015**, *61*, 1945–1956, doi:10.1002/hep.27732.

58. Lambert, M.-P.; Paliwal, A.; Vaissière, T.; Chemin, I.; Zoulim, F.; Tommasino, M.; Hainaut, P.; Sylla, B.; Scoazec, J.-Y.; Tost, J.; et al. Aberrant DNA Methylation Distinguishes Hepatocellular Carcinoma Associated with HBV and HCV Infection and Alcohol Intake. *J. Hepatol. 54*, 705–715.

59. Yoshikawa, H.; Matsubara, K.; Qian, G.S.; Jackson, P.; Groopman, J.D.; Manning, J.E.; Harris, C.C.; Herman, J.G. SOCS-1, a Negative Regulator of the JAK/STAT Pathway, Is Silenced by Methylation in Human Hepatocellular Carcinoma and Shows Growth-Suppression Activity. *Nat. Genet.* **2001**, *28*, 29–35, doi:10.1038/ng0501-29.

60. Yang, B.; Guo, M.; Herman, J.G.; Clark, D.P. Aberrant Promoter Methylation Profiles of Tumor Suppressor Genes in Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *Am. J. Pathol.* **2003**, *163*, 1101–1107, doi:10.1016/S0002-9440(10)63469-4.

61. Naka, T.; Narazaki, M.; Hirata, M.; Matsumoto, T.; Minamoto, S.; Aono, A.; Nishimoto, N.; Kajita, T.; Taga, T.; Yoshizaki, K.; et al. Structure and Function of a New STAT-Induced STAT Inhibitor. *Nature* **1997**, *387*, 924–929, doi:10.1038/43219.

62. Cheng, Y.; Zhang, C.; Zhao, J.; Wang, C.; Xu, Y.; Han, Z.; Jiang, G.; Guo, X.; Li, R.; Bu, X.; et al. Correlation of CpG Island Methylator Phenotype with Poor Prognosis in Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *Exp. Mol. Pathol.* **2010**, *88*, 112–117, doi:10.1016/j.yexmp.2009.10.008.

63. Ehrlich, M. DNA Methylation in Cancer: Too Much, but Also Too Little. *Oncogene* 2002, *21*, 5400–5413, doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1205651.

64. Feinberg, A.P.; Ohlsson, R.; Henikoff, S. The Epigenetic Progenitor Origin of Human Cancer. *Nat. Rev. Genet.* **2006**, *7*, 21–33, doi:10.1038/nrg1748.

65. Soozangar, N.; Sadeghi, M.R.; Jeddi, F.; Somi, M.H.; Shirmohamadi, M.; Samadi, N. Comparison of Genome-Wide Analysis Techniques to DNA Methylation Analysis in Human Cancer. *J. Cell. Physiol.* **2018**, *233*, 3968–3981, doi:10.1002/jcp.26176.

Laurent-Puig, P.; Zucman-Rossi, J. Genetics of Hepatocellular Tumors. *Oncogene* 2006, 25, 3778–3786, doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1209547.

Micsenyi, A.; Tan, X.; Sneddon, T.; Luo, J.-H.; Michalopoulos, G.K.; Monga, S.P.S.
 Beta-Catenin Is Temporally Regulated during Normal Liver Development. *Gastroenterology* 2004, *126*, 1134–1146, doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2003.12.047.

Monga, S.P.S.; Monga, H.K.; Tan, X.; Mulé, K.; Pediaditakis, P.; Michalopoulos, G.K.
 Beta-Catenin Antisense Studies in Embryonic Liver Cultures: Role in Proliferation, Apoptosis, and Lineage Specification. *Gastroenterology* 2003, *124*, 202–216, doi:10.1053/gast.2003.50000.

69. Tan, X.; Behari, J.; Cieply, B.; Michalopoulos, G.K.; Monga, S.P.S. Conditional Deletion of Beta-Catenin Reveals Its Role in Liver Growth and Regeneration. *Gastroenterology* **2006**, *131*, 1561–1572, doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2006.08.042.

70. Laurent-Puig, P.; Legoix, P.; Bluteau, O.; Belghiti, J.; Franco, D.; Binot, F.; Monges, G.; Thomas, G.; Bioulac-Sage, P.; Zucman-Rossi, J. Genetic Alterations Associated with

Hepatocellular Carcinomas Define Distinct Pathways of Hepatocarcinogenesis. *Gastroenterology* **2001**, *120*, 1763–1773, doi:10.1053/gast.2001.24798.

71. Hsu, H.C.; Jeng, Y.M.; Mao, T.L.; Chu, J.S.; Lai, P.L.; Peng, S.Y. Beta-Catenin Mutations Are Associated with a Subset of Low-Stage Hepatocellular Carcinoma Negative for Hepatitis B Virus and with Favorable Prognosis. *Am. J. Pathol.* **2000**, *157*, 763–770, doi:10.1016/s0002-9440(10)64590-7.

72. Cieply, B.; Zeng, G.; Proverbs-Singh, T.; Geller, D.A.; Monga, S.P.S. Unique Phenotype of Hepatocellular Cancers with Exon-3 Mutations in Beta-Catenin Gene. *Hepatol. Baltim. Md* **2009**, *49*, 821–831, doi:10.1002/hep.22695.

73. Audard, V.; Grimber, G.; Elie, C.; Radenen, B.; Audebourg, A.; Letourneur, F.; Soubrane, O.; Vacher-Lavenu, M.-C.; Perret, C.; Cavard, C.; et al. Cholestasis Is a Marker for Hepatocellular Carcinomas Displaying Beta-Catenin Mutations. *J. Pathol.* **2007**, *212*, 345–352, doi:10.1002/path.2169.

74. Bressac, B.; Kew, M.; Wands, J.; Ozturk, M. Selective G to T Mutations of P53 Gene in Hepatocellular Carcinoma from Southern Africa. *Nature* **1991**, *350*, 429–431, doi:10.1038/350429a0.

75. Hsu, I.C.; Metcalf, R.A.; Sun, T.; Welsh, J.A.; Wang, N.J.; Harris, C.C. Mutational Hotspot in the P53 Gene in Human Hepatocellular Carcinomas. *Nature* **1991**, *350*, 427–428, doi:10.1038/350427a0.

76. Chen, Y.-W.; Jeng, Y.-M.; Yeh, S.-H.; Chen, P.-J. P53 Gene and Wnt Signaling in Benign Neoplasms: Beta-Catenin Mutations in Hepatic Adenoma but Not in Focal Nodular Hyperplasia. *Hepatol. Baltim. Md* **2002**, *36*, 927–935, doi:10.1053/jhep.2002.36126.

77. Van der Borght, S.; Libbrecht, L.; Katoonizadeh, A.; Aerts, R.; Nevens, F.; Verslype, C.; Roskams, T.A. Nuclear Beta-Catenin Staining and Absence of Steatosis Are Indicators of Hepatocellular Adenomas with an Increased Risk of Malignancy. *Histopathology* **2007**, *51*, 855–856, doi:10.1111/j.1365-2559.2007.02862.x.

78. Farzaneh, Z.; Vosough, M.; Agarwal, T.; Farzaneh, M. Critical Signaling Pathways Governing Hepatocellular Carcinoma Behavior; Small Molecule-Based Approaches. *Cancer Cell Int.* **2021**, *21*, 208, doi:10.1186/s12935-021-01924-w.

79. Colombo, M.; Maisonneuve, P. Controlling Liver Cancer Mortality on a Global Scale: Still a Long Way to Go. *J. Hepatol.* **2017**, *67*, 216–217, doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2017.05.004.

80. Kim, D.W.; Talati, C.; Kim, R. Hepatocellular Carcinoma (HCC): Beyond Sorafenib— Chemotherapy. *J. Gastrointest. Oncol.* **2017**, *8*, 256–265, doi:10.21037/jgo.2016.09.07.

81. European Association for the Study of the Liver; European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer EASL–EORTC Clinical Practice Guidelines: Management of Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *J. Hepatol.* **2012**, *56*, 908–943, doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2011.12.001.

82. Belghiti, J.; Fuks, D. Liver Resection and Transplantation in Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *Liver Cancer* **2012**, *1*, 71–82, doi:10.1159/000342403.

83. Lohitesh, K.; Chowdhury, R.; Mukherjee, S. Resistance a Major Hindrance to Chemotherapy in Hepatocellular Carcinoma: An Insight. *Cancer Cell Int.* **2018**, *18*, 44, doi:10.1186/s12935-018-0538-7.

84. Bruix, J.; Sherman, M.; American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases Management of Hepatocellular Carcinoma: An Update. *Hepatol. Baltim. Md* **2011**, *53*, 1020–1022, doi:10.1002/hep.24199.

85. Takayasu, K.; Arii, S.; Ikai, I.; Omata, M.; Okita, K.; Ichida, T.; Matsuyama, Y.; Nakanuma, Y.; Kojiro, M.; Makuuchi, M.; et al. Prospective Cohort Study of Transarterial Chemoembolization for Unresectable Hepatocellular Carcinoma in 8510 Patients. *Gastroenterology* **2006**, *131*, 461–469, doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2006.05.021.

Llovet, J.M.; Real, M.I.; Montaña, X.; Planas, R.; Coll, S.; Aponte, J.; Ayuso, C.; Sala,
 M.; Muchart, J.; Solà, R.; et al. Arterial Embolisation or Chemoembolisation versus
 Symptomatic Treatment in Patients with Unresectable Hepatocellular Carcinoma: A
 Randomised Controlled Trial. *The Lancet* 2002, *359*, 1734–1739, doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(02)08649-X.

87. Malagari, K.; Pomoni, M.; Kelekis, A.; Pomoni, A.; Dourakis, S.; Spyridopoulos, T.; Moschouris, H.; Emmanouil, E.; Rizos, S.; Kelekis, D. Prospective Randomized Comparison of Chemoembolization with Doxorubicin-Eluting Beads and Bland Embolization with BeadBlock for Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *Cardiovasc. Intervent. Radiol.* **2010**, *33*, 541–551, doi:10.1007/s00270-009-9750-0.

88. Roxburgh, P.; Evans, T.R.J. Systemic Therapy of Hepatocellular Carcinoma: Are We Making Progress? *Adv. Ther.* **2008**, *25*, 1089–1104, doi:10.1007/s12325-008-0113-z.

89. Liu, L.; Cao, Y.; Chen, C.; Zhang, X.; McNabola, A.; Wilkie, D.; Wilhelm, S.; Lynch, M.; Carter, C. Sorafenib Blocks the RAF/MEK/ERK Pathway, Inhibits Tumor Angiogenesis, and Induces Tumor Cell Apoptosis in Hepatocellular Carcinoma Model PLC/PRF/5. *Cancer Res.* **2006**, *66*, 11851–11858, doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-1377.

90. Llovet, J.M.; Ricci, S.; Mazzaferro, V.; Hilgard, P.; Gane, E.; Blanc, J.-F.; de Oliveira, A.C.; Santoro, A.; Raoul, J.-L.; Forner, A.; et al. Sorafenib in Advanced Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **2008**, *359*, 378–390, doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0708857.

91. Ikeda, K.; Kudo, M.; Kawazoe, S.; Osaki, Y.; Ikeda, M.; Okusaka, T.; Tamai, T.; Suzuki, T.; Hisai, T.; Hayato, S.; et al. Phase 2 Study of Lenvatinib in Patients with Advanced Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *J. Gastroenterol.* **2017**, *52*, 512–519, doi:10.1007/s00535-016-1263-4.

92. Bruix, J.; Qin, S.; Merle, P.; Granito, A.; Huang, Y.-H.; Bodoky, G.; Pracht, M.; Yokosuka, O.; Rosmorduc, O.; Breder, V.; et al. Regorafenib for Patients with Hepatocellular Carcinoma Who Progressed on Sorafenib Treatment (RESORCE): A Randomised, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled, Phase 3 Trial. *The Lancet* **2017**, *389*, 56–66, doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(16)32453-9.

93. Abou-Alfa, G.K.; Meyer, T.; Cheng, A.-L.; El-Khoueiry, A.B.; Rimassa, L.; Ryoo, B.-Y.; Cicin, I.; Merle, P.; Chen, Y.; Park, J.-W.; et al. Cabozantinib in Patients with Advanced and Progressing Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **2018**, *379*, 54–63, doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1717002.

94. Zhu, A.X.; Kang, Y.-K.; Yen, C.-J.; Finn, R.S.; Galle, P.R.; Llovet, J.M.; Assenat, E.;
Brandi, G.; Pracht, M.; Lim, H.Y.; et al. Ramucirumab after Sorafenib in Patients with
Advanced Hepatocellular Carcinoma and Increased α-Fetoprotein Concentrations (REACH2): A Randomised, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled, Phase 3 Trial. *Lancet Oncol.* 2019, *20*,
282–296, doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(18)30937-9.

95. Zhang, T.; Merle, P.; Wang, H.; Zhao, H.; Kudo, M. Combination Therapy for Advanced Hepatocellular Carcinoma: Do We See the Light at the End of the Tunnel? *Hepatobiliary Surg. Nutr.* **2021**, *10*, 180–192, doi:10.21037/hbsn-2021-7.

96. El-Khoueiry, A.B.; Sangro, B.; Yau, T.; Crocenzi, T.S.; Kudo, M.; Hsu, C.; Kim, T.-Y.; Choo, S.-P.; Trojan, J.; Welling, T.H.; et al. Nivolumab in Patients with Advanced Hepatocellular Carcinoma (CheckMate 040): An Open-Label, Non-Comparative, Phase 1/2 Dose Escalation and Expansion Trial. *The Lancet* **2017**, *389*, 2492–2502, doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(17)31046-2.

97. Zhu, A.X.; Finn, R.S.; Edeline, J.; Cattan, S.; Ogasawara, S.; Palmer, D.; Verslype, C.; Zagonel, V.; Fartoux, L.; Vogel, A.; et al. Pembrolizumab in Patients with Advanced Hepatocellular Carcinoma Previously Treated with Sorafenib (KEYNOTE-224): A Non-Randomised, Open-Label Phase 2 Trial. *Lancet Oncol.* **2018**, *19*, 940–952, doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(18)30351-6.

98. Sangro, B.; Gomez-Martin, C.; de la Mata, M.; Iñarrairaegui, M.; Garralda, E.; Barrera, P.; Riezu-Boj, J.I.; Larrea, E.; Alfaro, C.; Sarobe, P.; et al. A Clinical Trial of CTLA-4 Blockade with Tremelimumab in Patients with Hepatocellular Carcinoma and Chronic Hepatitis C. *J. Hepatol.* **2013**, *59*, 81–88, doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2013.02.022.

99. Duffy, A.G.; Ulahannan, S.V.; Makorova-Rusher, O.; Rahma, O.; Wedemeyer, H.; Pratt, D.; Davis, J.L.; Hughes, M.S.; Heller, T.; ElGindi, M.; et al. Tremelimumab in Combination with Ablation in Patients with Advanced Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *J. Hepatol.* **2017**, *66*, 545–551, doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2016.10.029.

100. Lee, M.; Ryoo, B.-Y.; Hsu, C.-H.; Numata, K.; Stein, S.; Verret, W.; Hack, S.; Spahn, J.; Liu, B.; Abdullah, H.; et al. LBA39 - Randomised Efficacy and Safety Results for Atezolizumab (Atezo) + Bevacizumab (Bev) in Patients (Pts) with Previously Untreated, Unresectable Hepatocellular Carcinoma (HCC). *Ann. Oncol.* **2019**, *30*, v875, doi:10.1093/annonc/mdz394.030.

101. Finn, R.S.; Qin, S.; Ikeda, M.; Galle, P.R.; Ducreux, M.; Kim, T.-Y.; Kudo, M.; Breder,
V.; Merle, P.; Kaseb, A.O.; et al. Atezolizumab plus Bevacizumab in Unresectable
Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 2020, 382, 1894–1905,
doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1915745.

102. Yoo, C.; Kim, J.H.; Ryu, M.-H.; Park, S.R.; Lee, D.; Kim, K.M.; Shim, J.H.; Lim, Y.-S.; Lee, H.C.; Lee, J.; et al. Clinical Outcomes with Multikinase Inhibitors after Progression on First-Line Atezolizumab plus Bevacizumab in Patients with Advanced Hepatocellular Carcinoma: A Multinational Multicenter Retrospective Study. *Liver Cancer* **2021**, *10*, 107–114, doi:10.1159/000512781.

103. Casak, S.J.; Donoghue, M.; Fashoyin-Aje, L.; Jiang, X.; Rodriguez, L.; Shen, Y.-L.; Xu, Y.; Jiang, X.; Liu, J.; Zhao, H.; et al. FDA Approval Summary: Atezolizumab Plus Bevacizumab for the Treatment of Patients with Advanced Unresectable or Metastatic Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *Clin. Cancer Res.* **2021**, *27*, 1836–1841, doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-20-3407.

104. Sukowati, C.; Cabral, L.K.D.; Tiribelli, C. Immune Checkpoint and Angiogenic Inhibitors for the Treatment of Hepatocellular Carcinoma: It Takes Two to Tangle. *Ann. Hepatol.* **2022**, *27*, 100740, doi:10.1016/j.aohep.2022.100740.

105. Galle, P.R.; Forner, A.; Llovet, J.M.; Mazzaferro, V.; Piscaglia, F.; Raoul, J.-L.; Schirmacher, P.; Vilgrain, V. EASL Clinical Practice Guidelines: Management of Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *J. Hepatol.* **2018**, *69*, 182–236, doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2018.03.019.

106. Heimbach, J.K.; Kulik, L.M.; Finn, R.S.; Sirlin, C.B.; Abecassis, M.M.; Roberts, L.R.; Zhu, A.X.; Murad, M.H.; Marrero, J.A. AASLD Guidelines for the Treatment of Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *Hepatology* **2018**, *67*, 358–380, doi:10.1002/hep.29086.

107. Omata, M.; Cheng, A.-L.; Kokudo, N.; Kudo, M.; Lee, J.M.; Jia, J.; Tateishi, R.; Han, K.-H.; Chawla, Y.K.; Shiina, S.; et al. Asia-Pacific Clinical Practice Guidelines on the Management of Hepatocellular Carcinoma: A 2017 Update. *Hepatol. Int.* **2017**, *11*, 317–370, doi:10.1007/s12072-017-9799-9.

108. Foerster, F.; Galle, P.R. Comparison of the Current International Guidelines on the Management of HCC. *JHEP Rep.* **2019**, *1*, 114–119, doi:10.1016/j.jhepr.2019.04.005.

109. Tovoli, F.; Negrini, G.; Bolondi, L. Comparative Analysis of Current Guidelines for the Treatment of Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *Hepatic Oncol.* **2016**, *3*, 119–136, doi:10.2217/hep-2015-0006.

79

110. Druker, B.J.; Talpaz, M.; Resta, D.J.; Peng, B.; Buchdunger, E.; Ford, J.M.; Lydon, N.B.; Kantarjian, H.; Capdeville, R.; Ohno-Jones, S.; et al. Efficacy and Safety of a Specific Inhibitor of the BCR-ABL Tyrosine Kinase in Chronic Myeloid Leukemia. *N. Engl. J. Med.*2001, *344*, 1031–1037, doi:10.1056/NEJM200104053441401.

111. Slamon, D.J.; Leyland-Jones, B.; Shak, S.; Fuchs, H.; Paton, V.; Bajamonde, A.; Fleming, T.; Eiermann, W.; Wolter, J.; Pegram, M.; et al. Use of Chemotherapy plus a Monoclonal Antibody against HER2 for Metastatic Breast Cancer That Overexpresses HER2. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **2001**, *344*, 783–792, doi:10.1056/NEJM200103153441101.

112. Lynch, T.J.; Bell, D.W.; Sordella, R.; Gurubhagavatula, S.; Okimoto, R.A.; Brannigan, B.W.; Harris, P.L.; Haserlat, S.M.; Supko, J.G.; Haluska, F.G.; et al. Activating Mutations in the Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor Underlying Responsiveness of Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer to Gefitinib. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **2004**, *350*, 2129–2139, doi:10.1056/NEJMoa040938.

113. KRAS Wild-Type Status Predicts Response to Cetuximab in Metastatic Colorectal Cancer. *Nat. Clin. Pract. Oncol.* **2008**, *5*, 365–365, doi:10.1038/ncponc1144.

114. Dienstmann, R.; Serpico, D.; Rodon, J.; Saura, C.; Macarulla, T.; Elez, E.; Alsina, M.; Capdevila, J.; Perez-Garcia, J.; Sánchez-Ollé, G.; et al. Molecular Profiling of Patients with Colorectal Cancer and Matched Targeted Therapy in Phase I Clinical Trials. *Mol. Cancer Ther.*2012, *11*, 2062–2071, doi:10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-12-0290.

115. Janku, F.; Lee, J.J.; Tsimberidou, A.M.; Hong, D.S.; Naing, A.; Falchook, G.S.; Fu, S.; Luthra, R.; Garrido-Laguna, I.; Kurzrock, R. PIK3CA Mutations Frequently Coexist with RAS and BRAF Mutations in Patients with Advanced Cancers. *PloS One* **2011**, *6*, e22769, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0022769.

116. Engelman, J.A.; Zejnullahu, K.; Mitsudomi, T.; Song, Y.; Hyland, C.; Park, J.O.; Lindeman, N.; Gale, C.-M.; Zhao, X.; Christensen, J.; et al. MET Amplification Leads to Gefitinib Resistance in Lung Cancer by Activating ERBB3 Signaling. *Science* **2007**, *316*, 1039–1043, doi:10.1126/science.1141478.

117. Mokhtari, R.B.; Homayouni, T.S.; Baluch, N.; Morgatskaya, E.; Kumar, S.; Das, B.; Yeger, H. Combination Therapy in Combating Cancer. *Oncotarget* **2017**, *8*, 38022–38043, doi:10.18632/oncotarget.16723.

118. Palmer, A.C.; Sorger, P.K. Combination Cancer Therapy Can Confer Benefit via Patient-to-Patient Variability without Drug Additivity or Synergy. *Cell* **2017**, *171*, 1678-1691.e13, doi:10.1016/j.cell.2017.11.009.

119. Luong, A.B.; Do, H.Q.; Tarchi, P.; Bonazza, D.; Bottin, C.; Cabral, L.K.D.; Tran, L.D.C.; Doan, T.P.T.; Crocè, L.S.; Pham, H.L.T.; et al. The mRNA Distribution of Cancer Stem Cell Marker CD90/Thy-1 Is Comparable in Hepatocellular Carcinoma of Eastern and Western Populations. *Cells* **2020**, *9*, 2672, doi:10.3390/cells9122672.

120. Chisari, F.V.; Klopchin, K.; Moriyama, T.; Pasquinelli, C.; Dunsford, H.A.; Sell, S.; Pinkert, C.A.; Brinster, R.L.; Palmiter, R.D. Molecular Pathogenesis of Hepatocellular Carcinoma in Hepatitis B Virus Transgenic Mice. *Cell* **1989**, *59*, 1145–1156, doi:10.1016/0092-8674(89)90770-8.

121. Schippers, I.J.; Moshage, H.; Roelofsen, H.; Müller, M.; Heymans, H.S.; Ruiters, M.; Kuipers, F. Immortalized Human Hepatocytes as a Tool for the Study of Hepatocytic (de-)Differentiation. *Cell Biol. Toxicol.* **1997**, *13*, 375–386, doi:10.1023/a:1007404028681.

122. Bustin, S.A.; Benes, V.; Garson, J.A.; Hellemans, J.; Huggett, J.; Kubista, M.; Mueller, R.; Nolan, T.; Pfaffl, M.W.; Shipley, G.L.; et al. The MIQE Guidelines: Minimum Information for Publication of Quantitative Real-Time PCR Experiments. *Clin. Chem.* **2009**, *55*, 611–622, doi:10.1373/clinchem.2008.112797.

123. Li, L.-C.; Dahiya, R. MethPrimer: Designing Primers for Methylation PCRs. *Bioinforma. Oxf. Engl.* 2002, *18*, 1427–1431, doi:10.1093/bioinformatics/18.11.1427.

124. He, S.; Wang, F.; Yang, L.; Guo, C.; Wan, R.; Ke, A.; Xu, L.; Hu, G.; Xu, X.; Shen, J.; et al. Expression of DNMT1 and DNMT3a Are Regulated by GLI1 in Human Pancreatic Cancer. *PLoS ONE* **2011**, *6*, e27684, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0027684.

125. Uhercik, M.; Sanders, A.J.; Owen, S.; Davies, E.L.; Sharma, A.K.; Jiang, W.G.;
Mokbel, K. Clinical Significance of PD1 and PDL1 in Human Breast Cancer. *Anticancer Res.*2017, *37*, 4249–4254, doi:10.21873/anticanres.11817.

126. Cottini, F.; Hideshima, T.; Xu, C.; Sattler, M.; Dori, M.; Agnelli, L.; ten Hacken, E.; Bertilaccio, M.T.; Antonini, E.; Neri, A.; et al. Rescue of Hippo Coactivator YAP1 Triggers

DNA Damage–Induced Apoptosis in Hematological Cancers. *Nat. Med.* **2014**, *20*, 599–606, doi:10.1038/nm.3562.

127. Joosten, M.; Ginzel, S.; Blex, C.; Schmidt, D.; Gombert, M.; Chen, C.; Linka, R.M.; Gräbner, O.; Hain, A.; Hirsch, B.; et al. A Novel Approach to Detect Resistance Mechanisms Reveals FGR as a Factor Mediating HDAC Inhibitor SAHA Resistance in B-Cell Lymphoma. *Mol. Oncol.* **2016**, *10*, 1232–1244, doi:10.1016/j.molonc.2016.06.001.

128. Mamo, M.; Ye, I.C.; DiGiacomo, J.W.; Park, J.Y.; Downs, B.; Gilkes, D.M. Hypoxia Alters the Response to Anti-EGFR Therapy by Regulating EGFR Expression and Downstream Signaling in a DNA Methylation-Specific and HIF-Dependent Manner. *Cancer Res.* **2020**, *80*, 4998–5010, doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-20-1232.

129. Laidlaw, A.M.; Copeland, B.; Ross, C.M.; Hardingham, J.E. Extent of Over-Expression of Hepatocyte Growth Factor Receptor in Colorectal Tumours Is Dependent on the Choice of Normaliser. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **2006**, *341*, 1017–1021, doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2006.01.060.

130. Wan, X.; Yeung, C.; Heske, C.; Mendoza, A.; Helman, L.J. IGF-1R Inhibition Activates a YES/SFK Bypass Resistance Pathway: Rational Basis for Co-Targeting IGF-1R and Yes/SFK Kinase in Rhabdomyosarcoma. *Neoplasia* **2015**, *17*, 358–366, doi:10.1016/j.neo.2015.03.001.

131. Hui, A.W.-H.; Lau, H.-W.; Cao, C.Y.; Zhou, J.-W.; Lai, P.B.-S.; Tsui, S.K.-W. Downregulation of PLZF in Human Hepatocellular Carcinoma and Its Clinical Significance. *Oncol. Rep.* **2015**, *33*, 397–402, doi:10.3892/or.2014.3578.

132. Huang, G.; Stock, C.; Bommeljé, C.C.; Weeda, V.B.; Shah, K.; Bains, S.; Buss, E.; Shaha, M.; Rechler, W.; Ramanathan, S.Y.; et al. SCCRO3 (DCUN1D3) Antagonizes the Neddylation and Oncogenic Activity of SCCRO (DCUN1D1)*. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2014**, *289*, 34728–34742, doi:10.1074/jbc.M114.585505.

133. Lin, T.-Y.; Fan, C.-W.; Maa, M.-C.; Leu, T.-H. Lipopolysaccharide-Promoted Proliferation of Caco-2 Cells Is Mediated by c-Src Induction and ERK Activation. *BioMedicine* 2015, *5*, 5, doi:10.7603/s40681-015-0005-x.

134. Cui, Y.; Wang, J.; Liu, S.; Qu, D.; Jin, H.; Zhu, L.; Yang, J.; Zhang, J.; Li, Q.; Zhang,
Y.; et al. miR-216a Promotes Breast Cancer Cell Apoptosis by Targeting PKCα. *Fundam. Clin. Pharmacol.* 2019, *33*, 397–404, doi:10.1111/fcp.12481.

135. Schlott, T.; Reimer, S.; Jahns, A.; Ohlenbusch, A.; Ruschenburg, I.; Nagel, H.; Droese,
M. Point Mutations and Nucleotide Insertions in the Mdm2 Zinc Finger Structure of Human
Tumours. *J. Pathol.* 1997, *182*, 54–61, doi:10.1002/(SICI)1096-9896(199705)182:1<54::AID-
PATH815>3.0.CO;2-I.

136. Fan, Q.; He, M.; Deng, X.; Wu, W.K.K.; Zhao, L.; Tang, J.; Wen, G.; Sun, X.; Liu, Y. Derepression of C-Fos Caused by MicroRNA-139 down-Regulation Contributes to the Metastasis of Human Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *Cell Biochem. Funct.* **2013**, *31*, 319–324, doi:10.1002/cbf.2902.

137. Hewagama, A.; Gorelik, G.; Patel, D.; Liyanarachchi, P.; Joseph McCune, W.; Somers,
E.; Gonzalez-Rivera, T.; The Michigan Lupus Cohort; Strickland, F.; Richardson, B.
Overexpression of X-Linked Genes in T Cells from Women with Lupus. *J. Autoimmun.* 2013, 41, 60–71, doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2012.12.006.

138. microRNA-125a-3p Reduces Cell Proliferation and Migration by Targeting Fyn | Journal of Cell Science | The Company of Biologists Available online: https://journals.biologists.com/jcs/article/126/13/2867/53648/microRNA-125a-3p-reducescell-proliferation-and (accessed on 22 November 2022).

139. Knirsh, R.; Ben-Dror, I.; Spangler, B.; Matthews, G.D.; Kuphal, S.; Bosserhoff, A.K.; Vardimon, L. Loss of E-Cadherin–Mediated Cell–Cell Contacts Activates a Novel Mechanism for Up-Regulation of the Proto-Oncogene c-Jun. *Mol. Biol. Cell* **2009**, *20*, 2121–2129, doi:10.1091/mbc.e08-12-1196.

140. Roxrud, I.; Raiborg, C.; Pedersen, N.M.; Stang, E.; Stenmark, H. An Endosomally Localized Isoform of Eps15 Interacts with Hrs to Mediate Degradation of Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor. *J. Cell Biol.* **2008**, *180*, 1205–1218, doi:10.1083/jcb.200708115.

141. Src Mouse qPCR Primer Pair (NM_009271) – MP214909 | OriGene Available online: https://www.origene.com/catalog/gene-expression/qpcr-primer-pairs/mp214909/src-mouse-qpcr-primer-pair-nm_009271 (accessed on 19 May 2023).

142. Savage, A.K.; Constantinides, M.G.; Han, J.; Picard, D.; Martin, E.; Li, B.; Lantz, O.; Bendelac, A. The Transcription Factor PLZF Directs the Effector Program of the NKT Cell Lineage. *Immunity* **2008**, *29*, 391–403, doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2008.07.011.

143. Schindelin, J.; Arganda-Carreras, I.; Frise, E.; Kaynig, V.; Longair, M.; Pietzsch, T.; Preibisch, S.; Rueden, C.; Saalfeld, S.; Schmid, B.; et al. Fiji: An Open-Source Platform for Biological-Image Analysis. *Nat. Methods* **2012**, *9*, 676–682, doi:10.1038/nmeth.2019.

144. Grada, A.; Otero-Vinas, M.; Prieto-Castrillo, F.; Obagi, Z.; Falanga, V. Research Techniques Made Simple: Analysis of Collective Cell Migration Using the Wound Healing Assay. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* **2017**, *137*, e11–e16, doi:10.1016/j.jid.2016.11.020.

145. Shannon, P.; Markiel, A.; Ozier, O.; Baliga, N.S.; Wang, J.T.; Ramage, D.; Amin, N.; Schwikowski, B.; Ideker, T. Cytoscape: A Software Environment for Integrated Models of Biomolecular Interaction Networks. *Genome Res.* **2003**, *13*, 2498–2504, doi:10.1101/gr.1239303.

146. Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network; Weinstein, J.N.; Collisson, E.A.; Mills, G.B.; Shaw, K.R.M.; Ozenberger, B.A.; Ellrott, K.; Shmulevich, I.; Sander, C.; Stuart, J.M. The Cancer Genome Atlas Pan-Cancer Analysis Project. *Nat. Genet.* **2013**, *45*, 1113–1120, doi:10.1038/ng.2764.

147. GTEx Consortium Human Genomics. The Genotype-Tissue Expression (GTEx) Pilot Analysis: Multitissue Gene Regulation in Humans. *Science* **2015**, *348*, 648–660, doi:10.1126/science.1262110.

148. Tang, Z.; Li, C.; Kang, B.; Gao, G.; Li, C.; Zhang, Z. GEPIA: A Web Server for Cancer and Normal Gene Expression Profiling and Interactive Analyses. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **2017**, *45*, W98–W102, doi:10.1093/nar/gkx247.

149. Issa, J.-P. CpG Island Methylator Phenotype in Cancer. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 2004, *4*, 988–993, doi:10.1038/nrc1507.

150. Lee, S.; Lee, H.J.; Kim, J.-H.; Lee, H.-S.; Jang, J.J.; Kang, G.H. Aberrant CpG Island Hypermethylation Along Multistep Hepatocarcinogenesis. *Am. J. Pathol.* **2003**, *163*, 1371– 1378, doi:10.1016/S0002-9440(10)63495-5. 151. Yang, B.; Guo, M.; Herman, J.G.; Clark, D.P. Aberrant Promoter Methylation Profiles of Tumor Suppressor Genes in Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *Am. J. Pathol.* **2003**, *163*, 1101–1107, doi:10.1016/S0002-9440(10)63469-4.

152. Yu, J.; Ni, M.; Xu, J.; Zhang, H.; Gao, B.; Gu, J.; Chen, J.; Zhang, L.; Wu, M.; Zhen, S.; et al. Methylation Profiling of Twenty Promoter-CpG Islands of Genes Which May Contribute to Hepatocellular Carcinogenesis. *BMC Cancer* **2002**, *2*, 29, doi:10.1186/1471-2407-2-29.

153. Boyault, S.; Rickman, D.S.; de Reyniès, A.; Balabaud, C.; Rebouissou, S.; Jeannot, E.; Hérault, A.; Saric, J.; Belghiti, J.; Franco, D.; et al. Transcriptome Classification of HCC Is Related to Gene Alterations and to New Therapeutic Targets. *Hepatol. Baltim. Md* **2007**, *45*, 42–52, doi:10.1002/hep.21467.

154. Hoshida, Y.; Nijman, S.M.B.; Kobayashi, M.; Chan, J.A.; Brunet, J.-P.; Chiang, D.Y.;
Villanueva, A.; Newell, P.; Ikeda, K.; Hashimoto, M.; et al. Integrative Transcriptome Analysis
Reveals Common Molecular Subclasses of Human Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *Cancer Res.*2009, *69*, 7385–7392, doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-1089.

155. Villanueva, A.; Portela, A.; Sayols, S.; Battiston, C.; Hoshida, Y.; Méndez-González, J.; Imbeaud, S.; Letouzé, E.; Hernandez-Gea, V.; Cornella, H.; et al. DNA Methylation-Based Prognosis and Epidrivers in Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *Hepatology* **2015**, *61*, 1945–1956, doi:https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.27732.

156. Le Grazie, M.; Biagini, M.R.; Tarocchi, M.; Polvani, S.; Galli, A. Chemotherapy for Hepatocellular Carcinoma: The Present and the Future. *World J. Hepatol.* **2017**, *9*, 907–920, doi:10.4254/wjh.v9.i21.907.

157. Chuma, M.; Terashita, K.; Sakamoto, N. New Molecularly Targeted Therapies against Advanced Hepatocellular Carcinoma: From Molecular Pathogenesis to Clinical Trials and Future Directions. *Hepatol. Res.* **2015**, *45*, E1–E11, doi:10.1111/hepr.12459.

158. Liu, Z.; Lin, Y.; Zhang, J.; Zhang, Y.; Li, Y.; Liu, Z.; Li, Q.; Luo, M.; Liang, R.; Ye, J. Molecular Targeted and Immune Checkpoint Therapy for Advanced Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *J. Exp. Clin. Cancer Res.* **2019**, *38*, 447, doi:10.1186/s13046-019-1412-8.

159. Szklarczyk, D.; Kirsch, R.; Koutrouli, M.; Nastou, K.; Mehryary, F.; Hachilif, R.; Gable, A.L.; Fang, T.; Doncheva, N.T.; Pyysalo, S.; et al. The STRING Database in 2023: Protein–Protein Association Networks and Functional Enrichment Analyses for Any Sequenced Genome of Interest. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **2023**, *51*, D638–D646, doi:10.1093/nar/gkac1000.

160. Raudvere, U.; Kolberg, L.; Kuzmin, I.; Arak, T.; Adler, P.; Peterson, H.; Vilo, J.
G:Profiler: A Web Server for Functional Enrichment Analysis and Conversions of Gene Lists
(2019 Update). *Nucleic Acids Res.* 2019, 47, W191–W198, doi:10.1093/nar/gkz369.

161. Lombardo, L.J.; Lee, F.Y.; Chen, P.; Norris, D.; Barrish, J.C.; Behnia, K.; Castaneda, S.; Cornelius, L.A.M.; Das, J.; Doweyko, A.M.; et al. Discovery of *N* -(2-Chloro-6-Methyl-Phenyl)-2-(6-(4-(2-Hydroxyethyl)- Piperazin-1-Yl)-2-Methylpyrimidin-4- Ylamino)Thiazole-5-Carboxamide (BMS-354825), a Dual Src/Abl Kinase Inhibitor with Potent Antitumor Activity in Preclinical Assays. *J. Med. Chem.* **2004**, *47*, 6658–6661, doi:10.1021/jm049486a.

162. Lara, P.N.; Longmate, J.; Evans, C.P.; Quinn, D.I.; Twardowski, P.; Chatta, G.;
Posadas, E.; Stadler, W.; Gandara, D.R. A Phase II Trial of the Src-Kinase Inhibitor AZD0530
in Patients with Advanced Castration-Resistant Prostate Cancer: A California Cancer
Consortium Study. *Anticancer. Drugs* 2009, 20, 179–184,
doi:10.1097/CAD.0b013e328325a867.

163. Laurie, S.A.; Goss, G.D.; Shepherd, F.A.; Reaume, M.N.; Nicholas, G.; Philip, L.; Wang, L.; Schwock, J.; Hirsh, V.; Oza, A.; et al. A Phase II Trial of Saracatinib, an Inhibitor of Src Kinases, in Previously-Treated Advanced Non–Small-Cell Lung Cancer: The Princess Margaret Hospital Phase II Consortium. *Clin. Lung Cancer* **2014**, *15*, 52–57, doi:10.1016/j.cllc.2013.08.001.

164. Ling, S.; Hu, Z.; Yang, Z.; Yang, F.; Li, Y.; Lin, P.; Chen, K.; Dong, L.; Cao, L.; Tao, Y.; et al. Extremely High Genetic Diversity in a Single Tumor Points to Prevalence of Non-Darwinian Cell Evolution. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **2015**, *112*, E6496–E6505, doi:10.1073/pnas.1519556112.

165. Goossens, N.; Sun, X.; Hoshida, Y. Molecular Classification of Hepatocellular Carcinoma: Potential Therapeutic Implications. *Hepatic Oncol.* **2015**, *2*, 371–379, doi:10.2217/hep.15.26.

166. Chiang, D.Y.; Villanueva, A.; Hoshida, Y.; Peix, J.; Newell, P.; Minguez, B.; LeBlanc, A.C.; Donovan, D.J.; Thung, S.N.; Solé, M.; et al. Focal Gains of VEGFA and Molecular Classification of Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *Cancer Res.* **2008**, *68*, 6779–6788, doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-0742.

167. Annick Buendia, M. Genetics of Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *Semin. Cancer Biol.* 2000, 10, 185–200, doi:10.1006/scbi.2000.0319.

168. Feo, F.; Pascale, R.M.; Simile, M.M.; De Miglio, M.R.; Muroni, M.R.; Calvisi, D. Genetic Alterations in Liver Carcinogenesis: Implications for New Preventive and Therapeutic Strategies. *Crit. Rev. Oncog.* **2000**, *11*, 44, doi:10.1615/CritRevOncog.v11.i1.20.

169. Guo, M.; Li, N.; Zheng, J.; Wang, W.; Wu, Y.; Han, X.; Guo, J.; Chen, W.; Bai, Z.; Bai, W.; et al. Epigenetic Regulation of Hepatocellular Carcinoma Progression through the mTOR Signaling Pathway. *Can. J. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* **2021**, *2021*, 1–9, doi:10.1155/2021/5596712.

170. Toh, T.B.; Lim, J.J.; Chow, E.K.-H. Epigenetics of Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *Clin. Transl. Med.* **2019**, *8*, 13, doi:10.1186/s40169-019-0230-0.

171. El Nobey, M.; El Hamidy, S.; Ullah, I.; Omar, A.; Alkenani, N.; Zari, A.; Batawi, A.; El-Araby, R. Effect of 5-Azacytidine as A Demethylation Agent on PCNA and RB1 Genes in Hepatocellular Carcinoma Cell Model "HepG2." *Egypt. Acad. J. Biol. Sci. C Physiol. Mol. Biol.* **2022**, *14*, 73–83, doi:10.21608/eajbsc.2022.260474.

172. Sanaei, M.; Kavoosi, F.; Esmi, Z. The Effect of 5-Aza-2'-Deoxycytidine in Combination to and in Comparison with Vorinostat on DNA Methyltransferases, Histone Deacetylase 1, Glutathione S-Transferase 1 and Suppressor of Cytokine Signaling 1 Genes Expression, Cell Growth Inhibition and Apoptotic Induction in Hepatocellular LCL-PI 11 Cell Line. *Int. J. Hematol.-Oncol. Stem Cell Res.* **2020**, *14*, 45–55.

173. Sanaei, M.; Kavoosi, F.; Pourahmadi, M. Effect of Decitabine (5-Aza-2'-Deoxycytidine, 5-Aza-CdR) in Comparison with Vorinostat (Suberoylanilide Hydroxamic Acid, SAHA) on DNMT1, DNMT3a and DNMT3b, HDAC 1-3, SOCS 1, SOCS 3, JAK2, and STAT3 Gene Expression in Hepatocellular Carcinoma HLE and LCL-PI 11 Cell Lines. *Asian Pac. J. Cancer Prev. APJCP* **2021**, *22*, 2089–2098, doi:10.31557/APJCP.2021.22.7.2089.

174. Gailhouste, L.; Liew, L.C.; Yasukawa, K.; Hatada, I.; Tanaka, Y.; Nakagama, H.; Ochiya, T. Differentiation Therapy by Epigenetic Reconditioning Exerts Antitumor Effects on Liver Cancer Cells. *Mol. Ther.* **2018**, *26*, 1840–1854, doi:10.1016/j.ymthe.2018.04.018.

175. Tsai, H.-C.; Li, H.; Van Neste, L.; Cai, Y.; Robert, C.; Rassool, F.V.; Shin, J.J.; Harbom, K.M.; Beaty, R.; Pappou, E.; et al. Transient Low Doses of DNA-Demethylating Agents Exert Durable Antitumor Effects on Hematological and Epithelial Tumor Cells. *Cancer Cell* **2012**, *21*, 430–446, doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2011.12.029.

176. Yamashita, T.; Forgues, M.; Wang, W.; Kim, J.W.; Ye, Q.; Jia, H.; Budhu, A.; Zanetti, K.A.; Chen, Y.; Qin, L.-X.; et al. EpCAM and Alpha-Fetoprotein Expression Defines Novel Prognostic Subtypes of Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *Cancer Res.* **2008**, *68*, 1451–1461, doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-6013.

177. Venturelli, S.; Berger, A.; Weiland, T.; Essmann, F.; Waibel, M.; Nuebling, T.; Häcker, S.; Schenk, M.; Schulze-Osthoff, K.; Salih, H.R.; et al. Differential Induction of Apoptosis and Senescence by the DNA Methyltransferase Inhibitors 5-Azacytidine and 5-Aza-2'-Deoxycytidine in Solid Tumor Cells. *Mol. Cancer Ther.* **2013**, *12*, 2226–2236, doi:10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-13-0137.

178. Llovet, J.M.; Ricci, S.; Mazzaferro, V.; Hilgard, P.; Gane, E.; Blanc, J.-F.; de Oliveira, A.C.; Santoro, A.; Raoul, J.-L.; Forner, A.; et al. Sorafenib in Advanced Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **2008**, *359*, 378–390, doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0708857.

179. Li, Y.; Chen, G.; Han, Z.; Cheng, H.; Qiao, L.; Li, Y. IL-6/STAT3 Signaling Contributes to Sorafenib Resistance in Hepatocellular Carcinoma Through Targeting Cancer Stem Cells. *OncoTargets Ther.* **2020**, *13*, 9721–9730, doi:10.2147/OTT.S262089.

180. Bagnyukova, T.V.; Tryndyak, V.P.; Muskhelishvili, L.; Ross, S.A.; Beland, F.A.; Pogribny, I.P. Epigenetic Downregulation of the Suppressor of Cytokine Signaling 1 (Socs1) Gene Is Associated with the STAT3 Activation and Development of Hepatocellular Carcinoma Induced by Methyl-Deficiency in Rats. *Cell Cycle Georget. Tex* **2008**, *7*, 3202–3210, doi:10.4161/cc.7.20.6816.

181. Meng, F.; Glaser, S.S.; Francis, H.; DeMorrow, S.; Han, Y.; Passarini, J.D.; Stokes, A.; Cleary, J.P.; Liu, X.; Venter, J.; et al. Functional Analysis of microRNAs in Human

Hepatocellular Cancer Stem Cells. J. Cell. Mol. Med. 2012, 16, 160–173, doi:10.1111/j.1582-4934.2011.01282.x.

182. Murakami, K.; Sakukawa, R.; Ikeda, T.; Matsuura, T.; Hasumura, S.; Nagamori, S.; Yamada, Y.; Saiki, I. Invasiveness of Hepatocellular Carcinoma Cell Lines: Contribution of Membrane-Type 1 Matrix Metalloproteinase. *Neoplasia N. Y. N* **1999**, *1*, 424–430, doi:10.1038/sj.neo.7900046.

183. Sukowati, C.; Anfuso, B.; Torre, G.; Francalanci, P.; Crocè, L.S.; Tiribelli, C. The Expression of CD90/Thy-1 in Hepatocellular Carcinoma: An in Vivo and in Vitro Study. *PloS One* **2013**, *8*, e76830, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0076830.

184. Cao, H.; Chen, X.; Wang, Z.; Wang, L.; Xia, Q.; Zhang, W. The Role of MDM2–P53
Axis Dysfunction in the Hepatocellular Carcinoma Transformation. *Cell Death Discov.* 2020, 6, 1–14, doi:10.1038/s41420-020-0287-y.

185. Wang, B.; Hsu, C.-J.; Chou, C.-H.; Lee, H.-L.; Chiang, W.-L.; Su, C.-M.; Tsai, H.-C.; Yang, S.-F.; Tang, C.-H. Variations in the AURKA Gene: Biomarkers for the Development and Progression of Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *Int. J. Med. Sci.* **2018**, *15*, 170–175, doi:10.7150/ijms.22513.

186. Liu, W.; Guo, T.-F.; Jing, Z.-T.; Yang, Z.; Liu, L.; Yang, Y.-P.; Lin, X.; Tong, Q.-Y. Hepatitis B Virus Core Protein Promotes Hepatocarcinogenesis by Enhancing Src Expression and Activating the Src/PI3K/Akt Pathway. *FASEB J.* **2018**, *32*, 3033–3046, doi:10.1096/fj.201701144R.

187. Hu, S.; Chen, Y.; Liu, L.; Yin, X.; Yang, Y.; Tang, L. PLZF and PLZF-MAPK10 Can Predict the Prognosis of Postoperative Patients with Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *Int. J. Clin. Exp. Pathol.* **2020**, *13*, 3158–3166.

188. Vincent, A.; Omura, N.; Hong, S.-M.; Jaffe, A.; Eshleman, J.; Goggins, M. Genome-Wide Analysis of Promoter Methylation Associated with Gene Expression Profile in Pancreatic Adenocarcinoma. *Clin. Cancer Res. Off. J. Am. Assoc. Cancer Res.* **2011**, *17*, 4341–4354, doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-3431.

189. Kim, B.H.; Park, J.-W.; Kim, J.S.; Lee, S.-K.; Hong, E.K. Stem Cell Markers Predict the Response to Sorafenib in Patients with Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *Gut Liver* **2019**, *13*, 342–348, doi:10.5009/gnl18345.

190. Cabral, L.K.D.; Tiribelli, C.; Sukowati, C.H.C. Sorafenib Resistance in Hepatocellular Carcinoma: The Relevance of Genetic Heterogeneity. *Cancers* **2020**, *12*, 1576, doi:10.3390/cancers12061576.

191. Kelley, R.K.; Yau, T.; Cheng, A.-L.; Kaseb, A.; Qin, S.; Zhu, A.X.; Chan, S.; Sukeepaisarnjaroen, W.; Breder, V.; Verset, G.; et al. VP10-2021: Cabozantinib (C) plus Atezolizumab (A) versus Sorafenib (S) as First-Line Systemic Treatment for Advanced Hepatocellular Carcinoma (aHCC): Results from the Randomized Phase III COSMIC-312 Trial. *Ann. Oncol.* **2022**, *33*, 114–116, doi:10.1016/j.annonc.2021.10.008.

192. Chen, L.; Huang, X.; Zhang, W.; Liu, Y.; Chen, B.; Xiang, Y.; Zhang, R.; Zhang, M.; Feng, J.; Liu, S.; et al. Correlation of PD-L1 and SOCS3 Co-Expression with the Prognosis of Hepatocellular Carcinoma Patients. *J. Cancer* **2020**, *11*, 5440–5448, doi:10.7150/jca.46158.

193. Jung, H.I.; Jeong, D.; Ji, S.; Ahn, T.S.; Bae, S.H.; Chin, S.; Chung, J.C.; Kim, H.C.; Lee, M.S.; Baek, M.-J. Overexpression of PD-L1 and PD-L2 Is Associated with Poor Prognosis in Patients with Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *Cancer Res Treat* **2017**, *49*, 246–254, doi:10.4143/crt.2016.066.

194. Lamberti, G.; Sisi, M.; Andrini, E.; Palladini, A.; Giunchi, F.; Lollini, P.-L.; Ardizzoni, A.; Gelsomino, F. The Mechanisms of PD-L1 Regulation in Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer (NSCLC): Which Are the Involved Players? *Cancers* **2020**, *12*, 3129, doi:10.3390/cancers12113129.

195. Miura, Y.; Sunaga, N. Role of Immunotherapy for Oncogene-Driven Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. *Cancers* **2018**, *10*, 245, doi:10.3390/cancers10080245.

196. Domènech, M.; Muñoz Marmol, A.M.; Mate, J.L.; Estival, A.; Moran, T.; Cucurull, M.; Saigi, M.; Hernandez, A.; Sanz, C.; Hernandez-Gallego, A.; et al. Correlation between PD-L1 Expression and *MET* Gene Amplification in Patients with Advanced Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer and No Other Actionable Oncogenic Driver. *Oncotarget* **2021**, *12*, 1802–1810, doi:10.18632/oncotarget.28045.

197. Casey, S.C.; Tong, L.; Li, Y.; Do, R.; Walz, S.; Fitzgerald, K.N.; Gouw, A.M.; Baylot, V.; Gütgemann, I.; Eilers, M.; et al. MYC Regulates the Antitumor Immune Response through CD47 and PD-L1. *Science* **2016**, *352*, 227–231, doi:10.1126/science.aac9935.

198. Yarchoan, M.; Hopkins, A.; Jaffee, E.M. Tumor Mutational Burden and Response Rate to PD-1 Inhibition. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **2017**, *377*, 2500–2501, doi:10.1056/NEJMc1713444.

199. Blagosklonny, M.V. Analysis of FDA Approved Anticancer Drugs Reveals the Future of Cancer Therapy. *Cell Cycle* **2004**, *3*, 1033–1040, doi:10.4161/cc.3.8.1023.

200. Yap, T.A.; Omlin, A.; de Bono, J.S. Development of Therapeutic Combinations Targeting Major Cancer Signaling Pathways. *J. Clin. Oncol.* **2013**, *31*, 1592–1605, doi:10.1200/JCO.2011.37.6418.

201. Lebaron, S.; Zeltzer, L.K.; Lebaron, C.; Scott, S.E.; Zeltzer, P.M. Chemotherapy Side Effects in Pediatric Oncology Patients: Drugs, Age, and Sex as Risk Factors. *Med. Pediatr. Oncol.* **1988**, *16*, 263–268, doi:10.1002/mpo.2950160408.

202. Albain, K.S.; Nag, S.M.; Calderillo-Ruiz, G.; Jordaan, J.P.; Llombart, A.C.; Pluzanska, A.; Rolski, J.; Melemed, A.S.; Reyes-Vidal, J.M.; Sekhon, J.S.; et al. Gemcitabine Plus Paclitaxel Versus Paclitaxel Monotherapy in Patients With Metastatic Breast Cancer and Prior Anthracycline Treatment. *J. Clin. Oncol.* **2008**, *26*, 3950–3957, doi:10.1200/JCO.2007.11.9362.

203. Thomas, S.M.; Brugge, J.S. CELLULAR FUNCTIONS REGULATED BY SRC FAMILY KINASES. *Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol.* **1997**, *13*, 513–609, doi:10.1146/annurev.cellbio.13.1.513.

204. Yang, J.; Zhang, X.; Liu, L.; Yang, X.; Qian, Q.; Du, B. C-Src Promotes the Growth and Tumorigenesis of Hepatocellular Carcinoma via the Hippo Signaling Pathway. *Life Sci.*2021, 264, 118711, doi:10.1016/j.lfs.2020.118711.

205. Feng, H. Activation of C-Yes in Hepatocellular Carcinoma: A Preliminary Study. *World J. Gastroenterol.* **2006**, *12*, 5743, doi:10.3748/wjg.v12.i35.5743.

206. Huang, C.; Zhou, J.; Nie, Y.; Guo, G.; Wang, A.; Zhu, X. A New Finding in the Key Prognosis-Related Proto-Oncogene FYN in Hepatocellular Carcinoma Based on the WGCNA Hub-Gene Screening Trategy. *BMC Cancer* **2022**, *22*, 380, doi:10.1186/s12885-022-09388-5.

207. Cho, H.J.; Kim, S.S.; Wang, H.J.; Kim, B.W.; Cho, H.; Jung, J.; Cho, S.S.; Kim, J.K.; Lee, J.H.; Kim, Y.B.; et al. Detection of Novel Genomic Markers for Predicting Prognosis in Hepatocellular Carcinoma Patients by Integrative Analysis of Copy Number Aberrations and Gene Expression Profiles: Results from a Long-Term Follow-Up. *DNA Cell Biol.* **2016**, *35*, 71–80, doi:10.1089/dna.2015.3026.

208. Negi, P.; Cheke, R.S.; Patil, V.M. Recent Advances in Pharmacological Diversification of Src Family Kinase Inhibitors. *Egypt. J. Med. Hum. Genet.* **2021**, *22*, 52, doi:10.1186/s43042-021-00172-x.

209. Roskoski, R. Src Protein-Tyrosine Kinase Structure, Mechanism, and Small Molecule Inhibitors. *Pharmacol. Res.* **2015**, *94*, 9–25, doi:10.1016/j.phrs.2015.01.003.

210. Nam, S.; Kim, D.; Cheng, J.Q.; Zhang, S.; Lee, J.-H.; Buettner, R.; Mirosevich, J.; Lee, F.Y.; Jove, R. Action of the Src Family Kinase Inhibitor, Dasatinib (BMS-354825), on Human Prostate Cancer Cells. *Cancer Res.* **2005**, *65*, 9185–9189, doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-1731.

211. Johnson, F.M.; Saigal, B.; Talpaz, M.; Donato, N.J. Dasatinib (BMS-354825) Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitor Suppresses Invasion and Induces Cell Cycle Arrest and Apoptosis of Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma and Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer Cells. *Clin. Cancer Res. Off. J. Am. Assoc. Cancer Res.* **2005**, *11*, 6924–6932, doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-05-0757.

212. Tryfonopoulos, D.; O'Donovan, N.; Corkery, B.; Clynes, M.; Crown, J. Activity of Dasatinib with Chemotherapy in Triple-Negative Breast Cancer Cells. *J. Clin. Oncol.* **2009**, *27*, e14605–e14605, doi:10.1200/jco.2009.27.15_suppl.e14605.

213. Serrels, A.; Macpherson, I.R.J.; Evans, T.R.J.; Lee, F.Y.; Clark, E.A.; Sansom, O.J.; Ashton, G.H.; Frame, M.C.; Brunton, V.G. Identification of Potential Biomarkers for Measuring Inhibition of Src Kinase Activity in Colon Cancer Cells Following Treatment with Dasatinib. *Mol. Cancer Ther.* **2006**, *5*, 3014–3022, doi:10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-06-0382.

214. Shor, A.C.; Keschman, E.A.; Lee, F.Y.; Muro-Cacho, C.; Letson, G.D.; Trent, J.C.; Pledger, W.J.; Jove, R. Dasatinib Inhibits Migration and Invasion in Diverse Human Sarcoma Cell Lines and Induces Apoptosis in Bone Sarcoma Cells Dependent on SRC Kinase for Survival. *Cancer Res.* **2007**, *67*, 2800–2808, doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-3469.

215. Eustace, A.J.; Crown, J.; Clynes, M.; O'Donovan, N. Preclinical Evaluation of Dasatinib, a Potent Src Kinase Inhibitor, in Melanoma Cell Lines. *J. Transl. Med.* **2008**, *6*, 53, doi:10.1186/1479-5876-6-53.

216. Puls, L.N.; Eadens, M.; Messersmith, W. Current Status of SRC Inhibitors in Solid Tumor Malignancies. *The Oncologist* **2011**, *16*, 566–578, doi:10.1634/theoncologist.2010-0408.

217. Hiscox, S.; Morgan, L.; Green, T.P.; Barrow, D.; Gee, J.; Nicholson, R.I. Elevated Src Activity Promotes Cellular Invasion and Motility in Tamoxifen Resistant Breast Cancer Cells. *Breast Cancer Res. Treat.* **2006**, *97*, 263–274, doi:10.1007/s10549-005-9120-9.

218. Chang, Y.-M.; Bai, L.; Liu, S.; Yang, J.C.; Kung, H.-J.; Evans, C.P. Src Family Kinase Oncogenic Potential and Pathways in Prostate Cancer as Revealed by AZD0530. *Oncogene* **2008**, *27*, 6365–6375, doi:10.1038/onc.2008.250.

219. Arcaroli, J.J.; Touban, B.M.; Tan, A.C.; Varella-Garcia, M.; Powell, R.W.; Eckhardt, S.G.; Elvin, P.; Gao, D.; Messersmith, W.A. Gene Array and Fluorescence in Situ Hybridization Biomarkers of Activity of Saracatinib (AZD0530), a Src Inhibitor, in a Preclinical Model of Colorectal Cancer. *Clin. Cancer Res. Off. J. Am. Assoc. Cancer Res.* **2010**, *16*, 4165–4177, doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-0066.

220. Koppikar, P.; Choi, S.-H.; Egloff, A.M.; Cai, Q.; Suzuki, S.; Freilino, M.; Nozawa, H.; Thomas, S.M.; Gooding, W.E.; Siegfried, J.M.; et al. Combined Inhibition of C-Src and Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor Abrogates Growth and Invasion of Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma. *Clin. Cancer Res. Off. J. Am. Assoc. Cancer Res.* **2008**, *14*, 4284–4291, doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-5226.

221. Nowak, D.; Boehrer, S.; Hochmuth, S.; Trepohl, B.; Hofmann, W.; Hoelzer, D.; Hofmann, W.-K.; Mitrou, P.S.; Ruthardt, M.; Chow, K.U. Src Kinase Inhibitors Induce

Apoptosis and Mediate Cell Cycle Arrest in Lymphoma Cells. *Anticancer. Drugs* 2007, *18*, 981–995, doi:10.1097/CAD.0b013e3281721ff6.

222. Martellucci, S.; Clementi, L.; Sabetta, S.; Mattei, V.; Botta, L.; Angelucci, A. Src Family Kinases as Therapeutic Targets in Advanced Solid Tumors: What We Have Learned so Far. *Cancers* **2020**, *12*, 1448, doi:10.3390/cancers12061448.

Appendix

Protein-protein interaction (PPI) analysis of the different HCC subtypes and groups from published datasets

I. Hoshida et al. datasets



II. Boyault et al. extended datasets



Acknowledgements

This thesis is proof of a scientific journey that has given me tremendous joy and accomplishments. The skills that I gained in performing the tasks of this project did not only give me technical expertise in the field but also taught me how to be a scientist, a colleague, a friend, and a part of a family.

I would like to thank the people behind the Philippine Council for Health Research and Development (PCHRD) for trusting me to be one of the first PhD students sent to Italy, to be trained in the aim of promoting molecular hepatology in the Philippines. Thanks to Dr Jaime Montoya, for making sure that my needs as a student will always be met, especially in expanding opportunities for me beyond the corners of the lab. It is such a joy to send you the list of publications and presentations I have accomplished. I would also like to thank, Ms Jessica Marie Suerte, our Science Research Specialist II, who made sure that our queries and needs are always handled with utmost urgency. Your excellence in your job made sure about the convenience of my stay here in Italy which is a major factor contributing to my accomplishments.

A big thanks also to Professor Germana Meroni, our Ph.D. program coordinator. I may have had limited interaction with you and also with the university during my Ph.D. journey, but you always made sure that your office will be open for my needs on academic requirements.

Thank you as well to our collaborators from the National Institute of Gastroenterology "S. De Bellis" Research Hospital, Prof Gianluigi Gianelli and Dr Francesco Dituri, for providing the cell lines, HLE, and HLF making it possible for me to have cellular models of heterogeneity. Your comments in our discussions are always appreciated. Thank you also to Dr. Luong Bac An of the University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam, and to Mrs. Agustiningsih of the National Research and Innovation Agency of the Republic of Indonesia (BRIN), Indonesia, for providing me with relevant data to make the story of my project more interesting.

I thank as well the very valuable inputs of my two reviewers, Dr. Daniela Cesselli and Dr Mark Pierre Dimamay. All your comments and suggestions were very constructive which made a lot of difference in the presentation of my thesis. I am just grateful that even on the last tasks of my Ph.D. I can still feel that I am being trained to become better. To my family at Fondazione Italiana Fegato (FIF), I owe you all the laughs and adventures that came with every page of this thesis. I will probably need to add one whole chapter for me to be able to thank all of you. I thank all of those who had been part of my every day of "capo in B e brioche" in the morning, those whom I shared riding bus 51 with on sciopero days, bora days, and usual days, those who made work in the lab like playing especially for making things light during frustrating experiment days. To all the senior scientists, whom I will always enjoy exchanging ideas and personal stories with, you all taught me to become a scientist in its truest sense. To my fellow Filipino scholars, thank you for making me your "Ate Kay". Let's continue to do well. We are all given an exceptional opportunity, so let us become more for our country's sake.

A special thanks to Lucia, Sabrina, and Sandra, three ladies in the lab who are angels to me. I thank you for the many times that I came to you with a problem related to my work and stay in Trieste, and you always provided me with solutions. I thank you even for the simple moments of "ciao" and chit-chat in the rooms and hallways of the lab.

To my very good friends Sri Jayanti, Noel Salvoza, Luca Grisetti, and Chiara Andolfi. You guys are the best. We made so many memories in the lab and outside it. From the Italian cooking lessons, Italian language lessons, crazy dating stories, travels and birthdays shared, all moments mattered because of you. FIF Fantastic 4 was strengthened by the tough times of the COVID-19 pandemic. Now that I have reached the end part of this journey, I am realizing more evidently that this is the start of a deeper friendship between us.

I would also like to extend my tremendous gratitude to two people who became true mentors to me. Not only in the technical aspect of my research but even in career decisions and opportunities. To Professor Claudio Tiribelli, thank you for always making the doors of your office open and being able to listen to any of my stories and concerns. Thank you, Prof, for always supporting my applications in conferences and trainings. Most importantly thank you for envisioning and promoting the creation of the Philippine Liver Network and making sure that our role as scholars doesn't end in vain.

Thank you to my dear mentor, Dr Caecilia Sukowati. I owe everything to you. Every single letter and dot of this paper is a product of your conscious effort to train me in the lab. It is such an honor to be your student and more of a privilege to be your friend. They say you should stick to people who encourage you to be a better version of yourself. Four years of that kind of relationship with you, indeed made me an upgraded version of myself. I look forward to more collaborative work and adventures with you in the future.

Lastly, I would like to thank my family for being my backbone during these times. To Papa, Ate, and Pao, you will always be part of my success. To my nieces and nephews, I dream to be a good scientist in the future, so that I can inspire you with what I do. I pursued graduate studies with a goal not only for myself but to be able to accomplish more and help younger scientist fulfill their dreams too. I guess in this chapter of my life, I was able to accomplish that and more. Hence this is a gift I am thankful, to the Lord almighty.

I dedicate this work, to the loving memory of Nenita Dela Rosa.

I will forever miss you, Lola.



MOLECULAR PROFILING OF LIVER CANCER: GENETIC AND EPIGENETIC VARIATION ANALYSIS FOR DEVELOPING POTENTIAL TARGETS FOR THERAPY

Cabral, Loraine Kay D.

2023